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OUR SEMICONDUCTOR EQUIPMENT BUSINESS:

Our CUBE/QUADRA single wafer cleaning equipment, applicable to
6-12 inch wafers, continued to receive formal orders from four new
customers in the financial year ended 31 March 2024 (“FY2023") after
realizing its first sales in the financial year ended 31 March 2023
("FY2022").
customers and completed acceptance. As of the date of this annual

Some of the equipment has been shipped to the

report, our CUBE/QUADRA platforms have cumulatively delivered 8
sets of equipment, representing approximately 10% of the total
market deliveries during the same period. As the equipment moves
into mass production, technological iteration is also ongoing. With
industry-leading Bernoulli transmission technology, wafer edge
processing technology, and higher productivity, our CUBE/QUADRA
equipment provides customers with better performance and higher
cost-effectiveness in backside wet processing applications. The
Company is gradually expanding its substitution for products from
international equipment manufacturers, striving to become a leader in
this segment.

OCTOPUS single wafer cleaning equipment represents an advanced
cleaning process for 12-inch wafers widely used in the fields of logic
and memory. The equipment possesses more efficient transmission
technology and higher productivity as compared to its peers, and has
achieved technical performance comparable to domestic products in
high-temperature SPM cleaning. In FY2023, the OCTOPUS single
wafer cleaning equipment was successfully delivered to a second
customer and has received purchase offers from several customers.

Parallelo cleaning equipment is designed for 12 inch wafer cleaning
processes. The first equipment delivery is expected to be completed
in the financial year ended 31 March 2025 (“FY2024"). This equipment
features a modular design and buffer tank, suitable for flexible
configuration and capacity enhancement, which can increase
equipment uptime by 3%. It also achieves advanced surface metal
contamination control, making it an important part to the Company's
advanced cleaning equipment product portfolio.
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Low pressure chemical vapor deposition (“"LPCVD") equipment is
used for high-end advanced 12-inch thin film deposition processes
such as ALD-SIN, Poly, and LP-SiN. The Company has completed the
development of three types of advanced LPCVD equipment, with
shipments of each type expected to commence in FY2024. The
Company has signed a cooperation agreement with a key customer
and has also reserved several high-potential leading customers. The
first flagship product, XKAD-300 atomic layer silicon nitride deposition
equipment, can achieve high depth-to-width ratio, trench and hole
filling with great uniformity, high step coverage, and extremely low
contamination, with higher production efficiency. It supports both
Thermal ALD and Plasma ALD reaction modes. In the future, the
Company will develop LPCVD equipment covering a wider range of
processes, from high-end to low-end applications.

In FY2023, the CUBE equipment won the Best Application Award in
China’'s Semiconductor Market 2023-2024, and the OCTOPUS
equipment won the Innovative Product Award in China’s
Semiconductor Market 2023-2024.

In terms of semiconductor equipment customers, since obtaining its
first semiconductor equipment order in FY2022, the Company has
signed equipment orders with more than ten semiconductor
manufacturers and is currently in the process of technical and
commercial communications with more than 20 customers. Through
our CUBE and OCTOPUS equipment, the Company is serving a
customer base including sizable DRAM manufacturers, 12-inch wafer
foundries, automotive-class SiC chip manufacturers, and IDM wafer
factories. The Company will further expand its high-quality leading
customer base, and provide continuous support for the further
implementation of China’'s domestic semiconductor manufacturing
capacity in the long run, thereby achieving sustained development of
its semiconductor equipment business.
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Benefiting from the above business progress, as at the end of FY2023,
in terms of semiconductor cleaning equipment, the Company's
amount of unrecognized revenue from orders on hand (VAT included)
reached approximately HK$220.9 million, representing an increase of
109% as compared to that for FY2022, among which the orders for
equipment for 12-inch wafers amounted to approximately HK$179.4
million, accounting for 819%; the amount of unrecognized revenue from
orders cumulatively delivered (VAT included) reached approximately
HK$92.1 million, representing an increase of 160% as compared to
that for FY2022, all of which were orders for equipment for 12-inch
wafers; and orders that passed pre-acceptance during the financial
year (VAT included) amounted to approximately HK$107.9 million,
representing an increase of 704% as compared to that for FY2022,
among which the orders for equipment for 12-inch wafers amounted
to approximately HK$92.1 million, accounting for 85%.

OUR SOLAR CELL EQUIPMENT BUSINESS:

Batch cleaning equipment and inline cleaning equipment. In FY2023,
the Company effectively integrated the business and technological
advantages of RENA Germany, and through continuous technological
innovation and cost reduction measures, successfully launched the
industry’s first high-productivity batch cleaning equipment with six
baskets, and realized mass production. Based on the design concepts
and core technical capabilities of semiconductor equipment, the
Company successfully launched the industry’s first double-deck inline
cleaning equipment. After technological iteration and optimization, the
single-machine production capacity of the Company’s equipment has
been increased to 1 gigawatt (GW), representing a 50% increase
compared to the previous generation, achieving savings of over 15%
in single-piece chemical consumption and 20% in heating energy
consumption, respectively. At the same time, the Company has signed
more than ten full-line sales orders for solar cell wet processing
equipment with leading customers in the industry, marking a new
stage in the Company’s product portfolio and sales model for solar cell
equipment.
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InCellPlate, the solar copper plating equipment, is applied in the
metallization process as an alternative of silver paste. It has become
an industry consensus that the copper plating technology replaces
screen printing, however, it is still in the early days of industrialization
exploration. The Company has conducted research and development
("R&D") jointly with leading manufacturers to achieve greater current
density and higher deposition rates, and the equipment has been
delivered to a top-tier customer and is in the process of verification.
With the addition of a double-deck inline platform, this equipment is
poised to emerge as a high-capacity copper plating solution that leads
the industry in comprehensive performance capabilities.

In terms of solar cell equipment customers, the Company has taken
over and further strengthened the customer base of RENA Germany
accumulated over ten years, covering major domestic solar cell
manufacturers. On this foundation, the Company adheres to a strategy
focused on major clients and cultivates a clientele that combines
robust technical R&D capabilities with substantial financial resources.
By innovating products in synergy with semiconductor equipment
technology, and improving cost efficiency of production and operation,
the Company mitigates the impact of industry-wide fluctuations on its
performance, which ensures the sustainability and potential for long-
term growth in the solar cell equipment business.

Benefiting from the above business progress, as of the end of FY2023,
in terms of solar cell cleaning equipment, the Company’s amount of
unrecognized revenue from orders on hand (VAT included) reached
approximately HK$325.2 million, representing an increase of 80% as
compared to that for FY2022; amount of unrecognized revenue from
orders cumulatively delivered (VAT included) reached approximately
HK$112.4 million, representing an increase of 67% as compared to
that for FY2022; and orders that passed pre-acceptance during the
financial year (VAT included) amounted to approximately HK$233.8
million.
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R&D OF OUR TECHNOLOGY:

As of the end of FY2023, the Company has a total of 435 employees
(of which 346 were in the semiconductor and solar cell equipment
business), including 114 R&D personnel, accounting for approximately
26% of its total staff. The high proportion of R&D personnel effectively
supports the Company's strategic goal of providing advanced high-
productivity solutions for the industry through technological innovation,
and is also a guarantee of the Company’s ability to develop new
products and iterative upgrading of existing products at this stage. The
core technical personnel of the Company possess the work experience
in top international semiconductor equipment manufacturers, with an
average experience of more than 20 years in semiconductor industry.
Therefore, they are capable of leading the comprehensive product
development from technology innovation, engineering design to R&D
management and process application, which enables the swift launch
and stable mass production of the Company’s products, thereby
empowering the Company as an important participant in the
localisation of semiconductor equipments.

As of the date of this annual report, the Company has applied for 76
patents, including 34 invention patents, 34 utility model patents, and 8
design patents. Among them, 32 patents have been authorized,
including 10 invention patents, 21 utility model patents and 1 design
patent.

In light of the Company's outstanding performance in the
semiconductor equipment industry, the Company is selected as a
collaborating unit for the “Typical Cases of China’s Strategic Emerging
Industries” of the Macroeconomic Department of the National
Development and Reform Commission, and a standard-setting unit for
the "Testing Methods for Wet Cleaning Equipment Used in
Semiconductor Manufacturing” and “Remote Operation and
Maintenance Status Monitoring of Integrated Circuit Packaging
Equipment” of the National Standardization Administration of China.
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The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is engaged in the
business of productivity-driven equipment applied in semiconductor
and solar cell businesses. It also operates an oil and gas production
project in the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC").

During FY2023, the Company commenced businesses in development
and manufacturing of innovative Wafer Fabrication Equipment (“WFE")
and solar cell production equipment. WFE comprises high-end single
wafer cleaning and LPCVD equipment for front-end wafer processing.
Solar cell production equipment includes wet chemical cleaning
equipment and copper plating equipment. The Company has
established and acquired companies in China and abroad for the
operation, R&D, and manufacturing of the above-mentioned
businesses (among which LPCVD equipment is currently under
development), which mainly include Productive Technologies
(Shanghai) Limited* (L8 EERF X ERBEEBMRAA) ("PDT
Shanghai”), Productive Technologles (Xuzhou) Limited* (EiZHF¥E
BEERE (BN BR AR (“PDT Xuzhou”), Xinkai Semiconductor
Equipment (Xuzhou) Co., Ltd.* (VEFEBERE (RN ABRETAR)
(“Xinkai”), Britech Semiconductor Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
(“Britech”), Productive Equipment Technologies (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*
(P BEERREVRAERAR

Solar Technologies (Yiwu) Co., Ltd.*

) (“"PDT Technologies”), and Rena

KSR (BB ARAR])
(“Rena Yiwu"). Xilin Gol League Hongbo Mining Development
(M BREEEREFR A F)

Mining”) is a subsidiary of the Company engaged in sale of crude oil.

Company Limited* ("Hongbo
The principal business of the major subsidiaries and investment
portfolio companies are set out as below:

° PDT Shanghai, established on 14 January 2022, is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. It is engaged in the sales,
R&D and engineering services of equipment for semiconductor,
including but not limited to backside thinning equipment, Solvent
cleaning equipment, SPM cleaning equipment with specifications
of 6 inches, 8 inches and 12 inches.
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PDT Xuzhou, established on 22 February 2022, is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. It is engaged in the manufacturing of
equipment for semiconductor and solar cell as stated above
based on the business needs of PDT Shanghai and PDT
Technologies.

Xinkai, established on 18 August 2022, is a subsidiary controlled
as to 69.2% by the Company. It is engaged in the sales, R&D
and manufacturing of LPCVD high-end processing equipment.

Britech, a company invested by the Group in 2022, is principally
engaged in the business of semiconductor ASHER equipment
and EPI equipment in China. The Company effectively holds 35%
equity interest in Britech and classifies the investment in Britech
as interest in an associate in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

PDT Technologies and Rena Yiwu are wholly-owned subsidiaries
acquired by the Company on 18 August 2022. They are mainly
responsible for the sales, R&D and engineering services of
equipment for solar cell, including but not limited to cleaning
equipment and copper plating equipment. The Company holds
100% equity interest and has consolidated the financial results of
PDT Technologies and Rena Yiwu into its financial statements
upon completion of the acquisitions.

Hongbo Mining is a wholly-owned subsidiary acquired by the
Company in 2016. It is an operating company engaged in the
exploration, development, production and sales of crude oil in
China with its gross sales volume of 306,715 barrels, and gross
revenue from sales of approximately HK$188.3 million for
FY2023.

Note: Terms used in this section have the same meanings as those defined in the

subsequent sections of this annual report.

*  For identification purposes only
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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Year ended 31 March
BE-A=t-HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
CECNE |G 2%  CZZ-%f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT TR THET TR
(Restated)
(=it
Continuing Operations BESEEE
Revenue from sales (Note 1) HEYA (B 1) 543,638 567,511 138,326 90,008 243,546
— from sales of equipment (Note 1) —REHERE(WE1) 368,646 357,593 - -
— from sales of crude oil (Note 1) —REHERH (ME1) 157,663 188,345 138,326 90,008 243,546
— from rendering of service — RERERY 17,329 21573 - - -
Gross profit (Note 2) EN(ME2) 82,203 115,871 41,170 10,487 37,866
Investment loss (Note 3) RAR®E (H:3) (44,225) (13,981) (328,640) (297,577) (244,018)
Loss before taxation from REBBEERK BB
continuing operations g (349,361) (218,874) (475,100) (359,156) (303,843)
Loss for the year from continuing operations ~ REHELLEB 2 FEE
(Note 5) ElGED) (362,131) (229,193) (482,978) (359,361) (296,725)
EBITDA from continuing operations REFEL 2 %7 2 EBITDA
(Note 4) GETY (241,571) (127,782) (410,889) (300,112) (210978)
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations ~ RERBELLEH 7 HF%
(Note 4) EBITDA (fitt4) (143,385) (26,308) (307,849) (292,778) (200,194)
Discontinued Operation BALEREER
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued REBRIBEEK L ERE
operation (Note 5) i/ (B8) (HsE5) - = 56,924 (77,105) -
Loss for the year FEFR (362,131) (229,193) (426,054) (436,376) (296,725)
— Attributable to equity shareholders of —ARNFERREES
the Company (347,484) (222,513 (403,761) (386,701) (276,790)
— Attributable to non-controlling interests — EEREREN (14,647) (6,680) (22,293) 49,675) (19,935)

Basic and diluted (loss}/eamings per share SREAREE (BR)/

{HKS per share) 2 (BB
— Continuing and discontinued operation —REREREEER (4.689 cent (2.925 cent (5.830 cent (5.849 cent (4.499 cent
Bl &) 1) Al i)
— Continuing operations —RERAER (4.689 cent (2.925 cent (6.974 cent (5.435 cent (4.499 cent
Bl 7&10) 1) 1) 1)
— Discontinued operation —BRILEEEHE - - 1.144 cent (0.414 cent n/a
gl 710) T
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BT 2

As at 31 March

R=A=1+-H
2024 2023 2021
b Ll —T_-F 2 _T--f T -F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FHL THL THL
Non-current assets HRPEE 1,193,392 1,296,886 981,125 2,417,054 2,734,009
Current assets RBEE 1,429,745 1,615,549 1,891,981 1,188,470 1,179,910
Total assets EESR 2,623,137 2,912,435 2,873,106 3,605,524 3,914,009
Current liabilities RBHEE 761,840 504,682 178,712 355,843 277,114
Non-current liabilities FRBER 103,066 116,290 100,940 205,402 230,107
Total liabilities BEES 864,906 710,972 279,652 561,245 507,221
Net assets BEFE 1,758,231 2,201,463 2,593,454 3,044,279 3,406,788
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders A2 AlES IR R B (5
of the Company EREE 1,772,353 2,206,849 2,593,454 2,904,233 3,229,711
Note1:  The revenue from sales represents: BFET . SEEUWAE:
(1) the revenue generated from the sales of semiconductor and solar cell (1) REFEERAGEEDERRBEIAR
cleaning equipment and the spare parts related to the equipment. BN ERABANBHEEEENRA -
(2)  the revenue generated from the net sales of crude oil produced by (2) REREREELEERAFHETRRA
Hongbo Mining.
Note2:  The decrease in the gross profit was mainly due to the decrease in gross profit ~ Miat2:  EF TEE 2T RN R GERFRMH S XBEH
contribution from Hongbo Mining’s crude oil sales business. EMERURD -
Note3:  The investment loss stated here mainly includes (i) the net of investment  FIEE3: WEPMAMREFETERFNREEENA
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income and losses in the form of fair value change from investment projects;
and (ii) the gain or loss shared from associates. Please also note that following a
recently completed fundraising of RMB70 million from third-party investors, the
pre-money equity valuation of one associate of the Company engaging in the
business of semiconductor ASHER equipment and EPI equipment increased to
RMB350 million compared with that of RMB50 million when the Company
made the investment as one of the founding shareholders. However, under the
prevailing accounting standards, the Company recognized the net loss
amounting to approximately HK$5.3 million in such associate rather than
recognizing the fair value gain of approximately HK$100.9 million.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BT 2

Note 4:

Note 5:

Non-HKFRs Adjusted EBITDA

In evaluating our business, we consider and use certain non-GAAP measures,
including adjusted EBITDA (Non-GAAP Financial Measure), as supplemental
measures to review and assess our operating performance.

Adjusted EBITDA is earnings before finance costs, finance revenues, income taxes,
depreciation and amortisation, equity settled share option expenses, and other one-
off expenses. This is not a HKFRs measure. Adjusted EBITDA is presented
exclusively as a supplemental disclosure because our Directors believe that it is
widely used to measure the performance, and as a basis for valuation. We present
these Non-HKFRs financial measures because they are used by our management to
evaluate our operating performance and formulate business plans. We also believe
that the use of these non-GAAP measures facilitates investors’ assessment of our
operating performance.

The following table sets forth a quantitative reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to its
most directly comparable HKFRs measurement and loss before taxation.

Loss before taxation MRELATEE
Add/(Less): s GR)
Depreciation and amortisation e R
Interest expenses MEFREZ
EBITDA EBITDA
Adjusted for: T
Impairment loss of inventories FEREEE

Share of losses of an associate FE1h— B S R R EE
Impairment loss of trade and other receivables
R EER O R
—RERFEA

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses
One-off transaction costs

Non-HKFRs Adjusted EBITDA

The loss for FY2023 was primarily attributable to the R&D and administrative
expenses of approximately HK$339.9 million in relation to the rapid development
and expansion of the Company's business in semiconductor and solar industry,
including share-based compensation to employees and depreciation & amortisation
expenses caused by the acquisition of solar companies completed in FY2022, both
of which are non-cash in nature.

T

JREMK AR 3R e ot FE MR IR 2 IR E S 1B

EBR B ST 2ERI S FHZEEBITDA

FEES

BB B E LRI T EEBITDA

PR PIR X - ROZBRERETIHE R
RRBEREEE - BIELHBEBITDA GE—R A
REARMFBE) - (ERRH RFERMALE
REMRAE -

K EBITDARMRB AR A BB WA - A5
B FEREH EaATBRER REMG—R
ERXATNERT o LW B BF B RELLEE -
KHEEBTDARERMARERY  FR AR
MESRR/EEZBNERE - XAEGERE -
BM27ZERBFAVBHRERNABHAENHR
HPWEEBEERZSHEFHRMANGLERAR
HIEREBATE - RATARGE  ERZFE—RAR
B RAGBAEPREEFHRANLLERR -

TREINEHEEBITDARE KRERTALLREE
BT ¥R AR B BRI AT IR A0 E B8R o

For the year ended 31 March
BEZA=+—HLEFE

2024
—g-nE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
(349,361) (218,874)
101,430 89,343
6,360 1,749
(241,571) (127,782)
15,763 _
43,031 42,763
1,218 7,699
30,426 51,012
7,748 -
(143,385) (26,308)

R MFNERERRARARRFEERA
PPREEXEEBREE R R ERMBBEOTERITHRRA
X #4)3.39918 8 7T - BIERE B X ARHE AR A K
A-ZF - —MFATKBREARGERRMELNT
EREHEAN  MEDBFERSMUE -
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OPERATING SUMMARY

=EME

Semiconductor and

solar cell

FERRAGEED

Semiconductor cleaning equipment (VAT included)

YERBERRE (RBER)

Amount of unrecognized revenue from orders on hand (VAT
included)

HABERBANEFTESHE (FBER)
Among which: orders for equipment for 12-inch wafers
H 2N &ERETE

Amount of unrecognized revenue from orders cumulatively
delivered (VAT included) (Note 1)

RACBEERARERRANT ELRE (FEER) PHFE1)
Among which: orders for equipment for 12-inch wafers
Hep 120 &EREBTE

Orders that passed pre-acceptance during the financial year
(VAT included)

HEADBBERINIESR (FIEER)
Among which: orders for equipment for 12-inch wafers
Hep 120 GEIRBAE

Solar cell cleaning equipment (VAT included)

ABREENERRE (SEER)

Amount of unrecognized revenue from orders on hand
(VAT included)

HAERBANEFTESHE (FBER)

Amount of unrecognized revenue from orders cumulatively
delivered (VAT included) (Note 1)

ZAEBREERARERRAN ELE (FEEDH) 1)

Orders that passed pre-acceptance during the financial year
(VAT included)

MENBABERKNTESHE (FRER)

14 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t+-HLFE

2024

ol f 3
HK$'000
THER

220,989

179,436

92,184

92,184

107,968

92,184

325,274

112,437

233,825

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FET

105,608

92,184

35,394

35,394

13,424

180,327

67,470



OPERATING SUMMARY

=EME

Oil and gas and others

R R H A

Upstream oil and gas business from Hongbo Mining

REEBEEN ERARES

Gross production volume (barrels) (Note 2)

eES(R) (2)

Gross sales volume (barrels) (Note 2)

s (1) (Mx2)

Net sales volume (barrels)

FHE ()

Average unit selling price (HK$ per barrel) (Note 2)

THEMEEB(BRET) (HE2)

Average daily gross production volume (barrels)

THBHEEESE ()

Average unit production cost before depreciation and
amortisation (HK$ per barrel) (Note 2)

R EREHENFHEMEERAR (BRET) (E2)

Average unit production cost (HK$ per barrel) (Note 2)

THEMEERE (BRET) (HT2)

Wells drilled during the financial year

BT W R R

— Oil producers (unit) (Note 3)

— EdFH (A) (f3E3)

Fracturing workover during the financial year (unit)

HEREREE (D)

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t+-HLFE

2024

—E-mE
HK$'000
TET

306,154

306,715

245,372

617

850

151

363

2023
—E-=fF
HK$'000
FETT

305,701

305,678

244,542

730

849

136

345
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OPERATING SUMMARY
=EHE

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

The Company successfully delivered orders to customers amounting to
approximately HK$92.1 million for semiconductor cleaning equipment and HK$112.4
million for solar cell cleaning equipment as of 31 March 2024, revenue generated
from which has not been recognized. As of the date of this annual report, the
Company has successfully delivered orders to customers amounting to
approximately HK$154.2 million for semiconductor cleaning equipment and
HK$116.1 million for solar cell cleaning equipment, revenue generated from which
has not been recognized.

Hongbo Mining is a subsidiary of the Company engaged in exploration, development,
production and sales of crude oil in the PRC. Hongbo Mining’s gross production
volume was used in the calculation of average unit production cost and average unit
production cost before depreciation and amortisation, which includes 20% of crude
oil production volume as the entitlement for Shaanxi Yanchang Petroleum (Group)
Company Limited (Yanchang Oil Mineral Administrative Bureau* (P& 78 i & A ji
(@) BRETLQR (ERMAEEERB)) ("Yanchang”). The average unit selling
price was calculated using the net sales amount and net sales volume which exclude
Yanchang's 20% entitlement. Gross sales volume equals to the net sales volume
plus Yanchang's 20% entitlement.

In FY2023, Hongbo Mining had successfully drilled 4 wells.

For the purpose of this annual report, unless otherwise indicated,

exchange rates used are for the purpose of illustration only and do not

constitute a representation that any amount has been, could have

been or may be exchanged at such rate or any other rate or at all on

the date or dates in question or any other date. In respect of

information of exchange rates that have been previously disclosed in

the Company’s announcements, the same exchange rates as disclosed

in the respective announcements have been used herein.

*  For identification purposes only
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FERSE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)"”)
of the Company, | hereby report to you the annual results of the Group
for FY2023.

The Company is committed to providing high-productivity solutions for
the semiconductor and solar power industries through technological
innovation, with an aim to achieve sustained performance growth with
semiconductor and solar cell equipment that features differentiated
technological advantages and high productivity. Currently, semiconductor
and solar wet processing equipment are constantly advancing in mass
production, and we have made breakthroughs in advanced applications
such as LPCVD and copper plating equipment, leading to a
continuously increasing revenue contribution of our equipment
business. Meanwhile, the energy business contributes relatively stable
cash flow to the Company. We believe that investment in the
equipment business is in the best interest of shareholders of the
Company, and we are determined to strive to become a leading
equipment provider in the industry.

SEMICONDUCTOR EQUIPMENT BUSINESS

The global semiconductor industry is fueled by the increasing demand
for advancement chipsets and integrated circuits (ICs) as a result of
the proliferation of artificial intelligence (Al), Internet of Things (loT),
along with 5G and autonomous vehicles. According to market
forecasts, the global semiconductor market is expected to reach
US$673 billion by 2024 and US$1.3 trillion by 2030. In 2023, global
OEM sales of semiconductor manufacturing equipment totaled
US$106 billion with the semiconductor cleaning equipment market
accounting for approximately US$6 billion, while the global market for
LPCVD equipment exceeded US$13 billion. In the Chinese mainland,
the market share for semiconductor cleaning equipment and LPCVD
equipment is largely dominated by international semiconductor
equipment companies, particularly in the mid-to-high-end equipment
and advanced process segments. We aim to seize this market
opportunity and increase our market share through technological
innovation.

EBHHRIR

AANERERARAER ([EE)) ((EEE))
[ ENE2RAEE_FT_=—MFENFEERE -

RRBHARIARM B R B RN KEEE
TERBSEENERNDE  UEABER(
RiTEENBEENN Y BRERGEED
REMEHENRGEIER - BT FEEM
ARGHRBEXRBEEFRBEHEEEE -

LPCVD - fEHELERA D LIS RE

RBERBIHLLTERRS - Bt R

BEIR %
ﬁ%?%ﬂi’&ﬂEEﬁT*E%ﬂg*E’ﬁiimi E54

fI5E1E HRBEBNRATEARARARIBKRE
MEAFD TERFEHABEEITE RN

REREEEME S -

LHREMIFERT
BEE AN TEEE(AD) - B4 (IoT) LA R BG A B
e %fmimjt& S S A EE A K (1C)

HIBSKAEIE I EMEB 2RV ERBER
MER-REMSERN 2RFERTISHE

sHEE - —FER|6,73018 % 0 W E
—E=TFEIIBERBETL —E-_=F

PHERRBRER L ERRERENHEE
RHED| 1,060k 0 HpFEERRED
B A60EBET - LPCVD R E IR 2 IR

BREBIB0ERT -EPBERENF TR
BRREBELPCVDRE™ %5 * AED M5 M
HHERFBREREBARGE LEEFS
ihR i E R EBIIZEE - RAKIEEE—™
BB ARMBIFESEANMIZNE -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FERSE

On 10 August 2023, the Company completed the shipment of the first
12-inch semiconductor single wafer cleaning equipment of OCTOPUS
platform to a top-tier DRAM customer, gradually entering the stage of
mass production, and making important breakthroughs in high-
temperature SPM process. In addition, the Company has realized mass
production of CUBE/QUADRA single wafer cleaning equipment. Its
wafer backside cleaning process has fully met the product
performance requirements of international manufacturers and
possesses significant productivity advantages, gradually promoting
domestic substitution. At the same time, the Company has completed
the development of multiple models of LPCVD equipment. This series
of equipment is designed for 12-inch advanced thin film deposition
process and has received high interest from top-tier customers in the
industry, and is expected to be delivered in 2024. Based on the above
business progress, as of the end of FY2023, in terms of semiconductor
cleaning equipment, the amount of unrecognized revenue from orders
on hand (VAT included) of the Company reached approximately
HK$220.9 million, and the number of customers exceeded double
digits, including DRAM manufacturers, 12-inch wafer foundries,
automotive-class SiC chip manufacturers, and IDM wafer factories.

SOLAR CELL EQUIPMENT BUSINESS

Despite solar cell equipment is under the pressure of short-term
adjustment in the entire photovoltaic (“PV") industry, solar power end-
use market is expected to remain buoyant in the medium to long term,
propelled by the ongoing global energy transition. According to
reputable market forecasts, the global annual installed PV capacity will
grow from 398GW in 2023 to 513GW in 2024, and the related solar
cell equipment market will reach US$8.4 billion, while the global
market for solar cell cleaning equipment is expected to exceed
US$680 million. At the same time, solar copper plating equipment will
have a chance to replace the silver paste process and be applied to the
metallization of solar cells on a large scale. The Company will focus on
improving the production efficiency and capacity of equipment,
reducing the cost of use and maintenance, and striving for a leading
position in the market of copper plating products.

In FY2023, the Company expanded the mass production scale of solar
cell cleaning equipment, and signed more than ten full-line sales orders
for solar cell wet processing equipment with customers on one hand,
and earned cost-performance advantages by increasing the single-
machine production capacity of its equipment to over 1GW through
the “high-productivity batch cleaning equipment + double-deck inline
cleaning equipment” model, which was an industry innovation, on the
other. In addition, the solar copper plating equipment developed by the
Company jointly with leading manufacturers was successfully delivered
and is in the process of verification for industrialization. The Company
would stick to the major trends in the solar market to solidify the
foundation of solar cell equipment business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FERSE

Under the guidance of the core leadership team with extensive
management experience and top-notch technical R&D experts globally,
the Company has possessed comprehensive capabilities in the entire
process from R&D, production, to sales and service. During FY2023,
the Company received purchase orders and evaluation agreements
from diverse customers for 106 sets of equipment, with the value of
new orders exceeding HK$510 million. The revenue from the
equipment business (including the provision of related services) of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$390 million, accounting for
approximately 71% of the total revenue of the Company. These results
demonstrated customers’ acknowledgment of the Company's
technology capability and product competitiveness.

OUTLOOK

Going forward, the Company's top priorities in FY2024 remain
continuously enhancing and expanding the semiconductor and solar
cell equipment product portfolio and market share. Meanwhile, the
Company will pay close attention to the market environment and
consider potentially exiting its mature investments so as to seize
opportunity and realize value.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our appreciation
to all shareholders, customers, employees and partners for their
support and trust in the Company.

Liu Erzhuang
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong
28 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE LT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Group
The Group is engaged in the business of productivity-driven equipment

applied in semiconductor and solar cell businesses. It also operates an

oil and gas production project in the PRC.

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios
1. Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry

1.1

Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning
equipment business

According to current reputable market projections, the
global semiconductor market is expected to reach US$673
billion in 2024 and US$1,300 billion by 2030. While the
global semiconductor market saw a decline in 2023, there
was only a slight fluctuation in the global sales of
semiconductor manufacturing equipment by original
equipment manufacturers, which reduced by 1.3% to
US$106 billion in 2023. China played an important role in
the past year as the semiconductor equipment market in
the Chinese Mainland surged from US$28 billion to US$37
billion, pushing its global market share from 26% to 34%.
On the whole, the global semiconductor industry is fueled
by proliferation of generative artificial intelligence (Al),
Internet of Things (loT), along with 5G and autonomous
vehicles, resulting in increasing demand for advancement
chipsets and integrated circuits (ICs), thus propelling the
industry forward. There is a promising opportunity for
companies to invest in this sector to meet the growing
demand, in light of which, the Company plans to gradually
expand its investments in semiconductor equipment to
capitalize on these positive trends.

The wafer cleaning equipment market is projected to be
above US$6 billion in 2024 and accounts for around 6% of
the global WFE market. China’s domestic semiconductor
cleaning equipment market holds around 30% of the global
market worth more than US$1.8 billion, in which
international manufacturers account for 60%-70%, while
domestic enterprises are facing large space of growth due
to the trend of localization and gradual breakthroughs in
technology.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE LT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios
(continued)

1.

EBOE (®

FEXBRREAESHE ()

Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry

FERRABREEMELRE (F)

(continued)

1.1

Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning
equipment business (continued)

In addition to the semiconductor business, the Company
aims to develop its solar cell. Under the carbon peaking and
carbon neutrality goals, the global energy mix is undergoing
transformation, leading to a sustained growth in the global
PV market, also supporting the long-term improvement of
the market in China, despite facing short-term adjustments
brought about by overcapacity. The annual global PV
installation is expected to grow from 398GW in 2023 to
513GW in 2024, with the corresponding solar cell
equipment market reaching US$8.4 billion in 2024,
according to reputable market forecasts.

The global market size of the solar cell cleaning equipment
is expected to be more than US$680 million in 2024,
accounting for 8% of the whole equipment market. Given
that Chinese domestic market accounts for almost 95% of
the global PV market, the Company is expected to have
access to a considerable share of the PV market.

The management team of the new business development
is focused on creating core competencies that will benefit
the semiconductor and solar cell equipment businesses.
The core team members have extensive experience in top-
tier semiconductor companies, with an average industry
experience of more than 20 years. Most of the team
members hold a master's degree or above and possess
excellent technical and management expertise, practical
experience in research and development, production and
operation of semiconductor equipment, and an in-depth
understanding of the market and customer needs. The core
team quickly established a strong talent team to facilitate
the long-term development of the business.
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Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry

EBOE (®

FEXBRREAESHE ()

FERRABREEMELRE (F)

(continued)

1.1

Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning
equipment business (continued)

During FY2023, the Company achieved a steady increase in
its revenue, with its equipment business accounting for
71.0% of the total revenue as 66.8% for FY2022. The
amount of unrecognized revenue from orders on hand (VAT
included) reached approximately HK$546.3 million as
compared to approximately HK$285.9 million in FY2022,
achieving significant growth. Meanwhile, the Company
focused on technological innovation and development, with
R&D expenses increasing significantly by 123.12%, from
12.10% in proportion to the revenue in FY2022 to 28.2% in
FY2023.

During FY2023, the Company received purchase orders and
evaluation agreements from diverse customers for 106
sets of equipment, with the value of new orders exceeding
HK$510 million, including (i) single wafer cleaning
equipment designed for applications in silicon wafer
cleaning that removes any adhering particles and organic/
inorganic impurities; (i) solar cell wet processing equipment
designed for applications in wafer surface texturing process
that reduces reflection losses of the incident light; and (iii)
metallization processing equipment applied to solar cell
manufacturing, which, based on the principle of
electrolysis, adopts electrodeposition to coat one particular
metal in a layer of metals or alloys, achieving electrode
molding for solar cells.

Among these orders, some were secured for the
Company’'s semiconductor business from top-tier
customers, bringing the total number of customers to a
two-digit figure. In addition, the solar cell business has
received repeat orders from leading customers, and the
number of new customers has also exceeded a two-digit
number.
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Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry
(continued)

FERRABREEMELRE (F)

1.1 FEERKBEEELELRER

1.1 Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning

equipment business (continued)

These achievements underscore the Company’s
commitment and dedication to innovation and expansion in
its semiconductor and solar cell business.

On 10 August 2023, the Company completed the shipment
of the first semiconductor wet cleaning equipment of
OCTOPUS platform to a top-tier DRAM customer, gradually
entering the stage of mass production. The OCTOPUS wet
processing platform is equipped with 16 chambers and is
suitable for customers with large volume production needs
and seeking maximum WPH (wafer per hour). The chamber
and chemical solution supply system of the OCTOPUS
platform equipment adopts a vertical plane array layout,
which provides high production capacity and optimal
chemical solution recycling efficiency, thereby reducing
chemical consumption costs for customers. The OCTOPUS
platform offers a wide range of chuck configurations for
customized wafer cleaning, double-sided cleaning, bevel
cleaning and etching requirements. OCTOPUS platform can
be used to increase production capacity with multiple
chambers in a single application or be configured for
different applications on the same platform to meet varying
research and development needs. The product is a piece of
single wafer cleaning equipment designed for applications
in silicon wafer cleaning that removes any adhering
particles and organic/inorganic impurities. In addition, the
Company has completed client verification of the
4-chamber single wafer cleaning equipment of the CUBE
platform, and has iterated the technology, gaining mature
mass production experience in backside cleaning
applications. With configurable chamber counts and small
footprint, the CUBE platform can be flexibly applied to
6-inch, 8-inch and 12-inch wafer production lines, providing
excellent technical performance and highly cost-effective
solutions.
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Summary of major operations and investment portfolios
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Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry

(continued)

1.1

Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning
equipment business (continued)

Meanwhile, the Company has achieved positive test results
for the wafer wet bench platform under development. This
piece of equipment adopts a modular design and can
process up to 50 wafers in a single batch. Compared to
similar international manufacturers, it provides higher
productivity and lower costs, offering customers cost-
effective application solutions. The first demo equipment is
expected to be shipped during FY2024.

In May 2023, the Company released the industry’s first
double-deck inline platform (NIAK4) for wet processing
equipment applied to solar cell manufacturing. In FY2023,
among the purchase orders and evaluation agreements
from diverse customers, 37 sets were developed based on
the advanced NIAK4 platform. The NIAK4 is iteratively
developed and upgraded from RENA modularized NIAK
platform. It is compatible with the conventional acidic
cleaning process, and other processing technologies
including low-temperature acid etching and high-
temperature alkaline polishing processing which are based
on the authorized single-side wafer etching process patent.
The Double-deck Inline Platform can break through the
production capacity bottleneck of inline cleaning equipment,
achieving a production capacity of 1GW per unit, which is
expected to reduce the customer’s capital expenditure by
about 25%. The products are wet processing equipment
applied to solar cell manufacturing and designed for
applications in wafer surface texturing process that reduces
reflection losses of the incident light.

The Company’s solar wet processing equipment, including
bench-type and chain-type machines, has fully entered
TOPCon whole-line applications.
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1.1 FEERKBEEELELRER

1.1 Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning

equipment business (continued)

On 23 February 2024, the Company completed the
shipment of the inline copper electroplating equipment,
InCellPlate Cu series, to its customer. The copper
electroplating technology, which can be applied in N-type
solar cell technologies, adopts base metal as interconnect
material instead of precious metal silver for metallization,
effectively reducing production costs. InCellPlate Cu series
equipment, developed from the multi-functional inline
electroplating process, adopts the horizontal inline
electroplating method, one of the three mainstream
electroplating methods (i.e., vertical electroplating,
horizontal inline electroplating, and insert electroplating).
The height and width of the grid lines are controllable. By
increasing the aspect ratio of the grid lines, it can effectively
reduce shading losses, minimize the contact resistance
between the electrode and the PN junction, and effectively
improve the conversion efficiency of solar cells.

In terms of technology, the Company has always been
driven by innovation to lead technological changes,
achieving the consecutive launch of 3 new equipment
platforms in two years, all of which have received positive
acceptance results and customer recognition. As of the
date of this annual report, the Company’s R&D personnel
totaled 114, accounting for approximately 26% of the total
staff. Meanwhile, as of the date of this annual report, the
Company has applied for 76 patents, including 34 invention
patents, 34 utility model patents, and 8 design patents.
Among them, 32 patents have been authorized, including
10 invention patents, 21 utility model patents and 1 design
patent.
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Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry
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1.1 FEERKBEEELELRER

1.1 Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning

equipment business (continued)

In terms of production and operation, the Company
achieved the milestone of shipping cumulatively a total of
100 sets of equipment in October 2023. As of the date of
this annual report, the Company has successfully fulfilled
its purchase orders for semiconductor and solar cell
cleaning equipment by timely delivery, shipping a total of
124 sets of semiconductor and solar cell cleaning
equipment. In FY2023, the Company achieved full delivery
within 90 days after receiving orders for mass production
projects, and successfully obtained the ISO9000 quality
system certification, laying a solid foundation for the
continuous delivery of the equipment and the continuous
satisfaction of customer needs in the future.

In light of the Company's outstanding performance in the
semiconductor equipment industry, the Company is
selected as a collaborating unit for the “Typical Cases of
China’'s Strategic Emerging Industries” of the
Macroeconomic Department of the National Development
and Reform Commission, and a standard-setting unit for
the “Testing Methods for Wet Cleaning Equipment Used in
Semiconductor Manufacturing” and “Remote Operation
and Maintenance Status Monitoring of Integrated Circuit
Packaging Equipment” of the National Standardization
Administration of China. During FY2023, the CUBE
equipment won the Best Application Award in China’s
Semiconductor Market 2023-2024, and the OCTOPUS
equipment won the Innovative Product Award in China's
Semiconductor Market 2023-2024.
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Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)
1.

Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry

(continued)

1.1

Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning
equipment business (continued)

The Company’s mission is to “provide high-productivity
solutions for the semiconductor and solar cell industries
through technological innovation”, and its vision is to
"achieve leading technical performance and optimal
productivity among comparable products, become a multi-
product company, operate globally, and achieve appropriate
financial returns”. Going forward, the Company will
continue to make its mark on this new business in an
expeditious manner with actions including, but not limited

to the following:

° Continuously conducting technological R&D and
product iteration to create highly-technical (e.g. high-
temperature sulfuric acid products) and high-
productivity products. Iterating existing equipments
to achieve smooth delivery of new machines, while
actively promoting the mass production of
equipment;

° Strengthening operational management to further

optimize business efficiency. Improving the
management of the entire chain from R&D to sales,
strengthening business operation systems and

execution, and optimizing financial structure;

° Continuously making market breakthroughs and
improving industry status. The semiconductor
business focuses on increasing market share in wafer
thinning (BGBM) segment, and expanding backside
cleaning, high temperature sulfuric acid cleaning, and
front and backside cleaning applications for 12-inch
wafer production lines. Continuously breaking through
markets to expand market share in leading
customers; the solar cell business focuses on key
customer resources and expands overseas markets
with leading customers; and
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Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry

(continued)

1.1

Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning

equipment business (continued)

° Integrating industry resources and expanding
business boundaries. Relying on the Company's
platform-based development model, actively exploring
potential quality resources, and jointly promoting
enterprise development through mergers,
acquisitions, and other models.

1.2 Development in LPCVD equipment business

The LPCVD equipment market is expected to account for
12% of the global WFE market, or approximately US$13
billion in 2024. The Chinese domestic market dominates
about 30% of the global market, representing about US$4
billion. The LPCVD equipment, which is the Company’s
initial product in LPCVD equipment, is critical in thin film
deposition in semiconductor equipment manufacturing. In
2023, thin film deposition equipment accounted for 18% of
the total market share of semiconductor equipment, and its
global market size exceeded US$19 billion. The LPCVD
equipment, which is the most widely adopted thin film
deposition equipment, accounts for 66% of the total
market share of the thin film deposition equipment,
representing around 12% of the total market share of
semiconductor equipment, and its global market size
exceeded US$13 billion in 2023.

According to market research institutions, the localization
rate of the LPCVD equipment in 2023 was low, while the
barrier to entry in the LPCVD equipment market was high,
and the market was highly concentrated, with the top 3
players taking up 70% of the global market share.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

1. Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry

(conti
1.2

nued)

Development in LPCVD equipment business (continued)
Based on the above, the Company is of the view that the
LPCVD equipment business is endowed with a robust
driving force for domestic substitution and a broad market
space. As planned, RMB140 million is initially committed to
the launch of the Company’s LPCVD equipment business.
The scope of the planned LPCVD products includes several
types of advanced LPCVD equipment for manufacturing 12-
inch wafer and the Company is expected to enter
commercial production stage for those LPCVD products in
2024.

In FY2023, Xinkai fully completed the construction and
decoration of its state-of-the-art manufacturing
infrastructure and started the production of the advanced
LPCVD equipment. Additionally, Xinkai has successfully
completed the design of 3 sets of equipment, further
enhancing its capabilities and capacity. Finally, Xinkai has
signed partnership agreements with valued customers of
the industry and has been collaborating with them on
exciting new development projects. These achievements
demonstrate the ongoing commitment to innovation,
quality, and customer satisfaction.

Currently, the testing of the ALD-SIN equipment developed
by Xinkai is proceeding well, and the first shipment of the
equipment is expected to happen in FY2024.

The Board considers that this diversification and expansion
plan will allow the Company to expand its business portfolio,
penetrating into the rapidly developing areas of equipment
manufacturing for semiconductor and solar cells, turning
opportunity into business, diversifying and broadening its
income stream and revenue base, which will potentially lead
to the enhancement of its financial performance by
cooperating and leveraging the expertise and networks of its
team members. The Board considers that the new business
development is in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders (the “Shareholders”) as a whole.

EBOE (®

FEXBRREAESHE ()

1. ¥ERRABGHEEMEBERE(E)

1.2

LPCVD I ¥ 3R (58)
R RRARIRAELPCVDRREZE
BEBARYHBEEZSRES S -
FFAEBEMRMTS =M - R
Bl ARENVABIT P EBRR
FUE R A B M LPCVD R %75 -
LPCVD E ) 51 &1 %6 B B 15 %
FA A B35 12 I & [B A9 %8 #E LPCVD
B ANRRBHZELPCVDE
MER-_TE-_NEFEAFTELE
EREE -

ECEEREEAET
LBAEEERBBHER

& - 0 5 46 A 2 SR A9 LPCVD
o AN IS BRI K=
R RET  E—HIES EE
DR EE - &8 SIEEHEER
EEEPFIAERE WHEHE
EERBHEREE - UL EKR
XATEMYERIH BEREFR
B R B ARG o

W ool

fat

i

5

o> &g

i

B Al - IS 3 #9 ALD-SIN 2% 5 8
SERIEF  HHRREETRZ
T_MPFEHE -

EFEeRRp B ZULERA
R EANR A EARRBKAS
ENREBEROFERB ARG
BHRERERE  HHREEL
REDR  ZTBREBAKIR
R zmEf E2BBAENAR
MAEBEBKENEENE kA
K- RAHEMBERR -BEFER
BOHEBRRTAARARAE
PR ([RR)) BEHEM

EERENBEERAT / F£3K2024 29



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEN WM

Uil

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
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30

lopment in semiconductor and solar cell industry

nued)

Development in LPCVD equipment business (continued)
The current business development in the semiconductor
and solar cell industry represents another milestone
initiative of the Company in developing this promising line
of investment. The Company is in the process of identifying
and evaluating good investment opportunities in this
industry segment. The Company will issue further
announcements as and when appropriate in accordance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) for any significant investment and business
development. For details of development of solar cell
business for semiconductor and solar cell industry, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 1
December 2021, 28 January 2022, 4 February 2022, 19
April 2022, 30 May 2022, 2 June 2022, 13 June 2022, 18
August 2022, 12 October 2022, 15 November 2022, 3
February 2023, 29 May 2023, 10 August 2023, 22 August
2023, 12 September 2023, 30 October 2023, 17 January
2024, 26 February 2024 and 2 May 2024 published on the
websites of the Company (www.pdt-techs.com) and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (www.hkexnews.hk).
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

2.

Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry

2.1

Operations in the upstream crude oil assets

The Company made an acquisition of an upstream crude oil
asset in 2016 at favourable costs and completed the
investment in another upstream shale oil project in 2017.

In the first quarter of 2023, international oil prices declined
due to the deteriorating economic expectations, financial
turmoil in European and American financial institutions, and
the interest rate hikes in the United States (the “US"). By
the second quarter, the resolution of financial crisis in
Europe and the US, the OPEC’'s production cut, and a
tightening oil supply led to a rebound in oil prices. The third
quarter saw a further rise in prices, driven by mounting
geopolitical risks in the Middle East and other regions, as
well as an unexpected production cut by Saudi Arabia. In
the fourth quarter, international oil prices declined again
due to weakened global economic expectations, OPEC's
production cut falling short of expectations, and the remote
prospect of the US interest rate cuts. Despite these
fluctuations, it is anticipated that OPEC+ will continue to
adopt the strategy of reducing production to maintain
prices, and considering external factors such as geopolitical
crises, the oil price is still expected to remain high in 2024.
Although the oil and gas industry is experiencing a
continuous recovery, we should also be aware of the
impact of global energy industry restructuring, the transition
to low-carbon and new energy, and other factors on oil
prices. The Company will continue to closely monitor the
market, strictly control risks, and strive to maintain and
increase the value of assets both financially and
operationally.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

2.

32

Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry

(continued)

2.1

Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued)

211

Hongbo Mining

Hongbo Mining, an upstream oil and gas portfolio
company, is the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary
and is engaged in the exploration, development,
production and sale of crude oil in the PRC. The
Company completed the acquisition of Hongbo
Mining in July 2016 at the consideration of
RMB558.88 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$652 million).

Under the exploration and production cooperation
contract entered into between Hongbo Mining and
Yanchang, Yanchang (as the mineral right owner) and
Hongbo Mining (as the operator) cooperate to explore
for crude oil in Block 212 and Block 378 which cover
a combined region of 406 km? in Inner Mongolia; and
Hongbo Mining and Yanchang are entitled to 80%
and 20% of the sale proceeds (net of any sales
related taxes), respectively. Block 212 obtained from
the Ministry of Land and Resources of the People’s
Republic of China a 15-year valid production permit
covering Unit 2, Unit 19 and other areas in Block 212
in May 2017 and in July 2022. Each of Block 212 and
Block 378 has been subject to an exploration permit
which is renewable for a term of five years after
expiration. The current exploration permit for Block
212 will expire on 3 April 2027, and the current
exploration permit for Block 378 will expire on 20
February 2026.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)
2.

Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry

(continued)

2.1

Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued)

211

Hongbo Mining (continued)

During FY2023, Hongbo Mining has carried out
maintenance work on existing production wells to
ensure stable oil production, and has successfully
drilled and completed 4 new wells. As of the date of
this annual report, all the production wells, reserves
and resources estimated by Hongbo Mining were
located in Block 212.

As a result, Hongbo Mining’s oil production volume
slightly increased by approximately 0.2% to 306,154
barrels; its gross and net oil sales volume slightly
increased by approximately 0.3% to 306,715 barrels
and 245,372 barrels, respectively. As the average
crude oil price decreased, the gross revenue
(equivalent to the net revenue from sale of crude oil
plus the 20% crude oil entitlement for Yanchang) and
net revenue from sales of crude oil decreased by
approximately 16.3% to approximately HK$188.3
million and HK$157.7 million, respectively, compared
to those for FY2022.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

2.

34

Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry

(continued)

2.1

Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued)

211

Hongbo Mining (continued)

Meanwhile, the drilling of new production wells
caused the increase of depletion and as a result, the
average unit production cost increased by HK$18 per
barrel, or approximately 5.3%, from HK$345 per
barrel (equivalent to US$44 per barrel) for FY2022 to
HK$363 per barrel (equivalent to US$46.4 per barrel)
for FY2023. Hongbo Mining increased the
maintenance work on existing production wells during
FY2023 and as a result, the average unit production
cost before depreciation and amortization increased
by HK$15 per barrel, or approximately 11.0%, from
HK$136 per barrel (equivalent to US$17.3 per barrel)
for FY2022 to HK$151 per barrel (equivalent to
US$19.3 per barrel) for FY2023 accordingly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R W S AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios
(continued)
2. Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry
(continued)
2.1 Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued)
2.1.1 Hongbo Mining (continued)
The following table provides a recap of Hongbo
Mining's key operational metrics and product prices
for the periods indicated.

EBOE (&)
FTEXBRREMSHE (&)
2. HARTENEEREREH (E)

2.1 LEHEHEENEE(E)

211 RiEEEE)
TREHRIEEER PR
FHEZLEEEREME
BB -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLFE

2024
—E-mE
Average daily gross production T HBEE (B)
volume (barrels) 850 849
Average daily gross sales volume FHERENE (B)
(barrels) 852 849
Average unit production cost before A FHITE K # s T 19 B {1
depreciation and amortisation EEKE (SBBT)
(HK$ per barrel) 151 136
Average unit production cost 15 B8 {7 A EE K AR
(HK$ per barrel) (BB T) 363 345
Average unit selling price FHEMEE(FRET)
(HK$ per barrel) 617 730
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) RX¥OE (&
Summary of major operations and investment portfolios FTEXEBRRELAEHE (B)
(continued)
2.  Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry 2. HRTENZEREXEHR(E)
(continued)
2.1 Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued) 2.1 EEERBEENEE(E)
2.1.1 Hongbo Mining (continued) 211 RiEEEE)
The summary of Hongbo Mining’s exploration and IR 2 P E A 5 #) IR K B
development expenditures incurred is as follows: ERXMEHTIOT

Summary of expenditures incurred
for the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—HLFE
FTEEZRXHME
2024 2023

—®-mF —E-o=f
Number Cost Number Cost

yE EN HE BN

(HK$'000) (HK$'000)

Wells drilled during HA RSB BR A9 s

(F#&m) (F#&7T)

the period
Oil producers BRI 4 16,781 8 31,289
Fracturing workover B #{5 4 4,046 4 2,788
Geological and R i ER Y

geophysical costs R Ax - 764 - 1,029

Based on the oil and gas reserves as at 31 March
2024 as estimated by independent technical
consultants, the net 1P reserves of Hongbo Mining
were 4.19 million barrels at stock tank conditions
("MMstb") and the net 2P reserves were 8.21
MMstb. Due to the challenges of the macro-economy
such as highly volatile prices of oil and gas, the net 1P
and 2P reserves decreased by 11.4% and 8.7%,
respectively, as compared with those as at 31 March
2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE LT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) RX¥OE (&
Summary of major operations and investment portfolios FTEXEBRRELAEHE (B)
(continued)
2.  Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry 2. HRTENZEREXEHR(E)
(continued)
2.1 Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued) 2.1 EEERBEENEE(E)
2.1.1 Hongbo Mining (continued) 211 RiEEEE)
The below are the summary and review of the TR AB T ER Gaffney,
reserves and resources of Hongbo Mining as at 31 Cline & Associates ([ GCA |)
March 2024 and 31 March 2023, as conducted by the it RERRNRIEERER
independent technical consultants, Gaffney, Cline & ZZNFE=A=+—HAk=
Associates (“GCA"): TE-=-F=-A=+—HHE
ERERERBR

As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023

R-Z-MF RZTZ=F
=A=+—H = e el =
Gross Net Gross Net
BFHE ERE RiHE FRHEE
(MMstb) (MMstb) (MMstb) (MMstb)
(B8 (B8 (B8 (B&

HHEAR) H ) R HERR) I HEAR)

Proved (1P) EEREOP) 5.24 4.19 5.92 4.73
Proved + Probable (2P)  EE + BB 7 & (2P) 10.27 8.21 11.24 8.99
Proved + Probable + BE IR +

Possible (3P) AIBEREE (3P) 13.72 10.98 14.92 11.94
Contingent resources (1C) & EHEEIR=Z (10) 3.6 2.88 3.64 2.91
Contingent resources (2C) & & R = (20) 8.1 6.49 7.76 6.21
Contingent resources (3C) & #& R = (3C) 12.81 10.25 12.2 9.76
Prospective resources BEREIR 9.7 7.76 9.7 7.76
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

2.

38

Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry

(continued)

2.1

Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued)

211

Hongbo Mining (continued)
Note: The reserve estimates and the future net revenue have been

prepared in accordance with generally accepted petroleum
engineering and evaluation principles set forth in the
Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil and
Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the Society of
Petroleum Engineers. Independent technical consultants used
standard engineering and geosciences methods or a
combination of methods, including performance analysis,
volumetric analysis, and analogy, that it considered to be
appropriate and necessary to classify, categorize, and
estimate volumes in accordance with the 2007 PRMS (the
Petroleum Resources Management System published by the
Society of Petroleum Engineers, American Association of
Petroleum Geologists, World Petroleum Council, and Society
of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers in March 2007) definitions
and guidelines. These reserve amounts are estimates only
and should not be construed as exact quantities.

2.2 Business updates regarding LNG business along the

value chain

The Company, through its subsidiaries, has also made other

investments in energy related business portfolio and

business model in order to capture the energy market

opportunities and dynamics.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE LT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios
(continued)

2.

Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry

(continued)

2.2 Business updates regarding LNG business along the

value chain (continued)

2.2

JUSDA Energy Technology (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.* (%R
EREH (E)8)BR2AA]) ("JUSDA Energy”)

On 25 September 2018, the Company, through one
of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, entered into an
agreement for a joint venture (the "JV Agreement”)
with JUSDA Supply Chain Management International
CO., LTD.* (EREHKRHEEREEFR A A)
("JUSDA") and the management team (the
“Management”), in relation to the formation of
JUSDA Energy, to be engaged in LNG logistics
services. The Company made contributions of
HK$43,937,000 and HK$17,462,200 to JUSDA Energy
pursuant to the JV Agreement and the completion of
such investments took place on 21 December 2018
and 8 January 2020 respectively. The Company holds
39% equity interest upon completion of all capital
contribution in JUSDA Energy.

Despite a large number of preparatory works since its
establishment, including necessary fixed assets
investment such as wharf renovation, yard
construction, cranes and tank containers, the
COVID-19 pandemic and market fluctuations have
impacted the progress of JUSDA Energy’'s domestic
Zhoushan project. It became clear that the project
could not be put into operation in the short term. In
light of these challenges, the board of directors of
JUSDA Energy made the decision to cease business
and dispose of assets in August 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios
(continued)

2.

Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry

(continued)

2.2 Business updates regarding LNG business along the

value chain (continued)

2.2

JUSDA Energy Technology (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.* (%R
ERREHE(ES)BR2AAE) ("JUSDA Energy”)
(continued)

During FY2023, JUSDA Energy has signed a three-
year lease agreement with customers for its tank
container assets, which is a “take or pay"” (“ BB
#& ") contract model to avoid further impairment or
discount of the assets, and JUSDA Energy reserves
the right to sell its tanks at any time during the lease
period when meet a potential buyer. JUSDA Energy
has completed the disposal of another core asset, the
storage yard, at a consideration of RMB23.10 million.

For details of the above transactions, please refer to
the Company’s voluntary announcements dated 17
July 2017, 31 July 2017, 25 September 2018, 24
December 2018 and 27 May 2021 published on the
websites of the Company (www.pdt-techs.com) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

*  For identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE LT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)
3.

Business updates in mobility services business

3.1

Weipin

On 15 November 2019, Triple Talents Limited (“Triple
Talents”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a series of agreements with Weipin and its
affiliates, pursuant to which Triple Talents has agreed to
subscribe for certain shares in Weipin. Upon completion of
this transaction with a total investment of approximately
RMB200 million, the Company effectively holds 35.5% of
the equity share in Weipin. Weipin is the holding company
of the mobility services platform business. For more details
of the Company’s investment in Weipin, please refer to the
voluntary announcement of the Company dated 25
November 2019 published on the websites of the Company
(www.pdt-techs.com) and the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk).
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

3.

42

Business updates in mobility services business (continued)

3.1

Weipin (continued)

Prior to 21 June 2021, the Company controlled the majority
voting right of Weipin's board of directors, making Weipin a
subsidiary. On 21 June 2021, the shareholders of Weipin,
including the Company, agreed to enter into an amended
shareholders’ agreement (the “Agreement”) to, among
other things, make adjustments to the structure of the
board of Weipin in order to provide the management of
Weipin with more flexibility in terms of decision-making
over its operations. Pursuant to the Agreement, the
Company agrees to lower its number of designated
directors from 3 to 2 directors in the board of Weipin (the
“Adjustment”). After the Adjustment, the total number of
board members in Weipin has decreased from a total of 5
members to 4 members. Thus, the Company no longer has
the majority voting right of the board of directors in Weipin
and any decision-making power over the management and
business activities of Weipin. The shareholding percentage
held by the Company in Weipin remains unchanged at
35.5%, and Weipin was reclassified as an investment
portfolio of the Company. Under the relevant regulatory
requirements and accounting standards, the financial
results of Weipin have ceased to be consolidated into the
Company’s financial statements, and the investment of
Weipin is accounted as interest in an associate under the
application of the equity method accounting with effect
from 21 June 2021. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 21 June 2021
published on the websites of the Company
(www.pdt-techs.com) and the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

3. Business updates in mobility services business (continued)

3.1

Weipin (continued)

Weipin, through its operation subsidiaries (the “Mobility
OPCOs"), is committed to creating a fast and standardized
mobility services system, connecting all participants in the
mobility market, tapping into the market flow through the
traffic platform in an aggregation mode, and generating
synergies by optimizing vehicle energy costs. The
aggregation mode has stabilized at 7 million orders per day,
representing 25% to 30% of total market.

The Mobility OPCOs have signed cooperation agreements
with “Didi", " "Baidu”
“Huaxiaozhu”, Didi's standalone ride-hailing service, is

Huaxiaozhu”, and “Tencent”.
growing rapidly with aggregation mode and the Mobility
OPCQ's daily order has recovered to 55,000 through its
cooperation with “Huaxiaozhu”.

4. Use of proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription

On 22 January 2018, the Company received an aggregate

subscription price of HK$1,485 million from Foxconn Technology
Pte. Ltd., High Tempo International Limited, World Trade Trading
Limited, Q-Run Holdings Limited, and Q-Run Far East Corporation

(collectively known as the “Foxconn Subscribers”) and issued

to each of the Foxconn Subscribers 297,000,000 subscription

shares at the subscription price of HK$1.00 per subscription

share totalling 1,485,000,000 subscription shares in accordance

with the terms and conditions of the subscription agreement (the

“Foxconn Subscription”).
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)
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Use of proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription (continued)

For details of the Foxconn Subscription, please refer to the
announcements of Company dated 13 December 2017 and 22
January 2018 and the circular of the Company dated 23
December 2017 published on the websites of the Company
(www.pdt-techs.com) and the Stock Exchange

(www.hkexnews.hk).

The gross proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription are HK$1,485
million. The net proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription (the
“Net Proceeds”) (after deducting the expenses incurred in the
Foxconn Subscription) are approximately HK$1,483 million.

On 24 June 2020, the Board resolved to change the intended
use of unutilized Net Proceeds by allocating the unutilized Net
Proceeds of HK$200 million from investment or acquisition of
targets in the natural gas industry in China and North America to
general working capital as the Company required funds for
general working capital purposes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE LT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

4.

Use of proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription (continued)
The following table summarizes the intended use of proceeds
and the actual use of proceeds as at 31 March 2024.

Intended

use of

Net Proceeds
set out in
the Circular

ZER B
FERERE
ZRERE
HK$'000
TAT

Investment or acquisition of BERUMERE K
targets in natural gas industry EERRRITENER
in China and in North America 1,100,000

Investment in up-stream shale RELKBEERR/
gas and/or shale oil assets, or FEEHEERGINEE

projects overseas 300,000
Other investments for future ARBERANEMBE

development 83,000
General working capital —RBEES -

As at 31 March 2024, an aggregate amount of HK$752 million
had been utilized pursuant to the revised intended use, and the
unutilized Net Proceeds of HK$731 million are expected to be
utilized in accordance with the revised intended use by 31
December 2024. The expected timeline for the revised intended
use of unutilized Net Proceeds, which is subject to future
adjustments, if required, is based on the best estimation of the
Company taking into account, among others, the prevailing and
future market conditions and business developments and need.
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Intended
use of

Net Proceeds

(after the Actual use of Unutilized
change as Net Proceeds Net Proceeds

announced as at as at
on 24 June 31 March 31 March

2020) 2024 2024
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HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRL TR TBT

900,000 399,000 501,000
300,000 79,000 221,000

83,000 83,000 =
200,000 191,000 9,000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R W S AT

OUTLOOK

The Company has evaluated and considered that the application of
semiconductor and solar cell will be a major global development trend.
The business in cleaning equipment for semiconductor and solar cell
which focuses on technology and solutions providing high productivity
to customers is a key area where the Company now puts efforts and
resources.

Geopolitical factors are exerting an increasing influence on the
semiconductor industry, which can be primarily seen from the
weakened service capability of the international supply chain for
customers from the Chinese semiconductor industry. Such impact
may extend to more regions and raw materials. In the short term,
China's advanced semiconductor wafer manufacturing capacity will be
directly impacted, but to a lesser extent for the Company in this
regard. From another perspective, such a situation is expected to
facilitate faster growth in China’s wafer manufacturing capacity from
2024 onwards and is expected to be highly prosperous for a long time
in the future. This strengthen greater autonomy and innovation
throughout the semiconductor industry chain in China, which will
provide the Company with more market space and better access to
sizable customers.

The solar cell industry has been a key strategic industry being
developed in China. 2024 marks a period of adjustment for the
industry, which is expected to grow in the long term. The development
of the solar cell industry is driven by the LCOE and the Incident-
Photon-to-Electron Conversion Efficiency (IPCE). TOPCon technology
with higher conversion efficiency and better economic benefits is
expected to become the mainstream of the industry. In addition, the
application of copper plating is a promising cost-cutting measure, but
the market landscape has not yet been established. At the same time,
equipment vendors are required to focus on improving production
efficiency and capacity of the equipment and reducing usage and
maintenance costs. The opportunities for the Company in the solar cell
equipment sector lie in, on the one hand, continued market expansion
and innovation along with the expansion of capacity in existing
technology process routes such as TOPCon, and on the other hand,
technology reserve in a prospective manner for new technology
process routes in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R W S AT

OUTLOOK (continued)

The Company has received purchase orders from several customers
for a total of 106 sets of semiconductor and solar cell equipment in
FY2023. In the meanwhile, the Company has successfully developed
and rolled out copper plating equipment for copper metallization as an
alternative to silver electric contacts. Such equipment is expected to
account for approximately US$1 billion of the PV equipment market as
it provides a cost-effective alternative processing solution. In addition,
the Company believes that the LPCVD equipment business will
provide a strong impetus for domestic substitution, as well as a broad
market space. The Company will carry out the LPCVD equipment
business as planned and has initially invested RMB140 million into
such business.

It is the Company’s long term vision to become a leader in this market
segment, aiming at building a capacity which will allow the Group to
obtain a significant market share of cleaning equipment in the Chinese
Mainland in the short to medium term and significant market share of
the global cleaning equipment and LPCVD equipment in the next
decade. The objectives of the Company in the short to medium term
include: 1. consolidating the existing business and expanding the
market share in the PV market; 2. focusing on developing in cleaning
market for semiconductor to gain a foothold; and 3. launching LPCVD
equipment with good technical performance in the middle term.

In December 2023, the International Energy Agency (the “IEA") and
U.S. Energy Information Administration (the “EIA") revised down their
respective estimates of global oil demand in 2023 by 300,000 barrels
per day and 40,000 barrels per day, and both lowered their forecasts
for global oil demand in 2024 by 100,000 barrels per day. After the
adjustments, the IEA, EIA, and OPEC’s expected growth rates for
global oil demand in 2024 are 1.1 million barrels per day, 1.34 million
barrels per day, and 2.25 million barrels per day. In 2024, while oil
production in non-OPEC+ countries such as the US, Brazil, and Guyana
is expected to increase, OPEC+ led by Saudi Arabia will continue to
pursue a policy of reducing production to maintain prices. Along with
external factors such as geopolitical crises, oil prices are expected to
remain high in 2024. Despite the optimistic outlook, the Company
plans to further mitigate risks and extreme events through the use of
hedging tools for upstream assets. Additionally, the Company will
focus on maintaining asset liquidity and increasing production to take
advantage of short-term high oil prices.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW

Revenue
The revenue represents:

Sales of equipment and services rendered

The sales of equipment represented sales of cleaning equipment
applied in solar and semiconductor manufacturing and the spare parts
and services rendered related to the equipment. It increased by
approximately HK$6.8 million, or approximately 1.8%, from
approximately HK$379.2 million for FY2022 to approximately HK$386.0
million for FY2023.

Sales of crude oil

The sales of crude oil represented the crude oil net sales from Hongbo
Mining. It decreased by approximately HK$30.7 million, or
approximately 16.3%, from approximately HK$188.3 million in FY2022

to approximately HK$157.7 million in FY2023.

The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in average unit selling
prices. Hongbo Mining’s crude oil is priced mainly with reference to
Brent Crude oil prices. The average Brent Crude oil price in FY2023
decreased to approximately HK$650 per barrel as compared to
approximately HK$748 per barrel in FY2022. The average unit selling
price of Hongbo Mining’s crude oil decreased to approximately
HK$617 per barrel in FY2023 from HK$730 per barrel in FY2022, which
was consistent with the trend of global oil prices. On the other hand,
Hongbo Mining’s net sales volume slightly increased to 245,732
barrels in FY2023 from 244,542 barrels in FY2022, which was mainly
due to new wells drilled in FY2023. For further details on the increase
of the production volume, please refer to “Business Review —
Hongbo Mining”.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales represents:

Cost of sales of equipment and services rendered

The cost of sales of equipment increased by approximately HK$6.3
million, or approximately 1.8%, from approximately HK$343.9 million
for FY2022 to approximately HK$350.2 million for FY2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

Cost of sales (continued)

Cost of sales of crude oil

The cost of sales of crude oil from Hongbo Mining increased by
approximately HK$3.5 million, or approximately 3.2%, from
approximately HK$107.7 million in FY2022 to approximately HK$111.2
million in FY2023. The increase was mainly due to the increase of the
depreciation and amortisation caused by the new wells drilled in
FY2023.

Gross profit

The gross profit decreased by approximately HK$33.7 million, or
approximately 29.1%, from approximately HK$115.9 million in FY2022
to approximately HK$82.2 million in FY2023. The decrease was mainly
due to the decrease of the margin from sales of crude oil following the
decline in oil price in FY2023.

Investment loss
Investment loss mainly includes the following:

(1) Losses from non-equipment business including a loss from
Weipin investment of approximately HK$27.6 million; a loss from
fund investment of approximately HK$4.0 million; a loss from
JUSDA investment of approximately HK$10.1 million; a net fair
value gain from other investment and dividend income of
approximately HK$2.8 million; and

(2)  The share of losses of an associate engaging in semiconductor
ASHER equipment and EPI equipment of approximately HK$5.3
million.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$38.5
million, or approximately 25.9%, from approximately HK$148.2 million
in FY2022 to approximately HK$186.7 million in FY2023. The increase
was mainly due to the rapid development and expansion of the
Company's business in semiconductor and solar industry in FY2023,
which accordingly led to the increase of the corresponding staff costs
of approximately HK$29.6 million. It also includes the amortization of
intangible assets recognized from the acquisition of the target
companies carrying out solar business of approximately HK$20.3
million since 18 August 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

R&D expenses

The R&D expenses increased significantly by approximately HK$84.6
million, or approximately 123.1% from approximately HK$68.7 million
in FY2022 to approximately HK$153.3 million in FY2023. The increase
was mainly related to the rapid development and expansion of the
Company’s business in semiconductor and solar industry. The R&D
expenses includes staff costs, share-based compensation to its
employees recognised as R&D expenses and expenses incurred for
R&D for 6 to 12 inches single wafer cleaning equipment and high WPH
solar wet processing equipment, which shall become the major
products of the Company.

Taxes other than income tax

Taxes other than income tax decreased by approximately HK$11.0
million, or approximately 33.1%, from approximately HK$33.2 million
in FY2022 to approximately HK$22.2 million in FY2023, which was
mainly due to the decrease in petroleum special profit levy and
resources tax levied on the sale of crude oil attributable to the revenue
decrease of Hongbo Mining.

Exploration expenses, including dry holes

The exploration expenses decreased by approximately HK$0.2 million,
or approximately 25.8%, from approximately HK$1.0 million in FY2022
to approximately HK$0.8 million in FY2023, which was mainly due to
the decrease of exploration activities.

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables

The impairment loss on trade and other receivables decreased by
approximately HK$6.5 million, or approximately 84.2%, from
approximately HK$7.7 million in FY2022 to approximately HK$1.2
million in FY2023, which was mainly due to the provision of Hongbo
Mining's long-aged trade and other receivables in FY2022.

Net finance cost

The net finance cost increased by approximately HK$2.3 million, or
approximately 92.1%, from approximately HK$2.5 million in FY2022 to
approximately HK$4.8 million in FY2023 due to the foreign exchange
loss as a result of the depreciation of RMB against HK$.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

Loss before taxation

Loss before taxation increased by approximately HK$130.5 million
from a loss of approximately HK$218.9 million in FY2022 to a loss of
approximately HK$349.4 million in FY2023, which was primarily due to
the cumulative effects of factors as discussed above in this section.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense increased by approximately HK$2.5 million, or
approximately 23.8% from approximately HK$10.3 million in FY2022 to
approximately HK$12.8 million in FY2023. It mainly includes (1) current
tax expense of HK$17.7 million mainly due to the increase of crude oil
price which led to Hongbo Mining making relevant tax payment to the
authority and tax filling differences in FY2023; and (2) deferred tax
credit of HK$4.9 million mainly due to other changes arising from the
temporary differences of the provision for depreciation of oil and gas
properties of Hongbo Mining.

Loss for the year

Loss for the year increased significantly by approximately HK$132.9
million, or approximately 58.0% from approximately HK$229.2 million
in FY2022 to approximately HK$362.1 million in FY2023, which was
primarily due to the cumulative effects of factors as discussed above
in this section.

EBITDA

The management of the Company prepared a reconciliation of EBITDA
to profit/loss before taxation, which is the most directly comparable
financial performance measures calculated and presented in
accordance with financial reporting standards and interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
EBITDA refers to earnings before interest expenses, income tax,
depreciation and amortisation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

EBITDA (continued)

The management of the Company believes that EBITDA is a financial
measure commonly used as supplemental financial measures by the
management of the Company and by investors, research analysts,
bankers and others to assess the operating performance, cash flow,
return on capital and the ability to take on financing of the Company
and its subsidiaries as compared to those of other companies.
However, EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or construed
as alternatives to profit from operations or any other measure of
performance or as an indicator of the operating performance or
profitability of the Company and its subsidiaries. EBITDA fails to
account for income tax, interest expenses, depreciation and

amortisation.

The following table presents a reconciliation of EBITDA to loss before
taxation for the periods indicated.

BR AT B 1R
e FEFX
o AT N

Loss before taxation
Add: Interest expenses
Add: Depreciation and amortisation

EBITDA EBITDA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

EBITDA (continued)

The EBITDA decreased from a loss of HK$127.8 million in FY2022 to a
loss of HK$241.6 million in FY2023. The significant decrease of
EBITDA was primarily attributable to:

(1) Increase of the administrative, R&D expenses of approximately
HK$123.0 million in relation to the rapid development and
expansion of the Company’s business in semiconductor and
solar industry, including share-based compensation expenses
and the R&D for 6 to 12 inches single wafer cleaning equipment,
high WPH (Wafer Per Hour) solar wet processing equipment and
copper plating equipment;

(2)  The decrease of the gross profit contribution from crude oil sales
of approximately HK$34.2 million from Hongbo Mining's crude oil
sales business; and

(3)  The decrease in investment income of approximately HK$30.2
million from fair value changes in investment projects and the
equity pick-up in associates, which are in relation to non-
equipment business.

Following a recently completed fundraising of RMB70 million from
third-party investors, the pre-money equity valuation of one associate
of the Company engaging in the business of semiconductor ASHER
equipment and EPI equipment increased to RMB350 million compared
with that of RMB50 million when the Company made the investment
as one of the founding shareholders. However, under the prevailing
accounting standards, the Company recognized the net loss amounting
to approximately HK$5.3 million in such associate rather than
recognizing the fair value gain of approximately HK$100.9 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE LT

SEGMENT INFORMATION SEHEH

The Group has presented the following two reportable segments. AEEE 2% 5| RER 2D 36 - NEE
Details of the Group's reportable segments are as follows: AI2{/H/IOFHBOT -

. Semiconductor and solar cell: this segment operates in research FEE L ARG E M D EEEKG

and development, manufacturing and sales of advanced BEEM R ERITRSEE N T RENH
processing equipment for solar cell and semiconductor T BEREE -
industries.

e Oil and gas and others: this segment invests in and operates an  ®  SHAR K& E At : 1tk FIRE WL E

upstream oil and gas business, LNG business, and generates REB INGEK TEMIHRAK
income from processing of oil and gas and LNG, as well as LNG A K& & R E R aeRAH R E AT
investing and managing energy-related and other industries and ERDEEERE -

businesses.

Semiconductor and solar cell Ol and gas and others Total
FERRAGHE) BRRE ast
Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-H BE=A=t-H BE=R=t-H
LEE LEE LEE

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024
CECMF et IO NF sl —Z-MF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAn TATL Tan TATL Tan BT

Revenue from external customers (note) MEEPWA (i) 385,975 379,166 157,663 188,345 543,638 567,511
Investment loss RABE (5,305) - (38,920) (13,981) (44,225) (13.981)
Reportable segment loss (EBITDA) 252 FE15 EBITDA) (233,918) (103,332) (7,653) (24,425) (241,571 (127,757
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH (32,318) 21,511) (69,112) (67,832) (101,430) (89,343)
Interest income MEMA 333 163 18,151 7,606 18,484 7,769
Interest expense MaR% (6,020) (871) (340) (903) (6,360) (1,774)
Impairment loss on trade and RWET R E MR

other receivables HEBE (1,218) (761) - 6,938) (1,218) (7,699)
Reportable segment assets 2RI PEE 1,139,406 1,172,371 1980276 2,209,297 3,119,682 3,381,668
fincluding interest in associates) (BERBERRMER) 13,946 19,655 193,347 233,166 207,293 252,821
Additions to non-current segment ERREENSNHEE

assets during the year 8,973 188,402 14,011 34,594 22,984 222,996
Reportable segment liabilities PES:ViES-15 (1,011,432) 897,926) (342,933) (269.847)  (1,354,365)  (1,167,773)
The measure used for reporting segment loss is EBITDA. ARERHOHEEEE 5 AEBITDA °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R W S AT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group finances their operations primarily through a combination of
bank and other borrowings and proceeds from the Foxconn
Subscription. For further details of use of proceeds from the Foxconn
Subscription, please refer to the section headed "“Business Review —
Use of proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription” in this annual report.

The cash and cash equivalents are mostly denominated in US$, HK$
and RMB. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had unpledged cash and
bank deposits of HK$531.4 million (31 March 2023: HK$474.8 million).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had restricted cash of HK$199.2
million, which was time deposit that pledged on outstanding loans (31
March 2023: HK$269.6 million, which was the funds obtained from the
sale of JOVO shares in the A-share market in the process of FDI
(Foreign Direct Investment)).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had outstanding loans of HK$261.1
million (31 March 2023: HK$64.0 million).

The Group has not used any financial instrument to hedge potential
fluctuation in interest rates and exchange rates.

As at 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio (ratio of the sum of total bank
and other borrowings to the total assets) was approximately 10.0% (31
March 2023: 2.1%).

mEERR MR R
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SEHAEERTE € RIRITFR531,400,000
Brx(ZE2E-=Z==ZH=+—H
474,800,000/ 7C) °

RZZE-_WE=A=1+—H A£BEZR
%135 € 199,200,000 87T * A REEERE
BN ERER (ZE-_=F=A=+—8:
269,600,000 7 - REEIN I EEIRE BIZ
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R W S AT

MAJOR RISK MANAGEMENT

The market risk exposures of the Company in its operations primarily
consist of oil price risk, currency risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk, equity price risk and driver management risk.

Oil price risk

The principal activities of the Company's subsidiaries and invested
portfolios in the “oil and gas and others” segment consist of upstream
oil and gas business and LNG logistics services. Hongbo Mining, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is engaged in petroleum
related activities in the PRC. Prices of crude oil are affected by a wide
range of global and domestic political, economic and military factors
which are beyond the control of the Company. A decrease in such
prices could adversely affect the financial results and financial position
of the Group.

In FY2023, the Company had not purchased any hedging instruments
for part of the production of Hongbo Mining. The Group maintains
continuous assessment of oil price risk and takes appropriate
measures as necessary to safeguard the interests of its Shareholders.
As at 31 March 2024, the Company did not hold any hedging
instruments for oil production.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through overseas
investment which gives rise to other receivables and cash balances
that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e., a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily HKS$, US$ and
RMB.

The Group currently does not engage in hedging activities designed or
intended to manage foreign exchange rate risk. The Group will
continue to monitor foreign exchange changes to best preserve the
cash value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R W S AT

MAJOR RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Company and its individual operating entities are responsible for
their own cash management, including the short-term investment of
cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The
policy of the Group is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and readily realizable marketable securities
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk of the Group arises primarily from interest-bearing
borrowings. The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed
and variable rate bank and other borrowings in order to manage the
interest rate risks.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at bank and trade
and other receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s credit risk arising from cash at bank is limited because the
counterparties are state-owned/controlled or listed bank and well-
known financial institutions which the Directors assessed the credit
risk to be insignificant.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the
Group to credit risk.

The Group constantly evaluates credit risk for trade receivables by
taking into account their past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and the expected credit loss for trade
receivables amounting to HK$1.2 million (for the year ended 31 March
2023: HK$7.7 million) recognized was mainly from a customer of PDT
Technologies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R W S AT

MAJOR RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Equity price risk

The Group was exposed to equity price changes arising from listed
securities classified as financial assets at FVTPL. Decisions to buy or
sell trading securities were based on daily monitoring of the
performance of individual securities compared to that of the index and
other industry indicators, as well as the Group's liquidity needs.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not hold any shares as listed
securities.

Driver management risk in the mobility services platform
Maintaining a team of competitive drivers is a key to the success of
the mobility services platform. If Weipin is unable to attract or maintain
a critical mass of drivers, its business will become less appealing to
business partners, and the financial results of the Company would be
adversely affected.

To continue to retain and attract drivers to Weipin's platform, Weipin
will increase the drivers’ earnings by increasing the fixed fees payable
to drivers for a given trip and its incentives to drivers. Further, Weipin
has indicated that it will continue to provide more resources and
access to larger driver pools in the future.

In addition, Weipin will continue to invest in the development of new
driver service system that provides additional value for drivers, which
differentiates it from its competitors. Specific measures include: (1)
outstanding full-time drivers will be rewarded with the services of
exclusive service managers, as well as tea breaks and other services
at service stations; (2) Weipin will integrate the resources of the
automobile service industry, cooperate with other companies in
relevant industries, and provide core drivers with services such as
charging, vehicle insurance, vehicle maintenance, and traffic violation
handling; and (3) Weipin will select high-performance drivers on a
regular basis and reward them with a certificate or a medal, giving
them a strong sense of honor and enhancing their loyalty to Weipin's
platform.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R W S AT

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 March 2024, there was no investment held by the Group the
value of which was more than 5% of the total assets of the Group.

CHARGES ON ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had outstanding pledge on time
deposit of HK$199.2 million (31 March 2023: HK$84.7 million, which
was land, buildings, machinery and equipment of Hongbo Mining as
the security to secure financing facilities granted to Hongbo Mining).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

So far as known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2024, there had been
no litigation, arbitration or claim of material importance in which the
Group was engaged or pending or which as threatened against the
Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had the capital commitment of
HK$39.3 million (31 March 2023: HK$3.9 million) contracted but not
provided for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 435 (31 March 2023: 360)
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. In FY2023, the total staff costs
(including the Directors’ emoluments and equity settled share-based
compensation amounted to approximately HK$72.8 million) amounted
to HK$268.1 million (FY2022: HK$167.0 million). Employees’
remuneration package was reviewed periodically and determined with
reference to the performance of the individual and the prevailing
market practices. Employees’ remuneration package includes basic
salary, year-end bonus, awarded shares, medical and contributory
provident fund.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R W S AT

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any other future plans for material investments
or capital assets as at 31 March 2024. The Company will continue to
seek new investment opportunities to broaden its revenue base and
profit potential and maximise Shareholders’ value in the long term.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF THE
RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee"”) was
established with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors and a non-executive Director
who possess the appropriate business and financial experience and
skills to understand financial statements. As at the date of this annual
report, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David is the chairman of the Audit
Committee and the other two members are Mr. Cao Xiaohui and Mr.
Wang Guoping. The Audit Committee has adopted terms of references
which are in line with those set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 (Corporate
Governance Code) to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code").

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management of the Company
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and
discussed the risk management and internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including a review of the consolidated financial
statements and the final results of the Group for FY2023 with no
disagreement on the accounting treatment adopted by the Company.

60 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

FREXKRBRBELTEZREKNR

RZEBEZWNF=A=+—H AEEWEMF
MEMBHEERIREREAREERRKETE -
RAATIHBEBSKFRERS  UEXREK
AEREFEEN  RBREMEHAERK
REME-

ERERERERARR

ARBMNEZZER® ((EREREE)REL
MR AIE 321 1RER L - W LAE H I = E B
BEE BEZZESREMABUINTE
ER—RBFUTES RFABAEEBR
MEEBRERENERYBRE - RAFH
B AAREERERZEEIRNEM
ZEGCHRMBELTRAMEC (BEE
asTRD ([REERTR) E B0 AEEIE
ZBERE o

EREEGCEARRERERRARFM
RRAZERAIRES  ANEAREE
RAMEGHAEMERRER  BREHNAN
SE_T_=MFZRAMBHRRLRREE
# - BEARBIFMRAEFTRIE AL ERE o



DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

s=2NEREEASB

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LIU Erzhuang — Chairman

Dr. Liu, aged 60, a Singapore national, was appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 13 May 2022 and an executive
Director on 19 August 2022. Dr. Liu, who joined the Company in June
2021 as Executive Vice President and was subsequently appointed as
the President on 1 December 2021, the legal representative for each
of PDT Shanghai and PDT Xuzhou (both being wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company) on 14 January 2022 and 22 February
2022, respectively, has extensive experience in the semiconductor
industry. From 1993 to 2002, Dr. Liu held different engineering and
operations management positions in Chartered Semiconductor
Manufacturing Ltd. (a major semiconductor foundry in the world). From
2002 to 2004, he served as the director of operations of Shanghai
Advanced Semiconductor Co., Ltd. From 2004 to 2012, he served as
the deputy general manager in China of Lam Research Corporation (a
leading semiconductor equipment company engaging in the design
and fabrication of semiconductor equipment, and listed on NASDAQ)
("Lam Research”). From 2012 to 2014, he served as the general
manager of Cree (an innovative semiconductor group specializing in
LED and RF devices, the holding company of which is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange) in China, and was responsible for sales in
the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong and the factory base in Huizhou,
leading the factory operations of 3,000 employees in the two factories.
From 2014 to 2020, he re-joined Lam Research and served as
corporate vice president and general manager of China. From 2020 to
2021, he served as the executive vice president of Tsinghua Unigroup
(a major semiconductor manufacturing, communication, and
networking group in China).

Dr. Liu graduated from Xi‘an Jiaotong University, majoring in
semiconductor physics and devices, and received a Ph.D. from the
University of Dundee in the United Kingdom. He is also a postdoctoral
fellow at Harvard University in the United States and an MBA from the
National University of Singapore.

BITESE

B -HEL — FE
2@t 60 ARFNEEER 8=
$£ﬂ+:5i§%§f£i%$Aﬂéf$ﬂ??E
WHRZEBEZZFNRATNBEZERHITE
FRBEIRN T —FRXAMBARAE
THRTEIBE  EER T -_—F+=F—
HEZEREH UHHINR_ZT-__F—H
THEM-_Z_—_F_A-+_HEZER
RARAF2EMB AR LB L ERFMGEMNEE
BREAREK BERIFEREBTXEFRESEL
BeE—NMN=-FEZTET-_F BB LIH
M EFFEREBR AR (Chartered
Semiconductor Manufacturing Ltd.) (/& & Bk
TEFERRIB BEETRNITIENESES
BERAL o Q =T $§ TEME - HIE
FLEEAETLYERBREERNDBR A A
( Shanghai Advanced Semiconductor Co.,
Ltd.) #E#E - 8§ *§§E$E*§E*:¢ :
WMAEBRZMH L BREZIERAZERAD
(Lam Research Corporation ) (& %8 %t E’\H: B
JEAR WEIERBRERTRRE -

= — —

=

ﬂﬂ{%@q,ﬁﬁgﬁtm ) (IZharEg ) - BT
EREBELE AE——_FE_T—OF -

?&F{ECree(EﬁF‘ﬂ?ﬁé$§ﬁﬁ‘ﬁ: % 88 & 51 58

BEEBNAF Y ERERE  HIERARE
iﬁﬁﬁE HRXGEMMPRRELE 858
EPHWi‘@&%%E’Jiﬁﬁifﬁwﬁﬁd‘l\llﬁﬁﬁ
- EEMEREH=TEEINMELE -

B-Z-WEFE_T-_FF FHBIMAR
Mﬁﬂ?’f CEETBE QAR AR AR
BT _TFE_FT_—F- T&Tf‘ff/%ﬁ%f
REE(RTENTEFTREE  BALSE
MREE) ITRIAE -

FELEEXENALIBAR  TEFERY
ERREBER VTHRBELBABIEEL
B - WITAXERBAZHELRARE
MF MBI ABTRHEREL -

EERENBEERAT / F£3K2024 61



DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

s=2NEREEASB

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. TAN Jue

Mr. Tan, aged 41, was appointed as the chief financial officer of the
Company on 30 September 2016, and was appointed as an executive
Director on 19 August 2022 and the legal representative for PDT
Technologies on 29 June 2023. He is primarily responsible for
financing, financial reporting, budget planning, internal control,
compliance, and financial management operations. He also leads or
oversees the Company’s major investment transactions. Mr. Tan also
holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of the Company, namely,
Triple Talents Limited and IDG Energy Investment Corporation.

Mr. Tan has over 17 years of experience in financial management,
mergers & acquisitions, capital market and corporate governance and has
closed transactions amounting to multi-billion US dollars. He joined IDG
Capital in 2013 as a key member of the fund's investment in companies in
growth and mature stages and has also gained extensive experiences in
the management of portfolio companies in areas of finance, operation,
internal control and corporate governance. From 2006 to 2013, he worked
at the Beijing office of PricewaterhouseCoopers Consultants Shenzhen
Limited for 7 years.

Mr. Tan graduated with a bachelor’'s degree of Economics from

Renmin University of China. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

s=2NEREEASB

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. LIU Zhihai

Mr. Liu, aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director on 5
September 2019. He also holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of
the Company, including Hongbo Mining and Think Excel Investments
Limited.

Mr. Liu has over 14 years of experience with energy companies and
investments and broad knowledge of the oil and gas industry. He was
a co-founder of Titan Gas Technology Holdings Limited and has
worked for IDG Capital since 2011, where he headed the firm’s oil and
natural gas business as a managing director and led and participated in
several investments in the oil and energy sector. Prior to 2011, he
worked as a business analyst at Accenture, covering strategy, mergers
and acquisitions and operation optimization projects and consulting
services for several major oil and gas companies and national oil
companies.

Mr. Liu graduated with a bachelor’'s degree of Science and a master’s
degree of Science from the Mathematical School of Peking University.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. CAO Xiaohui

Mr. Cao, aged 39, was appointed as a non-executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee on 21 October 2022. Currently a
partner at IDG Capital, Mr. Cao has more than 17 years’ working
experience in industrial field, and is responsible for investment and
mergers and acquisitions (“M&A") in intelligent manufacturing, new
energy and semi-conductor manufacturing industry chain at IDG
Capital. He has led various cross-border M&As, investments and
divestments amounting to multi-billion US dollars. Prior to joining IDG
Capital, he worked as the managing partner of Fosun Private Equity
Business Unit* (18 2 Ix ## % & S % #B), the executive president of
Fosun Automation & Robotics Group* (18 2 B #){t k%22 A% E) and
the executive president of Fosun Energy Industrial & Utility Group* (12
EfRIERREBE) from 2016 to 2020, the president of Siasun
Investment Co., Ltd.* (FTiA#ZE AR E B R A 7)) from 2015 to 2016,
and director of the office of spacecraft overall design of the Research
and Development Center of CASC (China Aerospace Science and
Technology Corporation) from 2010 to 2015.

Mr. Cao obtained his bachelor’s degree in Jet Propulsion at Beijing

University of Aeronautics and Astronautics and master’s degree in
Aerodynamics at University of Bristol.

64 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

FRITESE

ETELE

Ba%E 9m RZEZ_F+A=-+—H
BEZAREDTESNERZEENE - &
FEBEIDCEARERA EIXET AR
1TTENRELR EIDGEATZEATTAE
B - FELRT LB EEEAIR B0 ([ 4
BDEK BEBREZEBEEHE KER
RIEIBEE  2BEHTEET - MAIDGE
ﬁm'&gm_Y NEE_T_TFEMT
EERMBRESELERARA BEEED
EREBAEEDNTRIREZLRERRE
E3iTas R RAFE_FT— R FE
TN AREBRABEY MR ZE
—SFE-T-AFEAPBEIMABEEE
EEPLRSFREEEEAE -

BREARIETMEMRARBRITHEHNEE
MRELEU YN REFTEHEAEER
P HBEEXISE LR -



DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

EENEAEEAEBREN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. GE Aiji

Ms. Ge, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 19 October 2018. She is also a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the chairman of the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee").

Ms. Ge has extensive experience in the energy industry. She has
played pivotal roles in many domestic enterprises’ overseas upstream
exploration and development projects and led various major
international merger and acquisition projects in the upstream oil and
gas field. Ms. Ge has been serving as the vice president of Talent
Power Group Limited since 2014. From 2012 to 2016, Ms. Ge served
as a non-executive director of Mining Resource Company of China
Great Wall Industry Corporation. In addition, Ms. Ge held several
management positions with China National Oil and Gas Exploration and
Development Corporation, China National Petroleum Corporation and
its affiliated companies. Ms. Ge has been serving as an independent
director of Sino Prima Gas Technology Co., Ltd. (listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 300483) with effective from 4
December 2023.

Ms. Ge graduated from Beijing University of Chemical Technology with
a bachelor’'s degree of Chemical Engineering in 1986 and a master’s
degree of Technical Economics in 1988. Ms. Ge also obtained an
Executive Master of Business Administration degree from the National
University of Singapore in 2007.

BWIAFRTESF

EX#L+

Bzt 60m R-_ZE—N\F+ATLHE
RERBUIFNITES - WIS AR A F B
ZB8e ((FMEEE) KERARAREE
Eg((REEBE)TF -

BEUTRERTEREGLEELR - BRZHE
Wi >RGN BRI RFARBEE P EE A
RAEE NEIBRZEASREHBERESHE
TEBEEE - EXLtA T —NFR—
ERETEEEEERAFABBH BEZT
—ZFEZE-RF BRITEAPEER
T¥5EBERARLERAMARBEERESR
RABIERITES o ELLIHERFP
EABARXARBEREAT  FREAHRRA
REEBERAFKEBBARETZEAETE
B Bt T -_=F+_FANHBE
FEERIBF (L) BRHBRAE (RF
NFEHRZZF L - IREAH - 300483) B,
Exo

EXETR—NANRFEXZRILERIETKRE
BRIEBIRBL SN IR —H/\V\VFR
FRMEEELEN BTN _TZL
FRSFIRBEIASS R TEHERBE LS -

ZERNRERAA / F8H2024 65



DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

s=2NEREEASB

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. CHAU Shing Yim David

Mr. Chau, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 5 August 2016. He is also the chairman of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chau has over 30 years of experience in corporate finance and
was formerly a partner of one of the big four accounting firms, Mr.
Chau was a key member who found their corporate finance division
and held the position as their Head of Merger and Acquisition and
Corporate Advisory.

Mr. Chau is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales (“ICAEW"), and was granted the Corporate
Finance Qualification of ICAEW. He is also a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and was an
ex-committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. Mr. Chau
is a Senior Fellow and Director of the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute (“HKSI") and he is a member of Corporate
Committee and was the chairman of China and Corporate Committee.

Mr. Chau is the member of Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital
("PYNEH") Fund Raising Committee, PYNEH Charitable Trust and also
ex-member of the Hospital Governing Committee.

Mr. Chau is currently an independent non-executive director and audit
committee chairman of OSL Group Limited (Formerly known as “BC
Technology Group Limited"”) (Stock Code: 863), China Ruyi Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 136), Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited
(Stock Code: 2314), Man Wah Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1999),
China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited (Stock Code:
708) and China Evergrande Group (In Liguidation) (Stock Code: 3333).
All the aforesaid companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. WANG Guoping

Mr. Wang, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 23 December 2022. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Wang holds a master’s
degree in engineering, and is a senior engineer, the senior consultant
of the Integrated Circuit Division (788 & ¥ o €) of China
Semiconductor Industry Association and Jiangsu Semiconductor
Industry Association, the chief consultant of Shanghai Prisemi
Electronics Co., Ltd., the senior consultant of Jiangsu JITRI IC
Application Technology Innovation Center and Wuxi Industry Innovation
Research Institute, and an independent director of Shanghai Wanye
Enterprises Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock
Code: 600641). He worked as a technician and engineer of the Wuxi
branch of 1424 Factory* (1424 FT#&#5 9 F7) from August 1986 to
August 1988. He was the deputy director of the strategic research
department of China Huajing Electronic Group Corporation* (7 Bl &
B F & E A F]) from August 1988 to May 1990. He was the chief
engineer of the fourth sub-plant of China Huajing Electronic Group
Corporation from May 1990 to December 1993. He was the factory
director of the second sub-plant of the general factory of discrete
device of China Huajing Electronic Group Corporation from January
1994 to December 1994. He was the factory director of the general
factory of discrete device of China Huajing Electronic Group
Corporation from January 1994 to December 1997. He was the vice
president and deputy general manager of China Huajing Electronic
Group Corporation from January 1998 to August 1999. He was the
general manager of China Huajing Electronic Group Corporation from
September 1999 to December 2002. He was the general manager of
Wouxi China Resources Microelectronics Limited from December 2002
to March 2003. He was the general manager of China Resources
Microelectronics (Holdings) Limited from April 2003 to March 2008. He
was the chief executive officer of China Resources Microelectronics
Limited from March 2008 to August 2010. He was the chairman of
China Resources Microelectronics Limited from August 2010 to
August 2012. He was the chairman of the expert committee of China
Resources Microelectronics Limited as well as the general manager of
the research center, chairman of the investment approval committee,
vice chairman of the procurement committee of China Resources
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. WANG Guoping (continued)

Microelectronics Limited from August 2012 to August 2021 and was
responsible for supervising corporate research and development,
investment approval and supply chain management. He was a
designated external director of the business unit of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited and a director of China Resources Digital
Technology Co., Ltd and China Resources Environmental Protection
Technology Limited from August 2021 to November 2022. Mr. Wang
was a member of the electronic technology consultation committee of
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, the vice president of
China Semiconductor Industry Association, the president of the
Integrated Circuit Division of China Semiconductor Industry
Association, the president of Jiangsu Semiconductor Industry
Association and a member of the editorial committee of A
Comprehensive Book on Integrated Circuit Industry* (F&E2EKE X2
2£) and Integrated Circuit Industry Book Series* (B2 B I8 R =E).

Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor's degree at Chengdu Radio
Engineering College in September 1983 and master's degree at
Chengdu Radio Engineering College in August 1986.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. LIU Erzhuang — Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Dr. Liu, aged 60, was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 13 May
2022. He is primarily responsible for the Company’s overall
management and business operation, corporate governance, human
resource management, as well as public and investor relations. Please
refer to the above section headed “Executive Directors” for more
detailed information.

Mr. TAN Jue — Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Tan, aged 41, was appointed as the chief financial officer of the
Company on 30 September 2016. He is primarily responsible for
financing, financial reporting, budget planning, internal control,
compliance, financial management operations as well as public and
investor relations. He also leads or oversees the Company’'s major
investment transactions. Please refer to the above section headed
“Executive Directors” for more detailed information.

*  For identification purposes only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HREHE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is engaged in the business of productivity-driven
equipment applied in semiconductor and solar cell businesses. It also
operates an oil and gas production project in PRC.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

Details of the results in FY2023 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on pages 220 to 221 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2023 (FY2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Company’'s performance during the year as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Company and an indication of likely future
developments in the Company’s business, can be found in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
These discussions form part of the Report of the Directors.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during FY2023 are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings during FY2023 are set out
in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 11 to 12 of this
annual report.
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EE@WE

DONATIONS

During FY2023, the Group did not make any charitable donations to
any charitable organisations.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) and there are no
restrictions against such rights under the laws in Cayman Islands.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may distribute dividends to the
Shareholders by way of cash or shares. Any distribution of dividends
shall be in accordance with the Hong Kong law, the Articles of
Association, the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands (as amended
from time to time) and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the
absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of dividend will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. In proposing any
dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia:

° the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

° Shareholders’ interests;

° retained earnings, distributable reserves and contributed surplus
of the Company and each of the other members of the Group;

o the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and financial covenants to which the Group is subject to;
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HREHE

DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

° possible effects on the Group's creditworthiness;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends or other covenants on
the Group's financial ratios that may be imposed by the Group's
financial creditors;

° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

o liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

° taxation considerations;
° statutory and regulatory restrictions;
° general business conditions and strategies;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no
assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific
period.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Ms. Ge Aiji was appointed as an independent director of Sino Prima
Gas Technology Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
Stock Code: 300483) with effective from 4 December 2023.

Mr. Wang Guoping was appointed as an independent director of
Shanghai Wanye Enterprises Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 60064 1) with effective from 26 June 2024.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors confirm that no
other information is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EE@WE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

From May 2023 to August 2023, the Company repurchased a total of
130,818,000 ordinary shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange,
with an aggregate consideration paid amounting to HK$94,789,650,
among which 130,680,000 shares and 138,000 shares were cancelled
on 27 September 2023 and 25 October 2023, respectively, and the
issued share capital of the Company was reduced accordingly. The
repurchase was effected by the Board for the enhancement of
Shareholders’ value in the long term. Details of the shares repurchased
are as follows:

ME HESROELTZ LHERG

RZEZZFRAZE_ZFT_=ZFNA &R
AR EE 2 ATRE [B1 4 £130,818,000 B A2 7] %
AR B RR(E B94,789,6508 7T 0 &
130,680,000 A% % 17 K 138,000 A% f% 7 2 5 Bl
RZEZ=FhLAZTEEEZZT=_=F+
RAZ+HAGFE  WHEEBRARATNE %
TRA EFGHETENELRERSRRE
BE - BERMDOFBOT :

Repurchase price per share

Month of

SRELDE
Aggregate

repurchase

#m A 5

May 2023 106,872,000 0.80 0.74 81,931,340
—E-=%HA

June 2023 1,300,000 0.68 0.65 866,080
—EZ=FXA

July 2023 7,050,000 0.60 0.56 4,082,880
—ET-=%+tA

August 2023 15,596,000 0.55 0.48 7,909,350
—E_=%)/\A

Total 130,818,000 94,789,650
BEt

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its B EXHEZREIN RZ2ZE-_=8F AR

No. of shares
repurchased

fBE RO E

Highest

price paid
ENEEE

Lowest
price paid
N &EE

consideration
paid
EfFRAKE

subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
shares in FY2023.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
are set out in Note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company had no reserve
available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31 March 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2023, the largest five customers accounted for 59.0% of the
total revenue of the Group, and the largest customer accounted for
24.1% of the total revenue of the Group from sales of goods. During
FY2023, the largest five suppliers accounted for 21.1% of the total
purchase of the Group, and the largest supplier accounted for 8.0% of
the total purchase of the Group.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had any interest in the five largest customers
or five largest suppliers mentioned above.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no important events
affecting the Group after 31 March 2024 and up to the publication date
of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Liu Erzhuang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tan Jue

Mr. Liu Zhihai

Non-executive Director
Mr. Cao Xiaohui

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Ge Aiji

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wang Guoping

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

One third of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the
Articles of Association.

In accordance with Article 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles of
Association, Dr. Liu Erzhuang, Mr. Tan Jue and Ms. Ge Aiji should
retire from office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM").

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive Directors and considers them to
be independent. Under the terms of their appointment, the
independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term
and are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Articles of Association.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EE@WE

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 61 to 68 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Company has entered into service agreements with each Director,
pursuant to which each of the executive Directors, non- executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors is appointed for a
term of three years, subject to re-election in accordance with the
Articles of Association at annual general meetings of the Company.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, which is not terminable by the
Company within one year without the payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company's remuneration policy is built upon the principle of
providing an equitable, motivating and market-competitive
remuneration package that can stimulate and drive staff at all levels to
work towards achieving the strategic objectives of the Group.

The remuneration of the Directors is reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee and the Board, having regard to Directors’ duties,
responsibilities, the operating results and comparable market statistics.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed in FY2023.
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RELATED PARTIES’ TRANSACTIONS

Details of related parties’ transactions are set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements. None of the related party
transactions mentioned above constitutes connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or holding company or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which any of the Directors or an entity connected with the Directors
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

FINANCIAL, BUSINESS OR FAMILY
RELATIONSHIP AMONG MEMBERS OF THE
BOARD

None of the members of the Board of the Company had any financial,
business, family or other material relationship with each other.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"), were as follows:

Name of Director Nature of interest

EEn My

Liu Erzhuang Beneficial owner

2| — At EmERA

Tan Jue Interest of controlled corporations
2 U RELEER

EENEG  HERGREEE P
ACESRER

RZEBEZWNF=A=+—H EERAQH
s H AT ABEE A E 2 B - BRI G RER
B (EBRREBFHFRAEGRN((FFRBER
Bl1) EXVER) - A LN AR AIRIEF
HREIE GOIE 352 R ERFE 2 M
SRBELETERTAESETESFRINIRE
STRI([BESFA]) BESTAME AR A KR
FrziEgm AR IAT

Percentage of
Number of the Company’s

ordinary shares issued ordinary

(Note 1) shares
ZTEREE NI £
(FIEE1) ZTERBEIL

155,422,642 (L) 2.10%
(Note 2)
(MF5E2)

2,508,745,828 (L) 33.90%

(Note 3)
(Ff7E3)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

78

The letter “L"”
underlying ordinary shares of the Company.

represents the individual’'s long position in the ordinary shares or

Dr. Liu is beneficially interested in 155,422,642 ordinary shares or underlying
ordinary shares of the Company, which comprises of (i) 38,207,548 ordinary
shares held by him; (ii) 57,900,000 underlying ordinary shares granted pursuant to
the Share Award Scheme (as defined hereinafter) on 7 October 2021; and (iii)
59,315,094 underlying ordinary shares granted pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme on 27 September 2022. The above shares are subject to a lock-up period
and the satisfaction of vesting conditions specified in the award notices (as
applicable).

These shares are held by Titan Gas Technology Investment Limited (“Titan
Gas"), a company which is controlled as to 100% by Titan Gas Technology
Holdings Limited (“Titan Gas Holdings"), which is in turn controlled as to
35.13% by Standard Gas Capital Limited (“Standard Gas"), 49.14% by IDG-Accel
China Capital Il L.P. (“IDG-Accel Capital Il L.P.”) and IDG-Accel China Capital Il
“IDG Funds”), 8.05%
by Mr. Wang Jingbo (“Mr. Wang”) and 6.87% by Kingsbury International
Holdings Co., Ltd.* (& tt 7 B = 2 AR i% 1 B BR 2 7)) (“Kingsbury”), 0.73% by
Mr. Zhang Weiwei and 0.08% by Mr. Bryce Wayne Lee. Under the SFO, Titan
Gas Holdings, Standard Gas and IDG Funds are deemed to have interest in the
2,508,745,828 ordinary shares in which Titan Gas has beneficial interest.

Investors L.P. ("IDG-Accel Investors Il L.P."”) (collectively,

All the issued voting shares in Standard Gas are held by Blazing Success Limited
(“Blazing Success”) which in turn is wholly owned by Mr. Liu Zhihai. Blazing
Success has granted a power of attorney to the board of directors of Standard
Gas which comprise Mr. Wang, Mr. Shong Hugo and Mr. Tan Jue. Under the
SFO, Mr. Tan Jue is deemed to have interest in the ordinary shares in which
Standard Gas has interest.
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GEPE

MiEE3 -

FRILIBEARKRRFT LR
R e

P sk AR R B ARy

21 - E X G A A F) 155,422,642 f% L 38 Bk sk
HHELtEREZ HPAEHEFAD
38,207,548 % T i@ AR ¢ (i) B ¥R AR 15 2 Eh &t & (F
ZEZRTXY)ORZ-ZZE-Z—F+ALBEEED
57,900,000 A& #ERA & i AR ¢ & (i) AR IR AR 15 B2 @) &
HR T =FNA =+t B®EA59,315,094
A& FERE LB AR o Eal R IR E BARTIR R R ZE M
EABREBANTTHNSEBIRE (ER) -

#% % B% {7 A Titan Gas Technology Investment
Limited ([ Titan Gas ) 348 + & /@ Titan Gas
Technology Holdings Limited ([ Titan Gas
Holdings |) % #100% # # * i 1% #& & Standard
Gas Capital Limited ([ Standard Gas |) # &
35.13% * IDG-Accel China Capital Il L.P. ([ IDG-
Accel Capital Il L.P. |) %2 IDG-Accel China Capital
Il Investors L.P. ([ IDG-Accel Investors Il L.P. |)
(A IDGEL]) HEH49.14% - TEESLE
([E%k%E]) HEH8.05% - ¢ HEERZERRNHE
RAR([£HHE]) %5 6.87% * Zhang Weiwei 5t
£ HEH0.73% M Bryce Wayne Lee E £ A
0.08% - REFEFH KB EKH - Titan Gas
Holdings * Standard Gas & IDG & & # 18 & 1
Titan Gas % 5 & & #& & 1) 2,508,745,828 % i
fRPFEEER -

Standard Gas B % 17 1% £ # % {5 2 #B 63 Blazing
Success Limited((BIazmg Success)) 8 Mg
EHHRB2MBELEELEHESE - Blazing Success B
HEELEE FStandard Gas 2 EEE (KE B
BEEEE RESTERBELLE) - RES
R ERE 1B - B R 5 4 4548 73 7 Standard Gas #
BREENLTBRPESER -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had an interest or short position in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed "“Directors’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above,
at no time during FY2023 were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age, or were any such rights exercised by them, or was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

EENEG  HERGREEE P

AcERRRE ()
B ENEBEEN RZT_WNF=ZRA=+—

B EFHARARSTRAERERER
AR EEMARAE 2D - HEROHE
REF %ﬁﬁ*ﬁ_éﬁuﬂﬁ‘ﬁﬁ AR 1B 8 5 M HA
BRPIFEDRGHREAFEZECMARE

BETRARITAEG $’Aﬂ&ﬁ§’ﬁ§ﬁﬁ2%ﬁé
HRE °
EEMARMBREEZET

R EXTE SRR - BRI REEE S %
BzRHMAR|—BRBEEN R-_F_=

MEEAER SHETNEFAREEAL
FBHI8HNA T FREREMBEBALRR
Al REREMER &R KB ITEME
MZEEN MARA  HIERQASEE
fa] [R] 5 P /B8 2 Bl Sk P /B8 2 B IR B AR H AT &
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the following interests in the issued shares and
underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO:

Capacity/
Nature of interest

FERRREMALTREQTRGR
HERDZED

RZBEZNF=ZA=+—H RARAED%H
TGO REBERD 2T ESLEN AR
BRIEBFHFRHBEKIIEBCHKRHATEATE Y
=z

Number of

ordinary shares Percentage of the

or underlying Company’s issued
ordinary shares ordinary shares
(Note 1) (Note 2)
ZERSK HEAEEBRT
HEEEREE EERBDL
(Mi=E1) (Mt&£2)

B RmuE
Ho Chi Sing Interest of controlled
Al FE K corporations
REAE R
Zhou Quan Interest of controlled
IEES corporations
REAE R
Titan Gas Technology Investment Limited Beneficial owner
EnEAA
Titan Gas Technology Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled
corporation
A E R
Standard Gas Capital Limited Interest of controlled
corporations
A E R
Kingsbury International Holdings Co., Ltd.* Interest of controlled
(& EBBRIZERR G BRAR) corporations
ot E B B 1 R AR () B PR A 7 SR NET: £y
Wang Jingbo Interest of controlled
FER corporations
A E R
Shong Hugo Interest of controlled
AR REE 05 corporations

XL E S
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2,915,764,171 (L) 39.40%
(Notes 3, 5, 7and 11)
(KfI3E3 -5 7K&11)
2,915,764,171 (L) 39.40%
(Notes 3, 5, 7and 11)
(fIsE3 -5 7K&11)
2,508,745,828 (L) 33.90%
(Note 3)
(Mt3E3)
2,508,745,828 (L) 33.90%
(Note 3)
(Mt3E3)
2,508,745,828 (L) 33.90%
(Notes 3 and 4)
(ffsE3 5 4)
2,508,745,828 (L) 33.90%
(Notes 3 and 4)
(fsE3 K 4)
2,508,745,828 (L) 33.90%
(Notes 3 and 4)
(M5E3 K& 4)
2,508,745,828 (L) 33.90%
(Note 3)
(Mt3E3)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

IDG-Accel China Capital GP Il Associates Ltd.

IDG-Accel China Capital Il Associates L.P.

IDG-Accel China Capital Il L.P.

Luo Yuping

BLF

Foxconn Technology Co., Ltd
BEREIERNHBRAA]

Q-Run Holding Ltd.

IDG Magic V Fund L.P.

Capacity/
Nature of interest

g EEME

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AEER

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AEER

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AEER

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AEER

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AEER

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AEER

Beneficial owner

Balia A

Beneficial owner

BB A

FERRREMALTREQTRGR

HERDZER ()

Number of
ordinary shares
or underlying
ordinary shares
(Note 1)
EERS
HERAEEREE
(Mi=E1)

2,508,745,828 (L)
(Notes 3 and b5)
(FFsE3 % 5)
2,508,745,828 (L)
(Notes 3 and 6)
(FIzE3 % 6)
2,508,745,828 (L)
(Notes 3 and 6)
(FIzE3 % 6)
2,508,745,828 (L)
(Notes 3, 4, 8)
(HIs£3 -4+ 8)
1,485,000,000 (L)
(Note 9)

(Mt319)
1,188,000,000 (L)
(Note 9)

GER)
297,000,000 (L)
(Note 9)

GE)
395,518,343 (L)
(Note 10)
(BE10)

ZERNRERAA / F8H2024

Percentage of the

Company'’s issued

ordinary shares

(Note 2)

ERAFE BT

BEERBEOL

(BfEE2)

33.90%

33.90%

33.90%

33.90%

20.06%

16.05%

4.01%

5.34%
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FERRREMALTREQTRGR
HERDZER ()

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Number of

ordinary shares

or underlying

Percentage of the
Company'’s issued

Capacity/ ordinary shares ordinary shares

Nature of interest (Note 1) (Note 2)

EERE GEALQFESBIT

HERAEEREE ZERBADHL

B EHE (MaE1) (MaE2)

IDG Magic V Associates L.P. Interest of controlled 395,518,343 (L) 5.34%
corporations (Note 10)
R AEER (Mt3E10)

IDG Magic V GP Associates Ltd. Interest of controlled 395,518,343 (L) 5.34%
corporations (Notes 10 and 11)
R EEER (BIsE10%11)

Mo Tian Quan Interest of controlled 379,507,486 (L) 5.13%
BEXE corporations (Note 12)
R AEER (MH3E12)

Notes: Bt

1. The letter "L"” represents the individual’s long position in the ordinary shares or 1. FRLEEARARA BT @A R T @A A -
underlying ordinary shares of the Company.

2. In the above table, the information on the companies in which the interests are 2. ELERP EEFEEZOATNER 2SS
held, the capacity/nature of such interests and the number of ordinary shares or 5%,/ MEAREBERSAE T BROEE IR
underlying ordinary shares is based on information available on the website of the 5 B 32 BT 48 3 (www.hkexnews.hk) F AT 1S H &k} o
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). The percentage of such ordinary shares or LT ERSHEET ERGEAATDEITE RN
underlying ordinary shares in the issued ordinary shares of the Company is BALTBREARARNR-_E-_ME=A=+—HE
calculated with reference to the number of issued ordinary shares of the Company BT ERSBEE  EHaE-
as at 31 March 2024 and is for reference only.

& Titan Gas is controlled as to 100% by Titan Gas Holdings, which is in turn controlled 3. Titan Gas | Titan Gas Holdings 2% 100% #£ & » i
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as to 35.13% by Standard Gas, 49.14% by the IDG Funds, 8.05% by Mr. Wang,
6.87% by Kingsbury, 0.73% by Mr. Zhang Weiwei and 0.08% by Mr. Bryce Wayne
Lee. Under the SFO, Titan Gas Holdings, Standard Gas and IDG Funds are deemed
to have interest in the 2,508,745,828 ordinary shares in which Titan Gas has
beneficial interest. As at 31 March 2024, Mr. Wang, Mr. Shong Hugo and Mr. Tan
Jue are directors of Standard Gas.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and Kingsbury have entered into an acting in concert
arrangement for the purpose of facilitating a more efficient decision making process
in connection with the exercise of their shareholders’ rights in Titan Gas Holdings
pursuant to which, Standard Gas, Kingsbury and Mr. Wang agree to align with each
other in respect of the voting of major actions in respect of Titan Gas Holdings’
business and each of Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and Kingsbury will consult with each
other and reach agreement on material matters of Titan Gas Holdings before it/he
exercises its/his respective voting rights in Titan Gas Holdings, provided that Mr.
Wang will have a casting vote and will have the final decision making power in the
event that a consensus cannot be reached among Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and
Kingsbury. The ordinary shares in which Mr. Wang has interest are 2,508,745,828
ordinary shares of the Company in which Titan Gas has beneficial interest.

The IDG Funds are under the control of their ultimate general partner, IDG-Accel
China Capital GP Il Associates Ltd. (“IDG-Accel Ultimate GP"). Under the SFO,
IDG-Accel Ultimate GP is deemed to have interest in the ordinary shares of the
Company in which the IDG Funds have interest.

IDG-Accel China Capital Il Associates L.P. has control over IDG-Accel China Capital
II' L.P. Under the SFO, IDG-Accel China Capital || Associates L.P. is deemed to have
interest in the ordinary shares of the Company in which IDG-Accel China Capital Il
L.P. has beneficial interest.

Mr. Ho Chi Sing and Mr. Zhou Quan are directors of IDG-Accel Ultimate GP and are
responsible for decision-making matters relating to the IDG Funds and their
investments, and hence control the exercise of voting rights to the shares that the
IDG Funds hold in Titan Gas Holdings. Therefore they are deemed to have interest
in the ordinary shares of the Company in which IDG-Accel Ultimate GP has interest.

Kingsbury is controlled as to 74.8% by Mr. Luo Yuping. By virtue of the acting in
concert arrangement referred to in Note 4, Mr. Luo Yuping is deemed to have
interest in the ordinary shares of the Company in which Titan Gas Holdings has
interest.

IR
izl

BRREREREMALTRELTIRGR
Bin iR (5)

MEE - (48)

Standard Gas * A E RS HEBERITERER
Titan Gas Holdings Z I8 RIEFF] s — BT L 5 -
LUEBE B R ZIRFERIE - RIFEZZHE - Standard
Gas + @ 1 I T % 4 B B 5 Titan Gas Holdings
(B2 FETHRORBEEERK—3 i Standard
Gas  THRARGSHESEBREESHETER
Titan Gas Holdings 2 % S # A 3t Titan Gas Holdings
CEREHEAEREREKHGE BT RESE
Standard Gas * ARG ETEER LBRFHE
—EREURERTSEASERTIE - ThEH
AR L BB ATitan GasE A B ERM AR
7] 2,508,745,828 % & B A% ©

IDGE & X H KK E®E ¥ AIDG-Accel China
Capital GP Il Associates Ltd. ([IDG-Accel Ultimate
GP ) 4| - IRIEFEH LB EKH - IDG-Accel
Ultimate GP#% 1% A& 70 IDG & i B # & /) AR 2 &)
TimR PR S o

IDG-Accel China Capital Il Associates L.P. 12 #/IDG-
Accel China Capital Il L.P. o 115 % % K # & {501 -
IDG-Accel China Capital || Associates L.P. #%18 &7
IDG-Accel China Capital Il L.P. % B B 2525 AR A
AL B PR ER o

A 5K St 4 K J8l & St 4 & IDG-Accel Ultimate GP &Y
EEREERABPIDCESREREMNARET ¥
I F7 #1) IDG E 4 Fr 43 Titan Gas Holdings A% 17 & Z
RI1T{6E » B It - 1 £ 418 A7 IDG-Accel Ultimate
GPEBHERSMANRR LB H S -

SHEHEEFRELHT748% s o BRMIE4
Frifl ey —BATE L HE - B £ T 5 £ MR AR Titan
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

9. Foxconn Technology Co., Ltd. has control over Q-Run Holding Ltd., which in turn
has direct and indirect controls of 297,000,000 ordinary shares and 1,188,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company, respectively. Under the SFO, Foxconn Technology
Co., Ltd. is deemed to have all the interest in the ordinary shares of the Company in
which Q-Run Holding Ltd. has interest.

10. IDG Magic V Fund L.P. is controlled by IDG Magic V Associates L.P., which is in
turn controlled by IDG Magic V GP Associates Ltd. Under the SFO, IDG Magic V GP
Associates Ltd. and IDG Magic V Associates L.P. are deemed to have interest in
the 395,518,343 ordinary shares of the Company in which IDG Magic V Fund L.P.
has beneficial interest.

11. IDG Magic V GP Associates Ltd. is controlled as to 50% and 50%, respectively, by
Mr. Ho Chi Sing and Mr. Zhou Quan, directors of IDG Magic V GP Associates Ltd.
Therefore, Mr. Ho Chi Sing and Mr. Zhou Quan are deemed to have interest in the
ordinary shares of the Company in which IDG Magic V GP Associates Ltd. has
interest.

12. Mr. Mo Tian Quan (“Mr. Mo") has control over 100% interests of Tanisca and
Upsky Enterprises Limited. Tanisca Investments Limited has interest in
344,754,077 ordinary shares of the Company, while Upsky Enterprises Limited has
interest in 34,753,409 ordinary shares of the Company. Under the SFO, Mr. Mo is
deemed to have interest in the ordinary shares in which Tanisca and Upsky
Enterprises Limited have interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, no person, other than
the Directors or chief executives of the Company, whose interests are
set out in the section “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that
was recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During FY2023, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had engaged in or had any interest in any business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of
their duty, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the
Directors.

A Directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors
against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought
against the Directors.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out on pages 94 to 116 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 6 August 2021 (the “Adoption Date"”). The purposes of
the Share Award Scheme are (1) to recognise the contributions or the
future contributions by certain employees and persons of the Group
and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group, and (2) to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

The Eligible Participants under the Share Award Scheme include any
executives, officers, employees, directors (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive Directors) of the Company
or of any subsidiary, whether full time or part time.

The maximum aggregated number of shares permitted to be awarded
under the Share Award Scheme (the “Awarded Shares”) throughout
the 10-year duration of the Share Award Scheme is limited to 4% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the adoption date (the
“Scheme Limit”). The maximum number of Awarded Shares which
may be awarded to a selected participant under the Share Award
Scheme should not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the adoption date (the “Individual Limit”). As at the
date of this annual report, the Scheme Limit and Individual Limit are
275,668,398 shares and 68,917,099 shares, respectively, representing
approximately 3.72% and 0.93% of the issued share capital of the
Company, respectively. The remaining life of the Share Award Scheme
was approximately 7 years.

On 7 October 2021, 60,120,000 Awarded Shares, representing 0.87%
of the total shares of the Company then in issue, were granted to 10
employees of the Group pursuant to the terms of the Share Award
Scheme at nil consideration. Among these Awarded Shares granted,
(1) 25,050,000 Awarded Shares were vested immediately following
the date of grant, which are subject to a lock-up period and will be
equally released in five tranches from 2022 to 2026; and (2) the
remaining 35,070,000 Awarded Shares shall be vested in five equal
tranches immediately following each anniversary of the date of grant
from 2022 to 2026. The closing price of the shares of the Company as
quoted on the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of grant
was HK$0.99.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

On 14 January 2022, 17,379,000 Awarded Shares, representing 0.25%
of the total shares of the Company then in issue, were granted to 15
employees of the Group pursuant to the terms of the Share Award
Scheme at nil consideration. The 17,379,000 Awarded Shares shall be
vested in four tranches as follows: (i) 20% shall be vested on 15
August 2022; (i) 20% shall be vested on 15 July 2023; (iii) 25% shall
be vested on 15 July 2024; and (iv) the remaining 35% shall be vested
on 15 July 2025. The closing price of the shares of the Company as
quoted on the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of grant
was HK$1.15.

On 1 August 2022, 28,509,000 Awarded Shares, representing 0.38%
of the total shares of the Company then in issue, were granted to 14
employees of the Group pursuant to the terms of the Share Award
Scheme at nil consideration. Among these Awarded Shares granted,
(1) 2,200,000 Awarded Shares shall be vested in four tranches as
follows: (i) 20% shall be vested on 15 August 2022, (ii) 20% shall be
vested on 15 July 2023, (iii) 25% shall be vested on 15 July 2024, and
(iv) the remaining 35% shall be vested on 15 July 2025; and (2) the
remaining 26,309,000 Awarded Shares shall be vested in three
tranches as follows: (i) 30% shall be vested on 15 July 2023, (i) 30%
shall be vested on 15 July 2024, and (iii) the remaining 40% shall be
vested on 15 July 2025. The closing price of the shares of the
Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange immediately before the
date of grant was HK$1.20.

On 27 September 2022, 61,415,094 Awarded Shares, representing
0.81% of the total shares of the Company then in issue, were granted
to Dr. Liu Erzhuang (the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”)) under the
specific mandate as approved at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 27 September 2022 pursuant to the terms of the
Share Award Scheme at nil consideration. The 61,415,094 Awarded
Shares shall be vested in five equal tranches on 8 August 2023, 8
August 2024, 8 August 2025, 8 August 2026, and 8 August 2027,
respectively. The closing price of the shares of the Company as quoted
on the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of grant was

HK$1.25.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

On 10 March 2023, 24,549,980 Awarded Shares,
approximately 0.32% of the total shares of the Company then in issue,

representing

were granted to 45 employees of the Group pursuant to the terms of
the Share Award Scheme at nil consideration. The 24,549,980
Awarded Shares shall be vested in three tranches as follows: (i) 30%
shall be vested on 15 July 2023; (ii) 30% shall be vested on 15 July
2024; and (iii) the remaining 40% shall be vested on 15 July 2025. The
closing price of the shares of the Company as quoted on the Stock
Exchange immediately before the date of grant was HK$0.93.

On 15 March 2024, 24,668,228 Awarded Shares,
approximately 0.33% of the total shares of the Company then in issue,

representing

were granted to 41 employees of the Group pursuant to the terms of
the Share Award Scheme at nil consideration. The 24,668,228
Awarded Shares shall be vested as follows: (i) 19,405,000 Awarded
Shares shall be vested in three tranches as follows: (a) 30% shall be
vested on 15 July 2024; (b) 30% shall be vested on 15 July 2025; and
(c) the remaining 40% shall be vested on 15 July 2026; and (ii)
5,263,228 Awarded Shares shall be vested in three tranches as
follows: (a) 30% shall be vested on 1 April 2025; (b) 30% shall be
vested on 1 April 2026; and (c) the remaining 40% shall be vested on 1
April 2027. The closing price of the shares of the Company as quoted
on the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of grant was
HK$0.335.

The vesting of these Awarded Shares is subject to the satisfaction of
vesting conditions specified in the award notice issued to each of the
respective grantees. The performance targets attached to the Awarded
Shares, which form part of the vesting conditions, include operational
indicators, such as targets for sales revenue, purchase orders and
gross profit margin of semiconductor and solar power equipment,
design of certain tool, etc.
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As at 1 April 2023, being the beginning of FY2023, the number of RZZ==FMA—H (=T ==81F4)) -
awards available for grant under the Scheme Limit was 85,907,324 B E ERERBAEEENEDHEKE A
shares. As at 31 March 2024, being the end of FY2023, and the date 85,907,324 - M —ZT - M E = A
of this annual report, the number of awards available for grant under =+—B (BT -=§FX) RAFHRAL
the Scheme Limit was 74,662,327 shares, representing approximately B izt SR B AEF LN BB HE B
1.01% of the total shares of the Company in issue as at the date of 74,662,327 % J& 1D - (h AR FEHR B EH AR A
this annual report. BITRMBEL1.01% ©

Number of Awarded Shares

KBRGBE

Forfeited/ As at
Granted in Vested in Lapsed in 31 March

Name of Grantees Date of Grant FY2023  FY2023 (Note 1) FY2023 2024
i 1 Gl A-ZCME
ARALS FHAH ) ) Y =R=t-H
Connected Grantee
BEARA
Dr. LIU Erzhuang 7 October 2021 48,000,000 - 24,900,000 2,100,000 21,000,000
2=t “2--F+A+tH (Note 2) (Note 2)
(MzE2) (FsE2)
27 September 2022 61,415,094 - 19,692,453 2,100,000 39,622,641
“ECCEAAZTHA (Note 3) (Note 3)
(M3E3) (Miz3)
Non-connected Grantees
FEBERRA
10 employees of the Group 7 October 2021 28,000 - 7,000 - 21,000
REE104ES —Z--F1+A+H
15 employees of the Group 14 January 2022 13,511,200 - 2,719,768 767,232 10,024,200
KEE154ES “Z--%-A+MA (Note 4)
(Ftzka)
14 employees of the Group 1 August 2022 26,711,000 - 6,425,920 1,852,180 18,432,900
AEE14%ES —Z-#)\f-H (Note 5)
(Ft3£5)
45 employees of the Group 10 March 2023 24,220,980 - 5,942,542 5,496,088 12,782,350
REEHEES “E-=%=A+H (Note 6)
(Ftzte)
41 employees of the Group 15 March 2024 - 24,668,228 - 1,107,731 23,560,497
rEBNZES “Z-N4=A+EH (Note 7)
(Fr&E7)
Total 173,886,274 24,668,228 59,687,683 13,423,231 125,443,588
o
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

90

The weighted average closing price of shares of the Company immediately before
the dates on which the Awarded Shares were vested to Directors and employees
under the Share Award Scheme (i.e. 30 June 2023, 15 July 2023 and 1 August
2023) was HK$0.61.

The vesting dates of the 48,000,000 Awarded Shares as at 31 March 2023 have
been changed during FY2023 as follows: (i) 27,000,000 Awarded Shares shall be
vested on 30 June 2023; (ii) the remaining 21,000,000 Awarded Shares shall be
vested in three equal tranches on 30 June 2024, 30 June 2025, and 30 June
2026, respectively. 2,100,000 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant
vesting date due to certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not
being met during FY2023, and became returned shares for the purposes of the
Share Award Scheme.

The vesting dates of the 61,415,094 Awarded Shares as at 31 March 2023 have
been changed during FY2023 as follows: (i) 21,792,453 Awarded Shares shall be
vested on 1 August 2023; (i) 11,622,641 Awarded Shares shall be vested on 31
March 2025; (iii) the remaining 28,000,000 Awarded Shares shall be vested in four
equal tranches on 1 August 2024, 1 August 2025, 1 August 2026, and 1 August
2027, respectively. 2,100,000 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant
vesting date due to certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not
being met during FY2023, and became returned shares for the purposes of the
Share Award Scheme.

658,032 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date due to
certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not being met during
FY2023. One of the 15 employees, prior to the relevant vesting date, ceased to
be an eligible participant under the Share Award Scheme and the related 109,200
Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date. Therefore, a total
of 767,232 Awarded Shares became returned shares for the purposes of the
Share Award Scheme.

1,499,380 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date due to
certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not being met during
FY2023. One of the 14 employees, prior to the relevant vesting date, ceased to
be an eligible participant under the Share Award Scheme and the related 352,800
Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date. Therefore, a total
of 1,852,180 Awarded Shares became returned shares for the purposes of the
Share Award Scheme.

1,275,452 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date due to
certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not being met during
FY2023. Seven of the 45 employees, prior to the relevant vesting date, ceased to
be eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme and the related 4,220,636
Awarded Shares of theirs were not vested on the relevant vesting date.
Therefore, a total of 5,496,088 Awarded Shares became returned shares for the
purposes of the Share Award Scheme.

Two of the 41 employees, prior to the relevant vesting date, ceased to be eligible
participants under the Share Award Scheme and the related 1,107,731 Awarded
Shares of theirs were not vested on the relevant vesting date, and became
returned shares for the purposes of the Share Award Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

During FY2023, the aggregated fair value of the Awarded Shares
granted on 15 March 2024 to 41 employees of the Group under the
Share Award Scheme was HK$8,263,856.

The 24,668,228 Awarded Shares granted on 15 March 2024 would be
satisfied by way of (i) allocation of 11,864,699 returned shares, and (ii)
allotment and issuance of 12,803,529 new shares.

During FY2023, the Company issued a total of 12,803,529 Awarded
Shares, divided by the weighted average number of shares of the
Company in issue in FY2023 was 0.17%.

For details of the Share Award Scheme and the grant of Awarded
Shares, please refer to Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, the announcements of the Company dated 6 August
2021, 7 October 2021, 14 January 2022, 1 August 2022, 27
September 2022, 10 March 2023 and 15 March 2024, and the circular
of the Company dated 6 September 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

Details of the environmental policy and performance of the Group are
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages
117 to 211 of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

Details of the relationships of the Group with employees, suppliers and
customers are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on pages 117 to 211 of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

In FY2023, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group that have significant impact on their businesses and
operations.

AUDITORS

Pursuant to the resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company on 25 August 2023, the Company re-appointed KPMG as the
auditor of the Company. The proposal of re-appointing KPMG as the
auditor of the Company will be put forward at the AGM.

The Company has not changed its auditor from FY2021 to FY2023.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to, the shares of the Company, they are advised to
consult an expert.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HREHE

NON-COMPETITION DEED

As disclosed in the RTO Circular, each of the Controlling Shareholders
(as defined in the RTO Circular) and Lin Dongliang (together, the
“Covenantors”) have entered into a Non-Competition Deed (as
defined in the RTO Circular) in favour of the Company (for itself and for
the benefit of its subsidiaries). With reference to the RTO Circular, the
Company organised a working meeting with the Covenantors in which
the Company reviewed their business portfolios and considered that
there was no opportunity to operate a Restricted Business (as defined
in the RTO Circular).

The Company has received confirmations from each of the
Covenantors on full compliance with the Non-Competition Deed for
FY2023. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
confirmations provided by the Covenantors, and concluded that each
of the Covenantors complied with the relevant terms of the Non-
Competition Deed for FY2023.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Liu Erzhuang
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 June 2024
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance and has always recognised the importance of
accountability, transparency and protection of Shareholders’ interest in
general. The Company has adopted the code provisions of the CG
Code set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own
corporate governance policy, subject to amendments from time to
time.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company had complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code throughout FY2023, except
for the code provision C.2.1, which stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The roles of chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer are borne concurrently by Dr. Liu Erzhuang
("Dr. Liu") to improve the efficiency of decision-making and execution
process of the Company. Accordingly, the Company has deviated from
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. Notwithstanding the above, the
Board believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured by the operation of the Board, which comprises experienced
talents with a sufficient number of independent non-executive
Directors, and therefore, the performance of the roles of the chairman
of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer concurrently by Dr. Liu
will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board
and the management of the Company and the deviation from code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance.
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BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY

The past year has been one of the most challenging periods for the
Company. Although the economic recovery has brought about a
rebound in oil and gas demand, control of the supply side to digest
inventories, and oil and gas prices continue to rise, the trend of
domestic and global low-carbonization is irreversible, countries strictly
adhere to ESG, and the geopolitics of Russia and Ukraine have led
European countries to accelerate their efforts to get rid of oil and gas
and other routines energy, the uncertainty of running a traditional
energy business has not gone away. As a result, clean energy demand
has been proved resilient in comparison to fossil fuel demand, and the
Company considers to pursue the investment strategy with
decarbonization, other green asset opportunities which included but
not limited to advanced manufacturing assets. In FY2023, the
Company made substantial progress on the semiconductor and solar
cell segment, including the investment in the production base setting
up production lines for semiconductor and solar cell cleaning
equipment. This allows the Company to tap into the very lucrative
market segment leveraging on the knowledge, experience, business
resources of the new management team for this business line.

The Company will continue to explore and evaluate new investment
opportunities, covering its existing business sectors, including but not
limited to the advanced manufacturing, with a view to maximizing its
resources utilization and Shareholders’ return.

Meanwhile, the Company shall continue to pay close attention to the
market environment and consider potentially exiting its mature
investments so as to seize opportunity and realize value.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises 7 Directors,
including 3 executive Directors (Dr. Liu Erzhuang (Chairman), Mr. Tan
Jue and Mr. Liu Zhihai), 1 non-executive Director (Mr. Cao Xiaohui),
and 3 independent non-executive Directors (Ms. Ge Aiji, Mr. Chau
Shing Yim David and Mr. Wang Guoping). The biographical details of
the Directors are set out in the section “Directors’ and Senior
Management's Biographies” on pages 61 to 68 of this annual report.

One of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chau Shing Yim
David, is a professional accountant and that is in compliance with the
requirement of the Listing Rules. There are also 3 committees under
the Board, which are the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee.

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things,
formulating the Company’s overall strategies, setting management
targets, regulating and reviewing internal controls, formulating the
Company’s corporate governance policy, supervising management'’s
performance while the day-to-day operations and management of the
Company are delegated by the Board to management, and ensuring
adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and training
programs and budget of the financial staff.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being
or, if the number of the Directors is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, each of the executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors is
appointed for a specific term of not more than 3 years and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company's annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules. At the forthcoming AGM, Dr. Liu Erzhuang, Mr. Tan Jue and
Ms. Ge Aiji will retire from office and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM. To determine the independent
non-executive Directors’ independence, assessments are carried out
upon appointment, annually and at any other time where the
circumstances warrant reconsideration by the Nomination Committee.
The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board determined that all the
independent non- executive Directors had met the requirements for
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Every newly appointed Director will be given an introduction so as to
ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the Company’s
business and of his/her duties and responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. The
Directors may request the Company to provide independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his/her
duties to the Company. Directors’ training is an ongoing process.
During FY2023, the Company had provided all Directors with regular
updates and presentations on changes and developments to the
Company’s business and to the legislative regulatory environments in
which the Group operates. All Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expense. All Directors are
required to provide the Company with their training record during
FY2023.

EEE )

RAFEHREH SRTEF FATEER
B FMITEERITEB=F 2R ETHE
T UARBEASERMA L EHARNE
ARARZBRBEARG LWEREREE -
REEBRRBFEARE L 2 _fEt B
TFERBNEZTHEE YTAERAR
ERBRRBEAG LERET - REEBE L
FHTEEZBIM  ARANREER -
FRRERZBGRENERBA N 2EM
HBEETH G ARBERERTEUIF
HMITEEREBE ETRAEI GBI IEIE
HeFEHERAE ESCRTERE LI
TEFHHTE LMARREIIBGAE 2B
HARTE -

BRAFTESHELHHN  ABEREER
BEEMRAAMEEEZEMEERTEE R
BARBZEBLEABENET EFAE
KARRREBLERBENBITERAR
AZBE BRABAARRRAE - ARQEH
BRAREREIN R_F_=0F ARQ7
EEHRM2BESRUARAEHEBEE
BREANEEZEMR EPISEERR &
BRARNE - RRAR B E2BEE2MNA
FRIEIRIE  ERAMEARRAE - 2RE
EYARNARIHRERER T =MFAH
ST 2 ROER

EERENBEERAT / F£3K2024 97



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

R
TEREARS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

During FY2023, the Board has reviewed and monitored the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management. The Board has also reviewed and ensured compliance
of the relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the code of
conducts, the CG Code and the disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements and ensuring that the financial statements are
prepared as to give a true and fair view and on a going concern basis in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable financial
reporting standards.

The Company understands that the independence of the Board is
essential to good corporate governance. The Board has established a
mechanism to enable Directors to seek independent professional
advice to make decisions when exercising their duties as Directors,
ensuring that the Board has a strong independent element, which is
the key to an effective Board.

According to the mechanism, with the prior approval of the executive
Directors (without unreasonable refusal or delay of approval), the
Directors may, where appropriate, seek independent legal, financial or
other professional advice from advisers independent of the Company
as necessary to enable them to perform their duties effectively.

The Board will review the mechanism annually to ensure its
implementation and effectiveness.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) and
Mr. Wang Guoping, and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Cao
Xiaohui.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required, among
other things, to oversee the relationship with the independent auditor,
to review the interim and annual consolidated financial statements, to
monitor compliance with statutory and listing requirements, to ensure
adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and training
programs and budget of the financial staff, and to oversee the
Company's financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems. The Audit Committee is also responsible for
facilitating the risk assessment process and timely communication
with the Board where appropriate, and ensuring key business and
operational risks are properly identified and managed.

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee have been adopted in
line with the CG Code. The written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

During FY2023, the Audit Committee, among other matters, reviewed
interim/annual results and reports from the independent auditor
regarding the audit on annual consolidated financial statements,
discussed the risk management and internal control of the Group, and
met with the independent auditor. The Audit Committee reviewed the
scope, extent and effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Ge Aiji (Chairman) and Mr. Wang
Guoping, and one executive Director, namely Dr. Liu Erzhuang.

Under its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee is
responsible for determining the policy for the nomination of Directors,
identifying potential Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. Potential
new Directors are selected on the basis of their qualifications, skills
and experience which the Nomination Committee considers he/she
will make a positive contribution to the performance of the Board.

The terms of reference for the Nomination Committee have been
adopted in line with the CG Code. The written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for the review of the
Board's diversity policy, considering factors including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service of
Board members, reviewing the measurable objectives that the Board
has set for implementing the Board's diversity policy, and monitoring
the progress on achieving the measurable objectives.

During FY2023, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition (including the skills set, knowledge and
experience) of the Board and the board diversity policy of the
Company, and performed an assessment on the independence of all
the independent non-executive Directors with the conclusion that all of
them are independent. It also evaluated the performance and
contribution of the retiring Directors and recommended them to the

Board on their re-elections at the AGM.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
and Ms. Ge Aiji, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Tan Jue.

Under the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, the
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include, inter alia,
assisting the Company in the administration of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies, making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management and ensuring
that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration, assessing performance of executive Directors,
approving the term of executive Directors’ service contracts, and
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee have been
adopted in line with the CG Code. The written terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

During FY2023, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved
the remunerations of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company, and recommended the same to the Board for approval. The
Remuneration Committee also reviewed the grant of Awarded Shares
during FY2023 and the relevant matters including the vesting
schedules and vesting conditions for each of the grantees, and
recommended the same to the Board for approval. In particular, the
vesting period for the first tranche of the 19,405,000 Awarded Shares
granted on 15 March 2024 is shorter than 12 months in order to
provide more incentives for the new eligible participants to achieve
their respective performance targets and make long-term contribution
to the development of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board. The Company considered diversity of
Board members can be achieved through consideration of a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board appointments are based on merit and contribution,
and candidates are considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination
Committee reviews the diversity policy on an annual basis and discusses
any such revisions that may be required, and recommends any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval. As at 31 March
2024, the Board comprised six male members and one female member.
The Board considers itself diverse in terms of gender.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

Measurable objectives and progress: The Company has set
measurable objectives for implementing the diversity policy, including
increasing the representation of women across the organization. The
Company has made significant progress in achieving these objectives
and has increased the percentage of women in leadership positions.
The Company continues to track progress against these objectives.

Achieving gender diversity on the Board: The Company is committed
to achieving gender diversity on the Board and has one Board seat out
of seven held by a woman since 2018.

Numerical targets and timelines for the Board: The Company has set
numerical targets and timelines for achieving gender diversity on the
Board, including the goal of having around 40% of Board seats held by
women by 2025 and achieving gender parity by 2030.

Developing a pipeline of potential successors: The Company has
implemented measures to develop a pipeline of potential successors
to the Board to achieve gender diversity, including identifying and
developing women leaders within the Company.

Gender ratio in the workforce: As at 31 March 2024, the Company had
435 full-time employees in total comprising 69 females and 366 males
(a female-to-male ratio of approximately 1 to 5.3), reflecting a global
diversity across the workforce of the Group. While the Company
recognizes that there is room for improvement, the Company remains
committed to increasing the representation of women in senior
leadership roles and will continue to implement training and
development programs to support the growth and advancement of
women leaders within the Company.

The Group is mindful of the importance of diversity, including gender
diversity, when assessing the candidacy of its employees, and will
ensure that the Group shall continue to follow its commitment to
diversity.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has formalised the Company's existing approach and
procedures and adopted a Board nomination policy in March 2020 to
ensure that, with the support of the Nomination Committee, proper
selection and nomination processes are in place for the appointment
of additional and replacing Directors and re-election of Directors.

As noted above, the Nomination Committee will, on an ad hoc basis,
recommend candidates who possess the relevant expertise as it
considers appropriate when the need to select, nominate or re-elect
Directors arises. In the determination of the suitability of a candidate,
the Nomination Committee will consider the potential contribution a
candidate can bring to the Board in terms of skills set, experience,
expertise, independence, age, culture, ethnicity, gender and such
other factors that it may consider appropriate for a position on the
Board. The Nomination Committee will provide updated information
and status of progress to the Board throughout the determination
process as and when appropriate. The Board will take into
consideration the benefits of a diversified Board when selecting Board
candidates.

Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself/herself for re-
election, the Nomination Committee will consider and, if appropriate,
recommend such retiring Director to stand for re-election at an annual
general meeting. A circular containing the requisite information on
such retiring Director will be sent to Shareholders prior to an annual
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules. Shareholders
may nominate a person to stand for election as a Director at a general
meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable
laws and regulations including those of the Listing Rules. The
procedures for such proposal are posted on the website of the
Company.

The Board nomination policy is available on the website of the
Company. The Board will from time to time review the Board
Nomination Policy and monitor its implementation to ensure its
continued effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practices.
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The attendance records of each Director at the various meetings ofthe R-ZZE =B F KEEHEARAIZRE
Company during FY2023 are set out below: R AERET AT

Attended/Eligible to Attend
BHRE/REREE

Audit Nomination Remuneration

General Board committee committee committee

meetings meetings meetings meeting meeting

=g ENZEY REEZEg FMZEEE

BRAE L =] = -]

Number of meeting(s) SHINY 2 4 2 1 1

Executive Directors HITEZE

Dr. Liu Erzhuang g -t 2/2 4/4 N/ATNE 17 N/A 7§ F

Mr. Tan Jue BRLAE 2/2 4/4 N/AE A N/ATNE A n

Mr. Liu Zhihai 2mErs 2/2 4/4 N/A7 i A N/A7R i A N/A i
Non-executive Director FHITEE

Mr. Cao Xiaohui EEBLAE 22 4/4 22 N/AT i P N/AT i F

Independent Non-executive ~BUHHITEE

Directors
Ms. Ge Aiji Blgi+ 2/2 414 N/A N F n 1N
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David LR E 212 4/4 2/2 N/AE A n
Mr. Wang Guoping TEFEE 2/2 414 2/2 A N/AZ i F
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills during the year. This is to ensure
that their contributions to the Board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have been provided with training on their duties and
responsibilities as a director of a listed company and the compliance
issues under the Listing Rules. The Company continuously updates
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure their compliance
and enhance their awareness of their continuing obligations as
Directors and good corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, all Directors (namely Dr. Liu
Erzhuang, Mr. Tan Jue, Mr. Liu Zhihai, Mr. Cao Xiaohui, Ms. Ge Aiji,
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David and Mr. Wang Guoping) have received
trainings by reading relevant materials on topics relating to corporate
governance and regulations, and have provided the joint company
secretaries of the Company with their training records for FY2023.

HIREXRER
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the

collective responsibility of Directors and the corporate governance

duties include:

(a)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for

formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior

management. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for

FY2023 are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION (continued) {2 ERMEE (&)

The senior management’s remuneration for FY2023 is within the SHREBAER -_ZE-_=GFNHHNF T
following bands: 8=

Number of
individuals

Emolument bands

HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7T % 2,500,000 7 7T 1
HK$25,000,001-HK$25,500,000 25,000,001 7 7T % 25,500,000 % 7T 1
2

Further particulars regarding the Directors and senior management’'s  1B4E F R BIMED2 BT IR ENEE N 54K
emoluments and the five highest paid employees as required to be EBIEAEBMNMERAEEEHFMA TAE—
disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set outin £ EHINRGEA M BHRERM T 11 12%
Notes 11, 12 and 36(a) to the consolidated financial statements. 36(a) °

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION = BETEN &

For FY2023, services provided to the Group by KPMG, the existing R-_Z-_=8F AR RITHBMESEH
auditor of the Company, and the respective fees paid and payable E:MEHEAMBAEERHOBHELEAD
were: NRENERA:

Year ended 31 March
BE=RA=1t—HLFE
2024 2023

—E_NE —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTAT

Audit services ZH AR 7% 1,990 3,229
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules to regulate the Directors’ securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout FY2023.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has appointed Mr. Qin Yifeng and Ms. Ng Sau Mei (“Ms.
Ng") as the joint company secretaries of the Company (the “Joint
Company Secretaries”). Ms. Ng is the director of the Listing Services
Department of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a company secretarial service
provider), the contact person of Ms. Ng in the Company is Mr. Qin
Yifeng.

The Joint Company Secretaries report to the chairman of the Company
and are responsible for advising the Board on governance matters,
new Director's induction and professional development of Directors as
well as ensuring good information flow between the Board members
and the compliance of the policy and procedure of the Board.

In FY2023, the Joint Company Secretaries had undertaken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Responsibility of the Board

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining the Company's
systems of risk management and internal control and reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems of risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are designed to provide reasonable
assurance to minimise risk of failure in operational systems, and to
assist in the achievement of the Company’s goals. The systems are
also structured to safeguard the Company’s assets, to ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records and compliance with
applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Responsibility of the Board (continued)

The Audit Committee has the final authority to review and approve the
annual audit plan and all major changes to the plan. In addition, special
reviews may also be performed on areas of concern identified by
management from time to time.

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company adopted the three lines of defence model in the
management of risk. Operational management forms the core of the
first line of defence as they contact with the risk sources in the first
place. They are responsible for identifying, reporting and preliminarily
managing risks in their daily operations. Our second line of defence is
aimed to facilitate and monitor the implementation of effective risk
management practices by operational management throughout the
Company. Our internal audit function is the core of the third line of
defence and mainly responsible for checking, auditing and monitoring
the work performed by the first and second lines of defence.

The Company'’s risks are identified from business processes in our
established enterprise-wide risk assessment methodologies. Key
responsible personnel for the management of risk in each of the
business process are selected as interviewees to identify the risks to
form our risk universe. Each risk within the risk universe is assessed in
terms of likelihood of occurrence and the significance of impact, taken
into account the current internal controls in place to mitigate these
risks. The risk assessment results are reported to senior management
and the Board for them to evaluate whether risks have been
appropriately managed and decide on our priorities in risk
management, based on their preferences towards risk, and in particular
how much risks the Company is willing to take for the achievement of
its strategy and business objectives, the availability of resources for
risk mitigation, and the effectiveness of current internal control
system.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(continued)

The key components of the Company’s control structure are as
follows:

Culture: The Board believes that good governance reflects the culture
of an organization. The Company aims at all times to act ethically and
with integrity, and to instill this behaviour in all its employees by
setting example by the Board. The Company has a code of conduct,
which is posted on its internal intranet site. The Company is committed
to developing and maintaining high professional and ethical standards.
These are reflected in the rigorous selection process and career
development plans for all employees. The organization prides itself on
being a long-term employer which instils in individuals, as they
progress through the Company, a thorough understanding of the
Company’s ways of thinking and acting.

Channels of communication are clearly established which allow
employees to express their views to senior staff. Employees are aware
that, whenever the unexpected occurs, attention should be given not
only to the event itself, but also to determining the cause. Through the
Company’'s code of conduct, employees are encouraged (and
instructed as to how) to report control deficiencies or suspicions of
impropriety to those who are in a position to take necessary action.

Risk assessment: The Board and the management each has a
responsibility to identify and analyse the risks underlying the
achievement of business objectives, and to determine how such risks
should be managed and mitigated. The management, among other
matters, is responsible for facilitating risk assessment process and
timely communication to the Board where appropriate, and ensuring
that key business and operational risks are properly identified and
managed.

Management structure: The Company has a clear organizational
structure that, to the extent required, delegates the day-to-day
responsibility for the design, documentation and implementation of
procedures and monitoring of risk. Individuals appreciate where they
will be held accountable in this process.

110 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

BIZERRAEBEE ()

EEREERASBEREFZE (B

RAREERBOTIEEXBIOT

X EFERERENEARBR-FTEE
XL - A RBIE LA NG FREERT
ERBENTAITE  XHEFSUAHER
RIABREREM I RIFHNER - ARREHE
IR XYEHRARBNABE - A2
ABANBEMERSENERRERTE
EHUEMBERENEEREBENRER
BRERBREK - RRARERRHEE
SHEEENMAARARAEIR  ZHAIESEHL
BERATEARRNEHEIRITEIN

RREUBBRRE RREEREREEES
MAB - BERAE —BZEEBHZINOER -
BRTREEHEAEIN  MERBEMRKEA -
ARBBEBETRTH  BEE (RIETRHE
anfe]) AR ERER PR BT RN RO A L E IME IR K

MK EREETENBR

BEBRFE - EFELEEBHEETHEAILK
DITEKFER BIRNEER R - AR E RN
MERLREZERR EEERE (HhE
mIERRFGEEELLFRESS (E
R)ER BRZZINLREEIEXZBRE
BRKR -

EEAB  ARBREABNABRE K
FRBRRENEARMGITE mEMEBEEF &
ERRRMNBEERE -EEHBEUBES
FREMEE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Mz I~

R
TEREARS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(continued)

Controls and review: The control environment comprises policies and
procedures intended to ensure that relevant management directives
are carried out and actions that may be needed to address risks are
taken. These may include approvals and verifications, reviews,
safeguarding of assets and segregation of duties. Control activities can
be divided into operations, financial reporting and compliance, although
there may, on occasion, be some overlap between them. The typical
control activities adopted by the Company include:

— analytical reviews: for example, conducting reviews of actual
performance versus budgets, forecasts, prior periods and
competitors.

— direct functional or activity management: reviews of performance
reports, conducted by managers in charge of functions or
activities.

— information-processing: performing controls intended to check
the authorisation of transactions and the accuracy and
completeness of their reporting, for example, exception reports.

—  physical controls: ensuring equipment, inventories, securities and
other assets are safeguarded and subject to periodic checks.

—  performance indicators: carrying out analyses of different sets of
data, operational and financial, examining the relationships
between them, and taking corrective action where necessary.

—  segregation of duties: dividing and segregating duties among
different people, with a view to strengthening checks and
minimising the risk of errors and abuse.

— hedging: place the Company in a hedged position, protecting it
from a decline in the oil price over the stipulated period of time.

The Company has in place effective processes and systems for the
identification, capture and reporting of operational, financial and
compliance-related information in a form and time frame intended to
ensure that staff carry out their designated responsibilities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(continued)

Any material internal control defects identified are timely
communicated and carefully evaluated for their potential impacts. The
departments or functions who are owners of these controls, are
required to propose corrective measures and obtain approval from
management before implementation. The implementation statues are
monitored by both management and the internal audit function to
ensure these control defects are properly resolved in a timely manner.
The Company has also established policies and procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The information to
be disclosed should be properly reviewed and approved by our
compliance functions and management to ensure its appropriateness
and accuracy, and is closely monitored after disclosure.

In the forthcoming financial year, the Company plans to use its best
endeavor to continuously refine our risk management and internal
control systems whenever necessary, which would include the
establishment of a more formalised risk response process,
improvements to be made in control design and execution in high risk
areas identified through our annual risk assessment, and a mechanism
to monitor the resolution of control deficiencies, to mention but a few.

Internal Audit Function

The Company’s internal audit department plays a major role in the
monitoring of the Company’s internal governance processes. The
major tasks of the department include providing assurance on the
effectiveness of the Company’s governance, risk management and
internal controls in areas of operations, safeguarding of assets,
reporting, and compliance, and conducting risk-based audits of all
branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis with
recommended action plans to audit findings. The department also
provides suggestion in risk management and internal control related
issues within the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Review of the Effectiveness and Adequacy of Systems

The management prepares and submits reports to the Board in risk
and control related issues at least annually, detailing how risks have
been managed and internal controls have been designed and
implemented in accordance with the established risk and control
frameworks, to keep our overall risk exposures within risk appetite and
achieve our business objectives. The Board reviews the
reasonableness of these reports and representations from
management and makes sufficient enquiries whenever they feel
necessary, before reaching their conclusions.

In respect of FY2023, the Board and the Audit Committee conducted
annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and the
internal control system of the Company covering the finance,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.
Based on the review, the Board considered that the Company's risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate for its present requirements.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements for each financial period with a view to ensuring such
financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. The
Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with all
relevant statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments and
estimates made are prudent and reasonable. The statement of the
external auditor of the Company, KPMG, with regard to their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 212 to 219 of this annual
report.

BIZERRAEMEE ()

FRHIERBEAMRTE

EEEELEBFRARTEFEEEERER
SUERXTESFE RN ARRE EIH
Jee g 0 42 11 AE 2R B 32 [ B M RR BT e P T A
B - PAREFFRAPT R0 2 BB R R K O 72 LR 1R 4F
FOUYERBMNEXBER BEFEEHNE
LERERGELBARLAE YNFHE
i A W B EIT IR D M ©

KT _—MEMS EFERBELZEE
BARARZABERMABEZESEZE R
METFEERS ELHEREVK 28
REBREERRABRERBE REES B

ERRARAZEREE RN EESE
RBER - BRABRMNRE 28K -

21

f

FRR &

EZARABRFEERMBBHZMBERRE
B DRZFMBREREE R P RRA
SEZEHBRANNZRAREZEZENRRER
B ARBZHMBHRRTIIZABABERR
EMERETERRER EFARRRAR
ERERAE 2 BE  mAERAEETs
FEIAEMEL - ARF 2N BZHAME
SHEAMELAREEGEMBERR 2 H
WEAEFTIERRA - MR AFHRE212HE 219
BB 2B E o

EERENBEERAT / F£3K2024 13



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

R
TEREARS

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with the Shareholders through the
publication of annual and interim reports, announcements and circulars.
The annual general meeting also provides a useful and convenient
forum for Shareholders to exchange views with the Board, and with
each other. At the annual general meeting, the chairperson of the
annual general meeting and chairman/member/duly appointed delegate
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee are available to answer the questions raised by
Shareholders.

The Company’s view of the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy conducted during FY2023 is
positive. The Company has received feedback from Shareholders
through various channels, including the annual general meeting, and
has responded promptly and appropriately to all queries and concerns
raised. The Company believes that open and transparent
communication with Shareholders is essential to building trust and
maintaining a strong and sustainable relationship. The Company
regularly reviews its communication policy to ensure that it remains
effective and responsive to the needs of Shareholders. Based on the
positive feedback received and the Company’s ongoing commitment
to open and transparent communication, the Company concludes that
its Shareholders’ communication policy has been implemented
effectively and has been successful in achieving its objectives.

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Group for FY2023.

An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called a
special general meeting.

The Board reviewed the effectiveness and implementation of the
Company’s Shareholders’ communication policy during the year ended
31 March 2024 and considered that it remained effective in enhancing
timely, transparent, accurate and open communication between the
Company and the Shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT TO PROPOSE
RESOLUTIONS AT GENERAL MEETING

(i) Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all Shareholders having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or (ii) not less than 100 Shareholders, can submit a written
request stating the resolution intended to be moved at an annual
general meeting; or a statement of no more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at a particular general meeting.

The written request/statements must be signed by the Shareholder(s)
concerned and deposited at the Company's registered office at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and its principal office at Unit 5507, 55/F, The Center,
99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong, for the attention of the joint
company secretaries of the Company, not less than six weeks before
an annual general meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice
of a resolution and not less than one week before the general meeting
in the case of any other requisition.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING

According to the Articles of Association and the Companies Act of the
Cayman lIslands, a special general meeting shall be convened by the
Board on the requisition of one or more Shareholders’ holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
secretary of the Company and deposited at the registered office of the
Company. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) (or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights held by all of the requisitionists) may do so in the
same manner (as nearly as possible). Any meeting so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the date of deposit
of the requisition. All reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. In
respect of other enquiries, Shareholders may put forward enquiries to
the Board through the below contact details for handling. The contact
details are as follows:

Address: Unit 5507, 55/F., The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
Tel No.:  (852) 3903 1326
Fax No.: (852) 2541 5562

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

VOTING BY POLL

All resolutions put forward at Shareholder’'s meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after each
Shareholder’s meeting.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The bye-laws of the Company have been amended on 25 August 2023
to (a) reflect the core shareholder protection standards as set out in
the Appendix A1 to the Listing Rules, (b) include provisions allowing
the Company to conduct meetings via electronic or hybrid meetings,
and (c) generally bring the bye-laws in line with the prevailing laws in
Bermuda and the requirements under the Listing Rules.

On 28 September 2023, the Board proposed to change the domicile of
the Company from Bermuda to the Cayman Islands by way of
discontinuance in Bermuda and continuation as an exempted company
under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The memorandum of
association of the Company and the Articles of Association have been
adopted and effective immediately upon the continuation of the
Company under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 17 November
2023, the latest version of which are available from the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
20 July 2023, 28 September 2023 and 23 November 2023 and the
circulars of the Company dated 27 July 2023 and 11 October 2023
published on the websites of the Company (www.pdt-techs.com) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during FY2023.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the eighth Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG")
Report issued by Productive Technology Company Limited (the
“Company”). This report mainly introduces the Company and its
subsidiaries’ (the “Group”) policies and measures regarding ESG
issues and is meant to strengthen communication and engagement
with internal and external stakeholders.

Reporting Scope

The Group is engaged in the business of productivity-driven equipment
applied in semiconductor and solar cell businesses. It also operates an
oil and gas production project in the People’'s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). As at 31 March 2024, the Company commenced businesses
in development and manufacturing of innovative Wafer Fabrication
Equipment ("WFE") and solar cell production equipment. WFE
comprises high-end single wafer cleaning and low pressure chemical
vapor deposition (“LPCVD") equipment for front-end wafer processing.
Solar cell production equipment includes wet chemical cleaning
equipment and copper plating equipment. The Company has
established and acquired companies in China and abroad for the
operation, R&D, and manufacturing of the above-mentioned
businesses (among which LPCVD equipment is currently under
development), which mainly include Productive Technologies
(Shanghai) Limited* (LB EERFERREAR L F) ("PDT
TiER s

) (“"PDT Xuzhou"), Xinkai Semiconductor
(MEFBRZE (RN BRELAR)
(“Xinkai”), Britech Semiconductor Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

Shanghai”), Productive Technologies (Xuzhou) Limited* (&
BREBGRMNABERRAA
Equipment (Xuzhou) Co., Ltd.*

(“Britech”), Productive Equipment Technologies (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*
(P BEEFRRERNRARAF
Solar Technologies (Yiwu) Co., Ltd.*

) (“PDT Technologies”), and Rena
R KGR (BZR)ERA

(“Rena Yiwu"). Xilin Gol League Hongbo Mining Development

(MR REEEREGR A F)

Mining”) is a subsidiary of the Company engaged in sale of crude oil.

Company Limited* ("Hongbo

This report covers the Group, and there is no change in disclosure of
the reporting scope compared to the previous report.

*  For identification purposes only
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Time Range
The Company’s ESG report is an annual report and this report is for the
period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024.

Principle of Preparation
This report is prepared according to the following principles:

Materiality: We identified key ESG issues through materiality
assessment, the process and results of which have been disclosed in
this report;

Quantitative: In accordance with the “key performance indicators” of
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out
in Appendix C2 to the Guide to the Listing Rules on the Stock
Exchange, the Company and its subsidiaries made quantitative
disclosures of key performance indicators with historical data in the
“environmental” and “social” categories;

Consistency: We follow a consistent approach for disclosure statistics,
and we use the same method for ESG information disclosure in
subsequent years to facilitate meaningful comparisons from year to

year.

Basis of Preparation

This report is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG
Reporting Guide") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”).
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STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and all its
members assume full responsibility for the Company's ESG strategy
and ESG reporting and are responsible for assessing and determining
the Company’s ESG risks and ensuring that the Company and its
subsidiaries have appropriate and effective ESG risk management and
internal control system in place. The management of the Company
provides the Board with confirmation as to whether the system is
effective. The Board and all its members affirm that this report
contains no false or misleading statements or material omissions and
that they are jointly and severally responsible for the truthfulness,
accuracy, and completeness of its contents.

The Board attaches great importance to the ESG management, and
strictly implements the Code of Corporate Governance for Listed
Companies, the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange and other
relevant regulations. The Board is committed to improving the ESG
governance system, management process and information disclosure,
ensuring the establishment of an appropriate and effective ESG
working mechanism. The Board is responsible for supervising and
making decisions on ESG-related issues, and determining the priorities
of sustainable development of the Company in the light of
management operations and stakeholder communications, so as to
better perform the responsibility on sustainable development.
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VISION OF ESG MIANAGEMENT

The Group is engaged in the business of productivity-driven equipment
applied in semiconductor and solar cell businesses. It also operates an
oil and gas production project in the PRC. The Company is currently at
the forefront of advanced processing equipment for the semiconductor
and solar industry. Our business model is centered on providing
technology-driven, high-productivity solutions. Regarding this part of
the business, the Company is committed to reducing consumption of
natural resources and emissions, and is active in exploring and applying
more environmentally friendly materials and technologies. We strive to
improve energy efficiency and prioritize renewable resources in our
production processes. Through continuous innovation and research
and development, we provide our customers with high-quality products
while contributing to the green transformation of the global energy
structure. At the same time, the Company is also committed to
building a diverse and inclusive work environment. In addition, we
emphasize on efficient decision-making mechanism, effective risk
management and compliance measures to ensure the Company's
long-term steady growth. Regarding the upstream crude oil assets,
Hongbo Mining, the Company’s subsidiary, engaged in upstream oil
exploration, development, production and sale of crude oil in China.
Hongbo Mining has adhered to the development philosophy of “energy
conservation, emissions reduction, green development, and safety as
top priority” to achieve green and secure development while improving
quality and efficiency and provide society with high-quality oil
resources. At the same time, it has further increased its
comprehensive strength by focusing on talent development,
technological innovation, supervision and management and
performance optimization.

Going forward, the Company’s top priority will remain to manage the
liquidity at the investment portfolio company level in anticipation of
continued uncertainty while pursuing the investment strategy on
decarbonization and other green asset opportunities, including but not
limited to investments in the pan-semiconductor sector. In addition,
the Company shall continue to pay close attention to the market
environment to seize more business opportunities and consider exiting
its existing mature investments so as to recognize the profits. In line
with the principles of sustainable development, we are forward-looking
establish technical reserves for new technology with a view to further
strengthening the Company's comprehensive capabilities through
innovation and development.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group fully considers and effectively responds to stakeholders’
expectations and demands, works with stakeholders to promote social

development, and shares development achievements.

Stakeholders
Fe=EHE R

Investors

REE

Customers

5F

FIRHERTRE

EAFF

REB Ry E B A 2@ A w48 B8 7 #O HA
BNz AERE T KRR

HEBR-

HKEHZERERKR -

Communication and

participation

Stakeholder expectations

NEEBEHHE

° Increase in the °
Company’s market value
and profitability

e KRRARMEHEAFNKF
MiEE °

o Continuous improvement
of the Company'’s
performance in
environmental and social
responsibility

e  ZXARARBREMHEEME
RITETRR T

o Excellent quality of °

product
s RBENEREE

o Protection of legitimate e

rights and interests

s  REAE#ER

mechanism

BEES R

General meetings,
information
disclosure, and the
Company's website
BREAE - FEK
AN/ FE

Signing of contracts e
and agreements,

and customer °
satisfaction surveys
FaI AR K
BEEmEERAE
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The Group’s responses

A& E B fE

Regularly publishing reports,
truthfully and fully disclosing
information, and striving to
improve performance and creating
profits

TEHBRMmE NE - ZoH#E
TEERE BHRAXE &
peRlbE

Improving the Company’s
governance and risk management
level, holding general meetings,
strengthening investor relations
management, and striving to
improve environmental and social
responsibility management
RARRRE B REREEKTF -
BFRRERE @ IRiREEBR
BFE - BARARBNLEES
B

Providing high-quality products
and services

RHESEENERMRSE

Establishing a comprehensive
customer service system and
customer feedback and complaint
mechanism
BYTENEFREE
BRI B AR AR
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Stakeholders
Fe=EHEE R

Employees
BT

Government

B

tE RERRSE

Communication and

participation

Stakeholder expectations mechanism

NEEBEHHE %]

. Ensuring employee °
compensation and benefits
e  REBIFHMMEF

° Care for employee safety
and health
s HMEEIRTMER

o Providing equal promotion
and development
opportunities

o RHAFEFMBERHE

&
=

° Improving
communication
mechanisms and
participating in corporate

management
o  TEBBES  2ERQ
mlEE

o Operating in compliance e
with rules, laws and
regulations, and
implementing national o
policies

o HEBRESE AHRKEE
B K BUR

LB B

Labour contracts
and employee
satisfaction surveys
LHEm - BIm
BEERAE

Attending
government-related
meetings

SEPNREEZ

The Group’s responses

25 E [E] FE

° Strictly abiding by the terms of
labour contracts, and improving
the compensation and welfare
system

e EBRETHPARGR TEH

B R

[ RS

° Providing a safe and healthy
working environment

e REHZTEEERNTIIFRE

o Offering employee development
channels and organizing employee

training
L4 %E{/\/\Ig’gg i‘ﬂiﬁkgﬂ E\
b
o Providing equal communication
channels

e RHYIEWEBRE

° Strictly abiding by relevant laws
and regulations, continuously
strengthening compliance
management and responding to
relevant national policies

o  ERESFHEBIEEZEMR  FEM
BREESHRERE  BREEREH
R
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Communication and

participation

Stakeholders Stakeholder expectations mechanism The Group’s responses

Az M6 B 5 Flz5AEBE 5 HI BEESEK AEEE E

Suppliers o Cooperating in an honest, e Signing contracts ° With business principles of

e fair and just manner to and agreements, and openness and transparency,
achieve mutual benefit and holding bidding and actively fulfilling contracts and
win-win results and supplier meetings on agreements, implementing an
promoting industry a regular basis open and transparent
development o BRI AR R procurement model, and creating

o Bz RAF RIEEE- EHA Eﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁ%’%& a responsible supply chain

BRI  RETEE HEms o FANHBEANMERI - EH

3 BiTER K BiEARER
MRERN  ITER M EE

Peers ° Fair competition, honest e Communicate with e Strengthening exchanges and
B cooperation, transparent relevant agencies cooperation with peers to jointly
and open information o HLEBAMERIMN create a healthy and orderly
o QN¥BMF -HEAEE-E B competition environment
BIBEHAANH o MNBREFRZEMNIREAIE - HKF
EERE  AFOBFRE
° Following industry norms
and promoting industrial ° Engaging in industrial innovation
innovation and research, pursuing mutual
o BSPITEME - REE benefit and win-win results, and
EEIF common progress, participating in

industry evaluation, and providing
suggestions for industry
standardization

o ShEE FERIFETI T - HE& -
H}E*F 2 /\TT% ﬂg BT
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In accordance with the Stock Exchange’s ESG Reporting Guide and
the Global Reporting Initiative’'s materiality analysis procedures, the
Group collected issues of concern to major stakeholders through forms
such as questionnaires and interviews. A materiality analysis was
conducted to prioritize and identify the Group’s material ESG issues
that were disclosed in this report.

Materiality Assessment Process

(1)  ESG issues relevant to the Group were identified through
analysis of the Stock Exchange's ESG Reporting Guide and
issues disclosed by peers;

(2) Key stakeholders were invited to assess the importance of
identified issues. Internal stakeholders mainly assessed the
issues from the perspective of the Group's long-term
development strategy, management improvement, urgency of
investment and competitive advantage, while external
stakeholders mainly considered the evaluation of the Group and
the influence of decisions and the influence on their interests.
The results of assessment by internal and external stakeholders
were integrated to create an initial materiality matrix;

(3)  The management of the Group reviewed the priorities of the
issues and reported them to the Board for review;

(4)  After the reporting period, the Group will invite internal and
external stakeholders to give feedback on the contents of the
current report to prepare for the next report.
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Issue Materiality Matrix
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Very high
materiality

FEEE

High
materiality

BER

Materiality to operation management

HKEBEMNERE

HEEEMER

Very high materiality
FEEE

Product quality and after-sales services Business ethics and anti-corruption
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1. STABLE BUSINESS OPERATION, MUTUAL

BENEFIT AND WIN-WIN

The Group adheres to compliant business operation based on
relevant internal management policies covering business
integrity, external communication, professional ethics, internal
relation management, corporate interest maintenance, and taking
social responsibility. The Group is committed to communicating
among all internal and external stakeholders to achieve mutual
benefit and win-win.

1.1 Rising to the Challenge and Pursuing Innovation-

driven Development

The Group's pan-semiconductor business adheres to the
principle of “Production capacity is the first element of
equipment”. The concept of technological innovation lies in
improving the output per unit time of semiconductor
equipment, reducing production costs, and providing
customers with cost-effective solutions. We aim to be a
global enterprise, with an emphasis on the protection of
intellectual property rights and innovation. With
technological innovation, we outperform our competitors
and ensure the core competitiveness of products. The
Group’s innovation-driven performance enhancement policy
is underpinned by the principle of “respect for labour, for
knowledge, for talent, and for creation” and encouraging
team collaboration in overcoming difficulties as well as
independent innovation. The Group prepared a Core Talent
Development Program ({#z 0 A A 15 % 51 &) geared to
developing high-level talent and making innovations in
urgently needed technologies.
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With our intellectual property protection system and talent
reserve pipeline, we endeavour to maintain our scientific
and technological innovation at the forefront of the industry:

° Protection of intellectual property: The Company has
established our own intellectual property department,
and also maintains long-term and stable cooperative
relationships with well-known intellectual property
law firms in the industry.

° Talent reserve pipeline: The Company has a total of
114 R&D personnel, accounting for approximately
26% of the total staff. WWe encourage innovation and
have set up a sound innovation incentive system, and
regularly organize seminars on intellectual property
rights and new patents development. In order to
enhance our employees’ motivation for innovation
and creation and protect the Company’s patents for
on-the-job inventions and creations, we have
formulated the Incentive Measures for Patents. The
achievements of technological innovation will
eventually be applied to the equipment used in the
production of the Group’s pan-semiconductor
business, thereby translating into higher production
capacity by increasing wafer output per unit of time.
On top of this, we are also committed to optimizing
our processes, reducing the impact on the
environment and achieving green innovation. Our
innovation results are mainly focused on the
improvement of the mechanical components of the
equipment, the optimization to processes of
equipment related to semiconductor manufacturing
and the improvement of productivity. As the wet
equipment produced by the Group’'s pan-
semiconductor business involves chemicals and
innovative processes for recycling and reducing the
consumption of certain chemicals that have an impact
on the environment, thereby reducing the
environmental impact of emissions.
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The Company constantly innovates in the technologies of
semiconductor equipment and has recorded outstanding
performance in the industry. The Company is selected as a
collaborating unit for the “Typical Cases of China’s Strategic
Emerging Industries” of the Macroeconomic Department
of the National Development and Reform Commission, and
a standard-setting unit for the “Testing Methods for Wet
Cleaning Equipment Used in Semiconductor
Manufacturing” and “Remote Operation and Maintenance
Status Monitoring of Integrated Circuit Packaging
Equipment” of the National Standardization Administration
of China. During FY2023, the CUBE equipment won the
Best Application Award in China’s Semiconductor Market
2023-2024, and the OCTOPUS equipment won the
Innovative Product Award in China’s Semiconductor Market
2023-2024.

Looking ahead, the main focus of technological innovation
for the Group's pan-semiconductor business will be in the
following areas:

° Continuously conducting technological R&D and
product iteration to create highly-technical (e.g. high-
temperature sulfuric acid products) and high-
productivity products;

° Two-fluid design with higher particle removal
capability;

° Measures to reduce the amount of hazardous
chemicals used and the recovery of environmental
pollutant emissions.
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Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the Company, based on its
Staff Innovation Workshop (B T &l % T {E=), has
mobilized its staff at various levels to make technological
innovations in various ways including joint research to make
breakthroughs in key technologies, technological
renovation, invention, repair and waste recycling. By
organizing activities such as collaborative research in key
technologies, management innovation and project-based
research and promoting advanced concepts, technologies
and methods, Hongbo Mining has solved technical
bottlenecks confronted by its oil blocks and achieved
steady progress in the exploration and development
capabilities of various projects in the oil blocks.

In accordance with the Patent Law of the People’s Republic
of China ((FF ZE A R A Bl Z X)), the Trademark Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({FF 2 A R H A 1Z5K5)),
and the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China
(P AR B E ER#EE)), the Group continuously
enhances its awareness of independent intellectual
property rights and clarifies the standards and procedures
for the creation, use, management and protection of
intellectual property rights. The Company advocates,
encourages and insists on independent innovation, and
creates patents, trademarks and computer software works
according to its business needs, and applies for registration
in a timely manner. Measures for intellectual property rights
protection that the Company adopted are more in line with
the actual needs with the collaboration of the internal
independent intellectual property department and external
professional legal partners. With more than ten years of
industry experience, the Company’s major employees
engaged in research and development have a deep
understanding of relevant equipment and processes of the
industry. Eyeing more on the actual needs and
requirements of customers, we put forward innovative
methods and measures to improve techniques, which can
meet the actual needs of customers.

As of 28 June 2024, the Company had applied for 76
patents, including 34 invention patents, 34 utility model
patents, and 8 design patents. Among them, 32 patents
have been authorized, including 10 invention patents, 21
utility model patents and 1 design patent.
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1.2 Ensuring Quality and Deepen Service
Product Quality
With listening to the voice of customers and building high-

quality products as its policy, the Company actively

establishes a quality management culture of all employees

that focuses on prevention and does not delivery bad

quality, and establishes quality assurance in the value chain

of sales, design, production, procurement, service and

other products. The Company has also taken a series of

measures to control product quality:

(1)

The product department and the sales department
communicate with customers to confirm customer
requirements (equipment performance and
configuration, testing, delivery, after-sales service,
etc.); the sales department organizes relevant
departments to review customer requirements to
confirm whether they can be met. They also optimize
contract and customer technical agreement reviews
to ensure that product development meets customer
requirements.

The R&D department reviews the required product
information input by the product department; and
refines the product requirements.

The R&D department conducts conceptual and
detailed design; invites relevant departments to
participate in the design review during the process
according to R&D quality management requirements;
and evaluates the process functionality, customer
requirements, reliability, safety, manufacturability, and
failure modes of the development and design.
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The purchasing department introduces key materials
based on the nature of the purchased materials and
the approval of the production parts, organizes, if
necessary, relevant departments to conduct on-site
inspections and evaluations on suppliers based on the
nature of purchased goods; and assesses suppliers’
ability to supply the target products required by the
Company on a continuous and stable basis. The
purchasing department supervises suppliers and,
according to the quality data of each supplier, requires
it to rectify and improve the quality of goods in a
timely manner or otherwise reduces order, imposes
penalties or removes it from the list of qualified
suppliers.

The quality department conducts sampling inspection
and acceptance of the purchased materials entering
the factory according to the inspection standards and
the approval requirements of the production parts;
and isolates and disposes of unqualified goods. The
quality department also monitors the quality data of
incoming materials, analyzes abnormal data, instructs
and supervises suppliers to improve their quality of
supplied materials.

The manufacturing department conducts skills
training for employees on the job; production staff
carries out operations according to standard operating
procedures and self-inspection according to
checklists. Test engineers carry out functional tests
on equipment according to the test project list. The
quality department oversees the production process
and product testing process.

Test the product according to the test standard.

132 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

REHKEREDETLE
KIBEEMRE  HEREY
B8 A HEBE - A8A
8 EB P9 % 4 Fg?ﬁfﬁiﬁk %
"I HEBEHRERES
BEBTREAR TH%F
moREPeEEHER
KEsHENEEEE =
SKAH e % B Al IE BGE 3R
B SIS B ER
HEEFR SRR o

EMPRBRBEENEE
ﬁm&x*ﬁkﬁm%%%
BHETHBIBY  HTE
EYIREITIRBEE B - BT
MEREEE8E  HEE
HIRETON  ANEER
HHEDRETE S 25UE
WHITEEE o

BUEEH E R B T TR
Bl EEABKBREE
ERIBEITIESE  WIKEZ
HRETER A IRM
WIBARIE R REREETT
ThEERIE - B _BFEJﬁﬂLiF
BREMEMIRBRET

.

iR S %
B -

- HEMETT



(8)  The quality department deals with customer quality
problems and complaints after after-sales feedback,
organizes relevant departments to analyze the root
causes, and corrects and improves related quality
problems. According to the feedback and escalation
mechanism, the quality department reports the
quality problems, corrects and continuously improves
the quality work of relevant departments.

The Company established an ISO9001 quality control
system, documenting and standardizing the relevant quality
control processes and methods from sales to after-sales. In
addition, the relevant human resources were
supplemented, thus the quality work of each department
was gradually standardized and detailed.

In the future, the Company will optimize its quality control
system, adjust and improve its processes in accordance
with the actual situation of the Company, as well as
establish and perfect the visualization standards for
incoming raw materials, semi-finished products and
finished products, in order to further improve quality
control.

Hongbo Mining, as the Company's subsidiary for crude oil
production, has always deemed engineering quality as the
lifeline for its existence and development and inculcated
the management goal of “building top projects with
excellence in every detail” in the mind of every employee.
Besides strictly complying with national standards and
quality specifications for the petroleum and natural gas
industry, Hongbo Mining, in the light of the latest industry
standards every year and its own operational
characteristics, has amended a number of engineering
quality management systems including the Well Drilling
Engineering Quality Management System ({8 T2E &
EIE HE)), the Well Testing Engineering Quality
Management System (CAIH TR E = E 2§ /E)), the
Geological Well Logging Quality Management System ({1
H i E 28 EHIE)), the Downhole Operation Quality
Management System ((J TIEXE £ E 2 %1/ )) and the
Fracturing Engineering Quality Management System ( (/&
W TRREEEEHE)), analyzing equipment requirements,
operational procedures, acceptance standards, information
quality and others one by one to enhance the position
management and internal control system.
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In respect of product quality management, Hongbo Mining
has always asked their employees to focus on the three
dimensions of “safety, quality and speed”, where
managers have the whole picture in mind and pay attention
to details as well throughout the project by directly
controlling major processes, supervising key links,
eliminating all hazards, and strictly enforcing acceptance
standards. It has focused on the technical disclosure before
construction and acceptance of conditions for
commencement of construction, further promoted
workplace standardization and emphasized process control
in engineering. It has put in place a “three inspections”
system — self-inspection by the construction teams,
mutual inspection by collaborative entities, and special
inspection by the supervision department, to ensure its
effective implementation based on clear accountability. In
line with the principle of “fairness, justice and openness”,
Hongbo Mining has put the construction teams under
comprehensive oversight and management, conducted an
appraisal on them in extensive aspects including materials,
manning, construction progress, project quality, work
safety and environmental protection, and given rewards to
excellent construction teams, with clearly defined
punishments for failure to meet construction quality
standard and violations to operational requirements.
Through the combination of rewards and punishments,
Hongbo Mining has urged the engineering teams to learn
from other's strength to offset its weakness. Through
these measures, Hongbo Mining has a fairly
comprehensive quality supervision system in place.

Hongbo Mining has taken the following specific measures
to control product quality:

(1) engaging globally recognized third-party agencies to
perform product testing;

(2) increasing product quality testing frequency and
conducting product quality testing every half year;
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(3) increasing standby weighing equipment for sales to
improve weighing accuracy;

(4)  requesting the quality inspection authority to calibrate
its measuring equipment on a regular basis to
increase measuring equipment accuracy and avoid
measuring errors.

In addition, Hongbo Mining has strictly complied with
relevant regulations including the Measures for the
Administration of the Crude OQil Market (& i35 & 12 3
7)) and the Administrative Measures for Oil Prices ({f
B EIRYEHL)) for product pricing and sales.

Privacy Protection and Customer Relationship

By taking customer’s success as its own responsibility,
customer demand as its goal, and customer satisfaction as
its standard, the Company is committed to providing
customers with all-round and excellent customer services.
Our main customers are semiconductor chip manufacturers
and solar cell manufacturers.

In terms of customer satisfaction, during the reporting
period, we mainly understood our customers’ satisfaction
through regular phone calls and on-site visits by our field
service engineers, managers and directors, and addressed
and resolved the concerns of the customers concerned
accordingly after learning about them. During the reporting
period, we received verbal commendations from many
semiconductor and solar customers, such as delivering
machines for production ahead of schedule and supporting
customers’ product production in all respects. In addition,
Hongbo Mining is striving to build healthy customer
relationship, listen to customers’ opinions and suggestions,
and achieve continuous improvement in its service quality.
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The Company insists on protecting our customers’ privacy.
At present, our field service department has access to
some confidential information of customers in their daily
work, such as customers’ products, processes and
production plans. To protect the privacy of customers, our
service personnel have signed an information confidentiality
commitment with customers, and will strictly abide by the
confidentiality provisions of customers, such as not carrying
camera equipment and storage devices into the customer’s
office and confidential areas, and not inquiring about and
disseminating customers’ private information.

As for customer complaints, given that the Company's
customers are relatively concentrated, with service
personnel stationed on-site for main customers, customers
mainly make oral complaints on-site. After receiving a
customer complaint, the person in charge from our service
department will handle the problem according to its
severity and urgency, and our relevant departments will
provide support as well. Our service department will make
explanations to customers according to the specific
situation of customer complaints. For product problems,
we will coordinate and handle them internally. For example,
product design problems will be handled with the product
department and engineering department, and product
quality problems will be handled with the production quality
department, until the product design requirements are met.
To the largest extent, problems may be reported to the
head of the entire product line depending on their severity
and urgency. In order to enhance our customer service
quality, our service department has developed a customer
complaint record sheet to effectively track problems, record
their handling progress and close them for review. We are
striving to resolve customer complaints in a more
systematic and complete manner.

136 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

ARBBFHEPHORBILIRE -
BRIRSRGHFIEERETHE
TEBEIEFH-LREER
WMEFPEmM TBUAREES
E-RTREFTPRERNL  AQA
RBABHERBATEFEE T
EREAFE SBERETEP
MEBERERE MAETER
BT ESTERRXBEEARP
MARREZRE TR TE
BEFPHEBLESS -

EREFPIRFHE  ARFEBAME
HHEPFPHEYEEY FERFPAE
REBRBABRSE T - &F
REFETARBOBELF - HRN
EFPEF REHENERENR
RERE RBHAMIBEENE
EANETREBANES RFARQ
AIAEEM I I tb TR o &
HEPKRF RBIHEMgRER
BENL HEPETHRENRR-
HREREANMEE gETR
Bl 7 F AR IR - WNE mRFTEE
A EE I PR TR IBPIEITE
BM@R mELEEMBE B
HAEGSNPIEITEIBMARR
B RMEEMRFTHERABLE-R
ERENRERBEARE &5
GEEINEBHEERBEEBEA B
TTEHTEMEERPREMNE
2 -REFFAFIETELEFT
R RBUBHRIE R
EEVTHAREZ BOAREMR
S THENERAREPIRF o



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Izis

1.3

R BREARS

During the reporting period, Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of
the Company, did not receive any relevant complaints from
customers. Also, Hongbo Mining is committed to protecting
customer privacy in accordance with the law and has
included a confidentiality clause in contracts, among other
measures.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any
significant violation to the Company regarding product and
service liability and privacy matters. The Group did not
involve advertising and labeling in the process of providing
products.

Collaborative Supply and Orderly Management
Our suppliers include processing parts, standard parts, and
electrical parts production suppliers. In the selection,
bidding and inquiry process of suppliers, we have strict
requirements on their environmental protection, labor,
safety, quality and other aspects. Suppliers with
corresponding risks will be segregated. We will also take
the said into account in the supplier performance
assessment.

During the reporting period, the Group (excluding Hongbo
Mining) had a total of 499 suppliers, including 373 in
Eastern China, 89 in Southern China, 19 in Northern China,
9 in other regions of China, 9 in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan
and abroad. Of these, 499 suppliers have implemented
supplier access practices.

The service providers of Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the
Company, are divided into engineering contractors (27 in
total, including 10 in Xilin Gol League and 17 outside Xilin
Gol League) and material suppliers (111 in total, including
24 in Xilin Gol League and 87 outside Xilin Gol League
(excluding sporadic materials purchased on the
e-commerce platform)) by service type.
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With highly valuing the responsibility management on its
engineering contractors and material suppliers, Hongbo
Mining has strictly implemented its admission,
maintenance, management, post-service evaluation and
removal procedures on service providers. Hongbo Mining
has strictly controlled the environmental and social risks
that may be involved in the performance of its service
providers. During the commercial research, Hongbo Mining
focused on examining the relevant qualifications, and
strictly examined the qualifications of special operations,
flame retardant and explosion-proof, limited space
operations, and construction enterprises, as well as
certifications for quality management system,
environmental management system, occupational health
and safety management system, which might be involved
in various projects. The HSE contract will be signed
immediately after confirming the signing of the master
contract with the engineering service provider. Careful
screening is conducted to ensure the product quality of
each supplier which involves national standards, industry
standards and some enterprise standards as well as the
American Petroleum Institute (API) certification of key
materials. While eliminating the introduction of products
that are uncertified, dateless and produced by a nameless
factory, Hongbo Mining also adheres to the principle of not
purchasing products that are unsanitary, substandard or not
environmentally friendly. In addition, the environmental
performance of the products will be considered when
selecting suppliers so as to ensure the products we
purchase meet the requirements of the relevant
environmental indicators, and give priority to
environmentally friendly products under the same
conditions.
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The orderly processes for Hongbo Mining's supply

coordination management system include:

Conducting strict preliminary review, with a focus on
obtaining the background information of the
enterprise, such as the strength in technology,
management, capital and other aspects. Hongbo
Mining has established a service provider assessment
group with members comprising the heads of its
various business departments to select service
providers through tender and negotiation based on
the principles of quality first and fair competition;

In light of the accumulated experience and market
conditions over the years, analysing the cost structure
in detail, formulating reasonable price range, and
eliminating malicious competition through low price;

Signing HSE contracts with engineering contractors
and including them in Hongbo Mining's safety
management system, and organizing on-site
engineering contractors to attend the meetings on
safety convened by the safety and environmental
department of Hongbo Mining on a regular basis;

Focusing on strengthening process tracking and
enforcing comprehensive supervision by
implementing comprehensive management on
service providers to ensure high-quality services and
products;
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Further improving the requirements of construction
safety and product quality, and urging service
providers to renew ideas and upgrade equipment, in
order to advance with the times to achieve
technological progress and increase production
efficiency;

Conducting graded evaluation and regular quality
assessment of the products or services provided,
continuously improving the awareness of
responsibility and service ability of suppliers and
striving to build a sustainable service chain and supply
chain to achieve win-win and mutual development
with the suppliers;

Carrying out year-end inspection on major product
suppliers and visiting them to register and verify basic
information, inspecting their management systems
and having face-to-face communication with
managerial personnel in order to get a truthful
understanding and comprehensive assessment of
their business operation and reduce the operating risk
to a controllable level,

Procuring within a radius of approximately 1,500
kilometres surrounding the oilfields and from qualified
oilfield equipment manufacturers which hold API
certification and have been approved by China
National Petroleum Corporation and Sinopec Group,
based on the principle of mainly sourcing from
suppliers possessing certifications of ISO9001 quality
management system, ISO14001 environmental
management system and OHSAS18001 health
management system and complementing it with local
procurement of small spare parts, with all service
providers being confirmed in the Company's service
provider database under a well-documented
procedure-based system;
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° Strengthening internal control by optimizing the
Company’s material purchase process and strictly
approving the purchases, as well as optimizing the
responsibility system for excess or waste of material
storage to further deepen the concept of reasonable
procurement and proper use of materials in various
departments.

1.4 Community Services and Contribution to the

Society

The Group is committed to developing a platform for
communication with local community in line with the
guideline of “mutual benefit, win-win and common
development”. In terms of employment, the Group actively
arranged employment for the local community, with some
employees coming from the local community. The Group
did not carry out any other charity activities during the
reporting period.

Through the cooperation with the local governments, non-
profit organizations and non-governmental entities, the
Group has built a positive image within the local
community, created a harmonious social environment and
made contribution to the overall development and
harmonious improvement of the community. The
Company's subsidiary Hongbo Mining has established the
public relations department serving as the interface of
communication to listen to and understand their
expectations and concerns, increase mutual understanding,
respect local traditions and customs, and actively promote
community engagement, thereby delivering value on
different dimensions including job creation, environmental
protection, poverty alleviation, and tax payment and driving
and promoting local economic, social and cultural
development.
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1.5 Internal Control and Anti-corruption

Internal Control Management

In accordance with the Guidelines for the Internal Control
of the Group ({({EZE A FIEHELEFES])) and based on its
operating characteristics and management requirements of
different entities thereof, the Group sorted out and
optimized its current systems and processes with the
guidance of risk management and the principle of efficiency
and usefulness, so as to steadily promote the construction
of its internal control system and maximize its risk
prevention capability and operation management ability.

The Group has established a strict internal control process
to manage and supervise finance, procurement, inventory,
sales, fund management, human resources and other
aspects. Meanwhile, the Group has formulated detailed
processes and specifications to ensure all business
operations in line with relevant laws and regulations and
the Company's systems.

Anti-corruption

The Group strictly complies with laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption, anti-extortion, anti-fraud and anti-
money laundering including the Criminal Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({2 A R £ A B %)), the
Anti-money Laundering Law of the People’'s Republic of
China ({2 A R #H MBI R % 85%)) and the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (P LE 8 B8 1§ 51)). According to the
requirements of modern enterprise system, the Group has
proceeded in a way which combines clean governance and
business growth by building an ideological and institutional
firewall against corruption, which clearly provides the rights
and obligations of the shareholders’ meeting, the board of
directors and the management under a check and balance
mechanism where the decision making, management and
supervision functions are relatively independent from one
another, and inculcating correct values. The Group has
formulated the Regulations on Anti-corruption Management
((= B EE M E) and the Integrity and Reporting
Management System( (&R T & 5 & 32 %l £)). Its major
decisions were made under the principle of democratic
centralism to eliminate “rule by the voice of one man
alone"” or backroom dealing, and enforce coordination,
mutual supervision, and synergistic collaboration.
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The Group has established a comprehensive top-down
system, which requires to keep improving the systems in
various aspects such as corporate operation, procurement,
sales, project budget and final accounting, capital and
finance and strengthening corporate self-discipline and
internal control mechanisms. The Company’s subsidiary
Hongbo Mining requires service providers and contractors
to sign statements of honest practice to prevent
commercial bribery while encouraging employees to file
complaints or blow the whistle, through e-mail and the
designated hotline, directly by passing the immediate
leadership for non-compliance identified. If the non-
compliance is proven to be true, the responsible person will
be dismissed immediately, subject to further sanctions
through litigation if the circumstance is severe. This
represents an approach of combining process control and
violation punishment to prevent non-compliance.

The Company conducts investigations and inspections on
business processes that are subject to risks. The Company
conducts sample checks on finance, procurement, human
resources, and other aspects to timely identify and rectify
non-compliance.

As for reporting channel and handling procedures for
corruption, the Company has established strict reporting
mechanisms and procedures. Employees are able to report
anonymously or in real name through reporting channel.
The Company will strictly protect the privacy and rights of
the whistleblowers. All reports are to be investigated and
verified by the Company. Once the violation is validated,
involved person will be dealt with in accordance with laws
and regulations and subject to accountability.

Complaint Reporting Email:
PDT-tousu@pdt-techs.com

In order to protect the privacy of the whistleblower, the
Company maintains the identification thereof confidential
and no individual information thereof will be divulged.
Meanwhile, the whistleblower will be protected and cared
to ensure free from suppression and retaliation.
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The Group makes continuous innovation in education
methods and carries out in-depth education of honest
practices. On one hand, the Group has provided special
coverage of anti-corruption in the section headed “Basic
Literacy and Business Etiquettes of Employees” ({ & T #J
HEARESE NEEERE) in the induction training materials
and training video for new employees; on the other hand,
the Group has distributed the Employee Handbook (& T
F1)) which clearly prohibits deliberate fabrication, leakage
of confidential information, corruption, embezzlement,
misappropriation, dinner invitation and gift exchange among
the employees to improve employee loyalty and integrity.
During the reporting period, the Group has carried out the
training on contract signing compliance, and established a
complete set of standard processes for contract signing
and seal, to avoid corruption and improve its risk prevention
awareness and capability.

During the reporting period, the Group experienced no
litigation brought against it or its employees on corruption
charge, and there were no corruption-related violations that
had a significant impact on the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, ENERGY
CONSERVATION AND EMISSION
REDUCTION

Earth is the home for human survival. Protecting the Earth's
environment, reducing resource consumption, and optimizing the
utilization of resources are the incumbent obligation of the Group
as an enterprise citizen. The Group has always strictly followed
the laws, regulations and policies on resource preservation and
environmental protection, including Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China ((fF % A R £ MBIIRIE(R
#7%)) and Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of
China ({2 A R B 49 82 JR)%)). The Group has been
committed to fulfilling its environmental responsibilities by
increasing investment in energy conservation and emissions
reduction as well as environmental protection, to increase
resource utilization efficiency, reduce pollutant emissions, and
mitigate the impact on the ecological environment in the
operating regions.

The Company continues to strengthen its environmental and
energy management and has initiated the certification of its
environmental management system and energy management
system. During the reporting period, the Group did not have any
environmental pollution and ecological damage accidents, or
waste management violation events.
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Emissions Management

The Group has strictly complied with the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({(#F 2 A
REFBEIRERS
China on Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution
((FREE AR HMEI KRR RI8%)), Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes ({1 % A
R AN B [E] B2 B 975 2 3R 3R BT 08 0K)), Water Law of the
People’'s Republic of China ({1 % A R EFMEIKE)), Law
of the People’'s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution ({f 2E A R H£ M B K )5 20558
J&)), Environmental Impact Assessment Laws of the
People’s Republic of China ({2 A R £ HIRIEF LY
{&7%)) and other related pollution prevention laws, and

#7%)), Law of the People's Republic of

Regulation on Urban Drainage and Sewage Treatment ({3
$E BE 7K B2 35 7K BE 2 1§ 51)) and Administrative Regulations
on Environmental Protection for Construction Projects ({7
FHEEHRBEREETR

pursue the concepts of energy conservation, consumption

1% 1)). The Group will continue to

reduction, and environmental protection to reduce
emissions at the source. We will always keep the long-
term goal of promoting the process of emission, waste
management and environmental protection, and finally
realize the concept of a recycling economy and follow the
path of sustainable development.

PDT Xuzhou, the Company’s subsidiary, has formulated the
System of Maintenance Management for the Operation of
Factory Equipment ({75 s B 1THEE R IR EIZHIE)),
Regulations on Safety Management of Hazardous
Chemicals ((ElR{t B2 RmEE2 EIEHTE)),
management systems related to emissions, which

and other

respectively specifies the treatment process of exhaust
gas, waste, and other emissions, as well as the whole
process of chemicals from purchase, storage, claim, use to
dispose of, for the purpose of controlling the management
and disposal of emissions strictly.
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Hongbo Mining, the Company's subsidiary, has formulated
Rules on Environmental Protection Management (R IE£R
HEE B P5)), Management System for Protecting 212 Oil
Region Environment (€212 [& 37 3% (R & B 12 /2 ), Bye-
laws for Handover in Oil Well Operations ({1 #1222 #+
48 A1), Bye-laws for Well Drilling, Withdrawal after Well
Completion and Handover ({1 2 #& 3 52 H #U% X H 41 B1)))
and Hongbo Mining Hazardous Waste Safe Disposal
Management Rules ({ ZIEBEEEREN L 2R EEEH
7%)). The Management Rules have clear provisions in six
major aspects such as environmental protection measures,
environmental impact assessment, “three simultaneous”
management, environmental hidden danger management,
environmental monitoring and environmental performance
evaluation. The Management System for Oil Region is
tailored to specific oil regions, including vehicle route
planning, daily environmental health maintenance and
garbage collection in well site, storage of materials and
waste & scraps, and deployment of impervious cloth, and
ensures that various departments and teams fulfill their due
responsibilities. Bye-laws for Handover standardize the
environmental management requirements for handover and
withdrawal after completion.

2.1.1 Waste Management

The Group complies with the management policies
on the Implementation Plan for Domestic Waste
Classification System ({AEJE BT 2 BHIE E M7 %))
issued by the State in its daily operations, classifies
and disposes of waste, and has established
corresponding disposal specifications for different
types of waste.
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Meanwhile, all oil and gas exploitation projects of
Hongbo Mining are contracted, but Hongbo Mining is
responsible for supervision of waste transfer and
storage of the contractors. Hongbo Mining attaches
great importance to waste generation, reducing,
gathering, transport, storage and disposal. Typically,
Hongbo Mining signs a service contract with a project
contractor before starting the project, supervises its
waste disposal, and conducts strict acceptance
inspection of waste disposal. By promoting
technological innovation, improving management
mechanisms, adopting centralized recovery, and
improving utilization efficiency, Hongbo Mining has
been continuously advancing non-hazardous disposal
and recycling of waste.
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Waste Gas Emissions

BB AR

Total hazardous waste emissions (t)

Oil sludge (t)
Acid waste liquid (t)
Liquid chemicals packaging '
Intensity of hazardous wastes
(kg/HK$'000 of revenue from
sales and service)
Total non-hazardous waste
emissions (t)
Wiaste plastic products (t)

Waste packaging materials (t)

Scrap metal (t)

Domestic waste (t)

Intensity of non-hazardous wastes

(kg/HK$'000 of revenue from
sales and service)

I

BEEBEENEELES (W)
8 e (I8 )
P& RE R (ME)
RE(EER B (M)
BEEREDELTE
(Fr/TFTHETHE
MR U A)
BEREZEYELES (M)

BRI B o (WR)
REZ B EMFL (W)
BEENTE (M)
AR R (WR)
(Fr/FTETHE
A ARFEUA)

fERIA -

FY2023 FY2022
TECCZHE il ies
35.07 20.18
14.07 0.18
20.00 20.00
1.00 -
0.065 0.036
60.20 58.30
2.00 2.00
2.20 0.20
1.00 0.90
63.50 55.20
0.110 0.103

L We strengthened the management of waste generation data for the year by including the data collection and statistics for the waste category of

“liquid chemicals packaging”
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Hazardous Waste

Hazardous wastes generated by the Group's pan-
semiconductor business are mainly: acid waste liquid
(nitric acid, hydrofluoric acid, sulfuric acid, phosphoric
acid, acetic acid, hydrochloric acid) and the containers
of chemical liquids. The acid waste liquid mainly
comes from the machine data simulation experiment
process carried out according to customers’
requirements. Specifically, wafers are put into the
cleaning equipment with various chemicals as the
experimental process required, and are cleaned with
chemicals during the equipment cleaning process
after the experiment. Thereafter, the acid wastes will
be collected in large buckets and temporarily stored
in the chemical hazardous waste warehouse. All the
collected waste liquids will be delivered to qualified
hazardous waste treatment manufacturers for
disposal at the end.

The Group has adopted various measures to reduce
the generation of various hazardous wastes:

° Reuse: reuse the reusable packaging containers
as much as possible to reduce the amount of
waste thereof.

U Reduce packaging: select products with less
packaging and readily recycled as much as
possible to reduce packaging waste.

o Environmental protection awareness:
strengthen environmental protection education
to enhance employees’ environmental
protection awareness, which is the basis of
reducing the generation of waste.
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The Group has been emphasizing the management
and treatment of hazardous waste and will continue
to strengthen its efforts in hazardous waste
management in the future. We have adopted a full-
chain supervision to evaluate the entire process of
hazardous substance generation and manage the
hazardous waste throughout the entire process
covering procurement, receipt, storage, distribution,
use and disposal. The specific measures are as
follows:

° Strengthen the classification and identification
of hazardous waste. We have established sound
classification standards and identification
methods to ensure that hazardous wastes are
correctly identified and disposed of during the
treatment process.

° Promote advanced hazardous waste treatment
technologies. We have introduced and
promoted advanced hazardous waste treatment
technologies, such as biological treatment,
chemical treatment, physical treatment to
improve the efficiency and quality of hazardous
waste treatment.

° Establish a sound monitoring and tracing
mechanism. We have established a sound
monitoring and tracing mechanism to monitor
and trace the disposal process of hazardous
waste to ensure that the waste is disposed of
legally and safely.

° Continue to strengthen staff training and
awareness education. We publicize and
popularize the knowledge and treatment
methods of hazardous waste to employees, and
improve employees’ environmental protection
awareness and environmental protection
literacy.
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In the future, the Group will continue to explore and

research the technologies and methods in respect of

hazardous waste disposal, and further improve and

standardize the disposal process of hazardous waste.

The Group adopted the following hazardous waste

disposal management measures during the course of

its office operation:

(1)

Hazardous waste containers are provided in the
office area, clearly labelled according to the
classification of hazardous waste, and managed
by dedicated staff.

Hazardous waste sites shall be facilitated with
functions protecting from the sun, rain, leaks
and re-entrainment of dust.

Hazardous waste should be transferred to
property cleaners by adopting safe and non-
contaminating packaging materials and
methods, and taking effective measures to
prevent spillage, dispersion and breakage.
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The Group is committed to reducing hazardous waste
by saving the use of office supplies such as toner and
ink cartridges and batteries, adopting paperless
network office as much as possible and reducing use
of paper documents, reducing the use of light in
office areas during the day and night time to extend
lamp life, and replacing traditional mercury
thermometers with sensing devices for temperature
measurement. It is worth mentioning that Hongbo
Mining has recycled all waste toner cartridges by
adding carbon powder and did not generate any
hazardous office waste including waste toner
cartridge during the reporting period.

In addition to the above mentioned situations at
office, another hazardous waste resulting from the
crude oil exploitation, treatment, storage and
formation testing activities of Hongbo Mining is oil
sludge, which comprises paraffin wax coagulated
from crude oil, heavy oil deposited on tank bottoms
of the gathering and transportation station, flocs
formed by cleaning agents during wastewater
treatment, and waste resulting from equipment and
pipeline corrosion. These substances are toxic to
some extent, have flammable characteristics and, if
directly discharged without proper treatment, will
cause pollution to the surrounding soil, water and air;
and if landfilled without remediation, will cause
serious pollution to underground water and seriously
damage the existing ecosystem such as trees and
vegetation.
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Hongbo Mining has formulated the Hongbo Mining
Plan for Managing Hazardous Waste ({ Z1EIE ¥ &%
EEYE T &) regarding hazardous waste collection
and disposal, with a dedicated environmental
protection officer responsible for having the
equipment cleansed on a regular basis and
supervising relevant personnel to transport hazardous
wastes to the gathering and transportation station for
centralised disposal, where oil sludge and other
wastes are converted to non-hazardous wastes
through a series of processes including heating,
filtration, precipitation and dehydration. This work is
contracted to a local certified hazardous waste
disposal company. Being committed to environmental
protection, Hongbo Mining has engaged a
professional team to expand the sewage treatment
system, which significantly improved treatment
capacity and reduced the adverse impact of sewage
on pipelines. Meanwhile, Hongbo Mining has taken
effective measures to reduce oil sludge, including
injecting liquid active solvents into producing wells
and washing the wax deposited on well walls and
bottoms with high-temperature liquid on a regular
basis; and washing pipelines with neutral or faintly
acid aqueous solutions to accelerate breakdown of
coagulations and sediments and achieve grease and
grime removal.
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Non-hazardous Waste

The main non-hazardous waste generated by the
Group's pan-semiconductor business is the packaging
of procured materials, which mainly includes wooden
cubes, wooden pallets, wooden crates, air bubble
films, wrapping films, waterproof cloths, aluminium
films, textured paper tapes, plastic tapes, plastic
bags, countersunk hexagonal bolts, and self-tapping
nails. In terms of packaging material management,
we are committed to the recycling of resources, for
example, some packaging materials such as wooden
cubes and waterproof cloths will be recycled. We try
to reduce the use of wooden crates and use wooden
pallets for transport, so as to save wood. In addition,
non-hazardous waste generated during the operations
of the Group also includes non-recyclable domestic
waste, as well as other wastes, including plastic
packaging materials of purchased equipment, scrap
metal (such as tools, wires and parts), discarded
plastic bottles and wastepaper. However, we
continuously strive to optimize waste management to
achieve more environmentally friendly and sustainable
operations. The Group has taken a series of measures
to reduce the generation of various types of non-
hazardous waste:

U Reaching a consensus with suppliers to
minimise the use of disposable plastic products
and maximise the use of reusable materials,
subject to the safety of packaging materials.

° Dismantling and transforming the waste
wooden pallets to be used as packaging bases
for the shipment of the Company’s products.

BEEZERY

AEBEZYBREBELN
TEEEERVARBEDN
MINEE  HEAXETEZEHE
KT ~AKFE-KE KRB
B BeR mfH- B2
IR EXBMERBRE B2
BRAKNEARENR
B 4hE - EBMEREN
| BB RNE R R
BARA - PR M &
Mo EMEETER - HES
HIARE BB ER D KM
MR - MEZHRAKRE
HEITER - BN AERERE
BEBRETFELANEETRER
W)IE BFE N AT U AR
T AREHMERY B
BEREEONEHNBEM
BBEENEE(WTAE &
ARANEDAF) - BE R B R A
KNERE -MEMFESZD
BILEEYER UERE
MRREMATFFENEE - K
£ E 2 BB — R 51 45 5 AR
PEREERREMNEL

o HEHEHMEAHAR A
BEYHZEZERT
BERDER KM
PR BEEA
BERERANTH -

<

A

e BEAREETIHMER
& AERARREME
ERNBRKE-

ZERNRERAA / F8H2024 153



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
W% 8 REARE

154

The Group has always been committed to exploring
and practicing the concept of sustainable
development and contributing to the realisation of
environmental protection and energy conservation
and emission reduction. In respect of non-hazardous
waste, the Group has proposed the subsequent
working plan based on the current working progress:

1. To strengthen the management of waste
separation:

o Promoting in-depth separation of domestic
waste for treatment, so as to realise
resource recovery and waste reduction.

o Enhancing the classification, storage and
disposal of waste during the production
process to minimise the generation of
waste and increase the utilisation of
resources.
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2. To promote green office and reducing waste:

° Advocating paperless office, double-sided
paper use and reuse of copy paper.

o Promoting office online and electronic
circulation to reduce the use of paper
documents.

° Reducing the use of paper and plastic
cups and promoting the use of glass cups
instead.

° Advocating reducing take-away meals,
treasuring food, and reducing food waste.

In conclusion, the Group is committed to reducing the
generation of various types of non-hazardous waste
plastics, waste wood, wastepaper and waste at
source, and adopts effective treatment measures for
such waste to minimise the impact on the
environment and contribute to sustainable
development.
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In addition, in the actual implementing process, the
Group separates non-hazardous wastes by type, with
packaging materials and scrap metal being handed
over to qualified solid waste disposal companies,
waste such as paper and plastic bottles that cannot
be reused being sent to separate drop-off areas for
recycling, and domestic waste being stored and
managed by category and being strictly prohibited to
be discharged directly into sewers and public toilets
and instead, being disposed of in the perishable
waste collection bins in office and production sites.
Subsidiaries with their own facilities are required to
establish temporary waste storage facilities to
prevent waste leakage, and waste shall be
transported to sites designated by government
authorities periodically for centralised disposal by the
relevant department.

Moreover, the Company’s subsidiary, Hongbo Mining
has striven to reduce the generation of non-hazardous
wastes by tackling their sources through multiple
effective measures, including: adopting new
techniques such as using the sucker rod centraliser
and oil tube lining to reduce the eccentric wear
caused by long-term sucker rod trips on the oil tube,
extending the workover intervals of oil wells, and
reducing waste pipes caused by sucker rod fray;
maintaining, repairing and treating for corrosion
resistance pipelines and oil tube on a regular basis to
extend their service life; using neutral detergents to
extend the service life of pipelines and equipment;
repairing and reusing decommissioned pipelines, with
the decommissioned pipelines being put into use
again safely after expiration of service life accounting
for approximately 25% of decommissioned pipelines.
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2.1.2 Wastewater Management

The wastewater generated by the Group's pan-
semiconductor business mainly includes cleaning
water and domestic wastewater generated during the
course of daily office work, as well as the stratum
sewage generated by the Company’'s subsidiary,
Hongbo Mining in its production process.

The Group has strictly complied with relevant laws
and regulations and national, local and industry
standards including Water Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({F #E A R HE M EKJ%E)), Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution ({2 A R £ HF K5 2
536 7%)) and Integrated Wastewater Discharge
Standard (57K %R & BERUE 4E) (GB 8978-1996)). By
taking the measures of “locating the source,
controlling the process, utilising by different levels
and recycling” and based on the principle of source
control and recycling, Hongbo Mining collects the
sewage generated during crude oil exploitation
through the gathering and transportation station for
separation from the crude oil and sedimentation, and
then injects it back to the stratum after wastewater
treatment to facilitate oil exploitation. The whole
system is a closed loop where the wastewater can
be fully recycled, thereby achieving zero emission.

Wastewater Emissions
BEK BB R

HTEEKBERE (MR)

Domestic sewage discharge (t)

All the domestic sewage was treated centrally by the
staff of property companies, and then such domestic
sewage was biologically degraded to meet the
discharge standard and used for vegetation irrigation.
The Group timely provided drinking water through
direct drinking water purification equipment to avoid
wastage.
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2.1.3 Waste Gas Management

The main waste gas generated during the operation
of the Group’s pan-semiconductor business is acid
waste gas, which is from the machine acceptance
experiment carried out according to the customer’s
requirements after the machine is finished. It can be
ignored as it is very small in amount and generated
on a non-continuous basis, and will be neutralized in
the scrubber.

In addition, the air pollutants generated by Hongbo
Mining (a subsidiary of the Company) from its
business operation are mainly sulphur dioxide,
oxynitride and soot resulting from natural gas
combustion of its heating furnaces and generating
units and petrol and diesel combustion.
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Particulate matter emissions (t) BRI E () 0.52 0.56
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To reduce the impact of its business operation on the
atmospheric environment, Hongbo Mining has
adopted the corresponding eco-friendly measures,
including adding natural gas collection devices to all
wellheads for centralized recycling; replacing oil well
maintenance equipment with oil and gas dual-purpose
boilers or pure gas-fired boilers for heating;
strengthening vehicle management by strictly
controlling the number of vehicles and reducing
frequency of use; and continuing to phase out large-
displacement and high fuel consumption engineering
vehicles in a planned way to reduce petrol and diesel
consumption. According to the environmental impact
assessment report provided by a third-party agency
throughout the project construction period, the
occupancy rate of atmospheric pollutant emission
emitted by Hongbo Mining was only 0.23%,
indicating that its business operation does not have a
significant impact on ambient air quality.
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2.2 Use and Management of Resources

2.2.1 Energy Management

The Group has always strictly complied with and
implemented relevant requirements of laws,
regulations and policies on resource preservation and
environmental protection, including Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({7
= AR KEFERFIR#E L)), Energy Conservation
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({#F % A R
B &5 47 8 R 5% )) and strictly following the
Comprehensive Work Plan for Energy Conservation
and Emission Reduction during the 14th Five-year
Plan Period ({[+ MU F ] & gE B HE4R & T1EH ),
committed to becoming a resource-saving enterprise
and fulfilling its environmental responsibilities by
increasing investment in energy conservation,
emissions reduction and environmental protection,
increasing resource utilization efficiency, while taking
effective measures to reduce pollutant emissions,
therefore ensuring environmental and ecological
protection in the operating regions. The Group targets
to improve the utilization efficiency of energy in terms
of energy management, and maximize the
environmental and economic benefits of energy use
on the premise of meeting operational activities.

The energy mainly consumed by the Group during
business operation is electricity, which is mainly used
in the production of wind turbine filter units and
equipment test, etc. We strictly control the use of
energy: we install meters for various energies under
our jurisdiction to effectively control energy
consumption, organize staff-wide and professional
energy-saving training and publicity activities and
organize meter checks and reading to ensure accurate
measurement and reasonable apportionment,
maintain a strict overview of energy expenses and
seriously handle violations of energy management
regulations in accordance with the rules and
regulations. The lower limit of air-conditioning
temperature setting in summer and the upper limit of
air-conditioning temperature setting in winter are
adjusted according to season changes.
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During the reporting period, the Group has taken the

following measures for energy-saving purpose:

(1)

Save electricity for air-conditioning. We strictly
implement air-conditioning temperature control
standards and make full use of natural
ventilation. The indoor temperature by air-
conditioning may not be lower than 26°C in
summer nor higher than 20°C in winter.
“Reducing by 1 hour for air-conditioning
operation per day” has been set as a part of the
energy-saving system. The air conditioner
should be turned off when nobody is in the
office.

Save electricity for lighting. The offices are
installed energy-saving lamps for lighting. The
office area with good natural lighting shall make
full use of natural light during the day. At night,
the number of lights for lighting should be
minimized in the public areas of the building
(including toilets). The lighting during the day
and permanent lighting should not be occurred.
Except for major festivals and holidays,
decorative lights may not be turned on.

Save electricity for office equipment. Power
saving mode should be set when office
equipment is not in use. If office equipment is
not used for a long time, it should be shut down
in time to reduce energy consumption for
standby. We will accelerate the elimination of
high-energy consumption office equipment.
Newly purchased electrical office equipment
must label with the required energy efficiency
label. During holidays and non-working hours,
electrical equipment such as computers should
be turned off in time.
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It is strictly prohibited to connect the lights or
sockets without permission. High power electric
appliances such as electric stove, heating
machine, electric cup and electric heater are
prohibited. If it is necessary to use such
appliances, it shall be approved by the
administrative department.

Save office supplies. We promote the network
and paperless office, and advocate saving paper
by controlling the number of papers for printing,
photocopying and the distribution of written
materials.

Standardize the office supplies procurement
procedures. We strictly approve and control the
quantity of office supplies distributed,
encourage the reuse of such office supplies and
implement the wasted paper recycling in the
offices.

Reasonably arrangement of transportation for
going out, and priority shall be given to the
public transportation for business travel.

In addition to the above, Hongbo Mining as an oil and

gas production enterprise, its main sources of energy

consumption also include electricity for well site

equipment, gas and oil gathering and transmission,

and water filling; petrol for cars for inspection and

supervision purposes; diesel for engineering vehicles,

generators for well sites without grid connection, and

domestic heating on project site in winter; and natural

gas as domestic fuel and for winter heating and

combustion-based electricity generation.
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In daily management, Hongbo Mining has actively
responded to the call for energy conservation and
environmental protection with an aim to improve
energy efficiency. Hongbo Mining has formulated
vehicle management systems, such as the
Outsourcing Vehicle Management System ({4) & &
B IZHI/E)) and Measures for the Administration of
Regenerative Vehicle of the Company ({2 7] EL#j &
¥1%E i1 %)) to control the use of vehicles more
effectively so as to manage the consumption of
petrol. Hongbo Mining had installed GPS monitoring
system on all engineering vehicles to dispatch
vehicles reasonably and effectively, plan routes and
raise working efficiency, as well as reduce fuel
consumption. Hongbo Mining reduced domestic
electricity consumption and turned off non-essential
lighting facilities, upgraded the nighttime lighting in
the living area into sound-controlled lighting to reduce
the overall energy consumption of the lighting
system. As for the electricity consumption of oil well,
it applied measures such as intermittent operation
and lower stroke times on low yield oil pumping
wells. According to the temperature changes, Hongbo
Mining shut down the wellhead electric heating belt
in time to minimize the power consumption under the
precondition of ensuring routine production. Hongbo
Mining also formulated and published the Special
Emergency Plan for Double Control of Energy
Consumption ({8 # & 15 F 18 fE 2 78 &) according

to the actual energy consumption.
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Energy Consumption FY2023 FY2022
BERHERR —EC=HE
Total power consumption (kWh) mrEEs (TRRE) 8,790,018 7,441,132
Petrol consumption () 717EE SEREE (WF) 29.82 26.05
Diesel consumption (t) ‘rbiEE SHAEE () 111.62 102.26
Diesel consumption RS RE ()
by equipment (1) 62.76 52.53
Diesel consumption by LemEE S R = (1)
diesel powered vehicles () 48.86 49.73
Associated natural gas consumption 4 XA RIEFES
(10,000 normal cubic metres) (BIRE F5K) 182.42 197.10
Comprehensive energy AR ERER?
consumption? (1,000 kWh) (1 F FLBF) 30,211.54 30,295.18
Intensity of comprehensive energy 4174 8ERE FE58 €
consumption (kWh/HK$'000 of (FEE/THEITHE
revenue from sales and services) M ARTE A 55.57 53.38

Calculation on standard coal coefficient of this indicator performed with reference to converted standard coal coefficient data in China Energy
Statistical Yearbook ({2 B gE /R £t 5t £ 28 ) and General Principles for Calculation of the Comprehensive Energy Consumption ({424 et E @A)
(GB/T 2589-2020), etc.

Z ZIEEME RIS Z(PRERAT FE) R e s 5@ ) (GB/T 2589-2020) % -
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2.2.2 Water Resource Management

The Group’'s water resource mainly used for
equipment test and daily life of its employees, of
which water for daily life of its employees includes
daily drinking and cleaning. The Company has
formulated the Management System for the
Operation, Maintenance and Repair of Factory
Equipment (KRS R B EITHE R EREE T E))
and achieving water conservation by the following
ways:

(1)

Formulate water consumption plan, establish
water consumption records, set up water
consumption targets and monitor water
consumption regularly. Compare and analyse
the recording data on water consumption from
the property management staff on a monthly
basis, and take effective measures to inspect
the pipeline network once irregularities are
identified.

Optimise the water consumption processes,
reduce wastewater discharge, increase water
efficiency, take a closed water recycling system,
recover recycled water resource and reduce
water consumption.

Save water in bathrooms: strengthen routine
maintenance and management of water
equipment and prevent water from running for
long time; replace the manual flushing systems
for the toilets of the production workshops
where there is a heavy and frequent use with
an advanced photoelectric-response rationed
flushing system, which is able to intelligently
sense the user to leave, and ration according to
the actual need to release the appropriate
amount of water for flushing, so as to ensure a
clean bathroom, but also significantly reduce
the unnecessary use of water, thereby achieving
high efficiency in water conservation effect; put
up water-saving signs in the prominent sites
with announcing maintenance calls.
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Save water for greens: encourage recycling use
of water.

Strengthen the maintenance and transformation
of facilities: conduct regular inspection and
maintenance on water supply facilities, carefully
conduct inspection on pipe network, especially
pay attention to the usage of pre-embedded
pipes, and repair in time when problems are
found to prevent dripping and leakage.

Enhance the water-saving awareness of
employees and encourage them to start with
trivial things and actively participate in water
conservation activities.

Besides, the main sources of water consumption

from Hongbo Mining, as an oil and gas production

enterprise, also include water use for well

maintenance, water injection to supplement

producing energy and increase oil recovery, and a

small amount of domestic water. The goal of water

resource management of Hongbo Mining is to

achieve 100% produced water treatment, 100%

produced water reinjection, and efficient and

controlled use of fresh water.
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In its production and operation process, Hongbo
Mining has adopted specific measures in the
following aspects to conserve water resource:

° Adopting clean production processes and
implementing water saving practices to increase
water recycling and reduce water withdrawal.

o Ensuring effective day-to-day maintenance,
keeping the pipeline network in normal working
condition, guaranteeing safe water supply, and
prevent pipeline seepage, with all anti-seepage
measures having a permeability coefficient of
less than 1.0 X 107cm?¥/s.

o Cleaning wells with treated wastewater, which
not only reduces the use of flushing fluid but
also mitigates pollution and damage to oil
reservoir, and recycling flushing fluid.

Water resource consumption

KERHEERR =
Fresh water consumption FECEREZE (LK)

(cubic metre)
Intensity of fresh water OB RE

consumption (cubic metre/ (MLFK/FHETHE

HK$'000 of revenue from sales AR W A)
and services)

During the reporting period, the Group did not have
any problems in obtaining suitable water sources and
there was no violation.

ZERNRERAA / F8H2024
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2.3 Ecological Protection in Operating Regions

Land Rehabilitation

Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the Company, is mainly
engaged in the development and construction of oil fields.
Oil field development and construction will create a new
artificial ecosystem, and its environmental impact is mainly
shown as the excavated areas being not entirely
rehabilitated, leading to reduced vegetation coverage,
vegetation biomass loss, and impaired vegetation structure.
Based on the guidelines of relevant documents such as the
Guidance on Gradual Establishment of the Responsibility
Mechanism for Environment Control and Ecology Recovery
of Mine Fields (CBIR & 2 2 BB ILIRIB AR R A REIRIBE
EH#H85E Z B)) and the Notice on Matters Relating to
Reporting and Review of Land Rehabilitation (B8R 44k £+
018 2R 4R M 28 &5 G A R B A9 3@ AN)), Hongbo Mining has
formulated and issued its in-house Land Rehabilitation Plan
({18 28 5 & )), which combines rehabilitation
engineering and project development with the focus on
comprehensive environment management for construction
projects by prioritizing ecology protection and implementing
ecological restoration by integrating a succession of
measures including land levelling, topsoil coverage,
forestation and grass plantation to achieve “exploiting while
rehabilitating”. All projects of Hongbo Mining have passed
the acceptance inspection of national environmental
protection authorities.

PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

2.3 EELRERE

T ERER
ARAIMB AR R BEELTEE
TRHERBESR BEAEER
SR ALERRZS B
ERENFEIZRAAFAEER
REHZE2ME SHHRER
BEERE EREVWEBEL
BREERBRTEBE 2B BEXEM
BE(ANE TR BILIREIGIE
MAEERRBEEERBINIEEER)
(AR B T HERERNEESS
7R RE R B AN SRR SR B A
BB R RINIM(LER
FE) BEBRIEBMARTIRE
TES EHBEREREERB
BRREERE TERELE K
Mt FE -RLBZ BUEA
TEN BERKESREE AP
EEAERME  BIR[ERK - &
B2 - FTAEEYIEMNABER
IRIRIBPIBRUK -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Izis

24

tE RERRSE

Biodiversity Conservation

The Company places great emphasis on biodiversity
conservation, strictly adhering to relevant laws and
regulations such as the Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({(FF#E A R X FHIRIFER#E
7)), the Forestry Law of the People’s Republic of China
((p AR A E & #E)), and the Regulations on the
Implementation of the Forestry Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({/ #E A & £ A B £7 MRO0E & 1 15 51)).
The requirements for biodiversity conservation are
integrated into all stages of project development and daily
production operations. It is also the responsibility of the
Company to protect the ecological environment where we
operate. Having considered the opinions and suggestions
of experts and East Ujimgin Banner Ecology Bureau and
the location of Hongbo Mining, i.e. Inner Mongolia, Hongbo
Mining chooses to plant forages suitable for the local soil
environment and climate, such as elymus dahuricus,
caragana korshinskii, alfalfa, astragalus huangheensis and
tartary buckwheat, and aspens good for survival, protects
wild animals around the well site, strictly prohibits hunting
and lays underground pipes in living areas for irrigation of
surrounding plants.

Tackling Climate Change

The Group has been continuously paying attention to the
opportunities and challenges brought by sustainable
development and climate change. We are actively
responding to the carbon peaking goal and carbon neutrality
vision set by the national government, and leveraging our
resources as an enterprise to respond to climate change
and promote ecological civilization and high-quality green
development. The Company has established the EHS
(Environment, Health and Safety) Committee to analyze the
potential impact of climate change risks on the business.
The EHS Committee timely takes measures to mitigate and
respond to related risks, and make collective decisions in
respective of environment-related matters.
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Climate-related risks include transitional risks associated
with a lower-carbon economy and physical risks associated
with climate change impact. Transitional risks can be
categorised into policy and legal risks, technology risks,
market risks and reputation risks, while physical risks
include acute risk (mainly single events such as typhoon,
flood and other extreme weather), and chronic risk
(referring to longer-term shifts in climate pattern like
sustained higher temperatures).

In terms of physical risks, the Group pays attention to the
impact of extreme weather on production and business
operations, and identifies natural disasters, extreme
weather or adverse meteorological conditions that may
affect our business operations, for example:

(1) Hongbo Mining monitors the trend in climate change
and the occurrence of extreme weather, as well as
the impact on the area in which the enterprise is
operating. Hongbo Mining pays attention to the
realtime local weather forecast and meteorological
forecast of geological disasters issued by relevant
authorities, and will release alerts through WeCom
working group, production meetings and other
channels, so as to avoid outdoor operation and
transportation during extreme weather.

(2)  Hongbo Mining will strengthen the maintenance of
backup power generators in domestic site, gathering
and transportation station and production well site,
and practically implement the pilot operation system
to ensure the power supply for living and production
in the event of large-scale and prolonged electricity
outages due to extreme weather.

(3)  Hongbo Mining will prepare sufficient materials
necessary for production and living, mainly including
grain, oil, vegetables and diesel required for backup
power generators.
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(4)  Hongbo Mining will keep one excavator on standby
during the winter to remove snow in time from roads
in case of road closure due to heavy snowfall, so as
to ensure the outward transportation of crude oil and
the availability of the roads around the well site, and
reduce the losses caused by extreme weather to
production and operation.

(5)  Hongbo Mining will analyze the geographical regions
and industry chain elements involved in the
Company’s supply chain to assess its sensitivity and
vulnerability to climate change.

(6) Hongbo Mining will assess the Company’s consumption
of resources, including water, energy and raw materials,
as well as its impact on, and the extent to which it is
affected by, climate change.

In terms of transitional risks, on policy and legal risks, as
the community becomes more aware of climate change
and relevant national policies related to carbon peaking and
carbon neutrality targets are implemented, the places
where we operate may increase energy prices, set caps on
energy use, expend the coverage of paid GHG emissions or
increase other environmental regulatory requirements, all
of which could lead to an increase in the operating costs.
We will actively respond to the relevant national policies
related to carbon emissions and gradually adapt to the
requirements of carbon emission reduction during
production and operation.
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The Group has thoroughly implemented national AEEEREEHERRRERE
environmental protection guidelines and policies and strictly HoBER EREEHRERE T3F
controlled its GHG emissions. Carbon dioxide is the major We RABEEEKEBREPE
GHG generated in the Company's production and operation, ERRERBTER Sk
which is primarily the emission from indirect GHG (Scope BFrEAMEAERE (BE2?)
23) originated from purchased electricity. Moreover, Hongbo HIHERL - ZRERINEE S o Bt -
Mining, the Company’s subsidiary, generates carbon MEARRERELRBEE -
dioxide in crude oil production, collection, transmission and SHNEEREFeEELE AL
processing activities, among which Scope 12 emissions of - ERREEESHE1PHERE
Hongbo Mining are mainly from the following sources: BEARATAREIRE -
e GHG emissions resulting from diesel combustion for o FARMKHMEEZEBES
power in oil-water well maintenance activities; RIEAB) IR S IR E £
KB = RES
e GHG emissions resulting from natural gas combustion s HAEBHEAHKTRANREEM
for oil and gas transmission pipeline heating and RN A R B R ZEER R A G
domestic heating in winter; RAREEWBREREE
. GHG emissions resulting from well testing release, . EEBRERHAFmRE - Iéii
process release and escape during production. MERFARERELERRR
A8 e
GHG Emissions FY2022
BERBHERER
Total GHG emissions BREREBHMESE
(tCO, equivalent) (M —RfLiREE 12,957.08 13,407.01
Scope 1 GHG BERBHE1HHRE
emissions* (tCO, equivalent) (o—EikEgE 3,865.85 4,176.96
Scope 2 GHG BERESE2EEME
emissions® (tCO, equivalent) (W — A LiREE 9,071.23 9,230.05
Intensity of GHG BEREERGEE
emissions (tCO, equivalent/ (M — SR E &
HK$'000 of revenue from T TTIHE MR A
sales and service) 0.024 0.024
9 In accordance with Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs published by the Stock Exchange, Scope 1 emissions are direct GHG

emissions from operations that are owned or controlled by the company and Scope 2 emissions are “indirect energy” GHG emissions resulting
from the purchased or acquired electricity, heating, cooling and steam consumed within the company.

8 RIBH T A8 =  IRIBRREBUER BRIESDFHAE @B 1 AREHAREE RSN ESEREENAZREHRN  €E24
HERBRAAEERE (BRZRMKEGH) B - e RRREAFMEBEN [ HEERIEZEREBHEMN

. Hongbo Mining has no flare device during the process of oil and gas exploitation, therefore it does not generate any greenhouse gases therefrom,
and the greenhouse gases from well testing, process venting and exploitation escape is rather little.

v AEBEERRARBEFENERE - At NP RANEREHFFRZRE 3 ITERERFAFARNRERERD -

® Calculation methodologies for GHG emissions: energy consumption of the Company multiplies corresponding emission factors as defined in the
Notice on the management of greenhouse gas emission reporting by enterprises in the power generation industry from 2023 to 2025.

2 BERBHMEFERE - RRIGRBEREERALEOHRE T - R EF2E (R MEF2023-2025 FH BT E P A ERBENREEER
HIERBA)E -
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To reduce GHG emissions, Hongbo Mining has taken a
series of measures. Examples include gathering associated
natural gas in crude oil production and using it for heating
and electricity generation of Hongbo Mining; adjusting
thermal system parameters according to season in a timely
way to plan natural gas utilization optimally; developing
scientific working schedules with reasonable activation and
deactivation for oil wells with insufficient liquid supply to
pump oil by interval and thus effectively reduce electricity
consumption; promoting new applications such as
intelligent variable frequency control cabinet and alloy anti-
wax devices to save electricity consumption; and adding
reactive power compensators to improve the power factor
of power grids, reduce the loss of supply transformers and
transmission lines, and enhance power supply efficiency.
The measures adopted by PDT Xuzhou to reduce power
consumption include: reducing the wind speed of the 220
fan filter units sitting on the ceiling of the clean room for
cleaning; adjusting the set temperature in the clean room
from 22°C to 23.5°C in summer; stipulating that the central
air conditioner can only be put into use when the indoor
temperature is above 28°C and shall be set at the
temperature of no lower than 25°C, replacing the lighting in
public corridors and other places in the office area with
automatic ones that only work during working hours to
prevent leaving the lights on after work.
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DEVELOPMENT
3.1 Safe Production

The Group cares for every employee and is committed to
protecting their health. It strictly complies with the
requirements of the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China ((FF#E AR X FEH L 8)%)), the Work Safety Law of
the People’s Republic of China ((FFEAREKMBEZ 24 E
7&)), and the Law of the People’'s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases ({#ZE A
R HF0 3 B % 55 F5 94 75)) and other laws and regulations,
and pay five types of social insurances and the housing
fund for employees according to national regulations, to
protect the physical and mental health of the employees in
an all-round way and ensure a safe working environment to
avoid any occupational hazards. The Company organizes
medical examination for employees at the time of joining
and leaving the Company and arranges regular annual
occupational disease examination for employees working
for more than one year. The Company conducts safety
training and education for new employees and provides
professional safety training for employees involved in the
use of chemicals. Employees are equipped with complete
safety protective measures in their work and the EHS
position has been set up for supervision. The EHS
Production Safety Committee is the department in charge
of occupational health and safety of the Company. For the
acidic liquid chemicals, the Company has developed
management systems such as the Regulations on Safety
Management of Hazardous Chemicals (L ERZ 2 &
I2 #8 7F)) and Emergency Plan for Leakage of Hazardous
Chemicals ({f& 1t 2 i % 55 & & T8 &) to effectively

supervise all chemical related activities.
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The Company makes the effort to ensure “production
safety” and strives to achieve the following three main
goals:

o Equipment safety: ensure the safety of all mechanical
equipment, including computers and data of network
devices, etc.

o Workforce safety: ensure the safety and health of
employees, including provision of safety training and
equipment and necessary insurance and benefits for
employees and compliance with relevant labour laws
and regulations.

o Physical safety: ensure the safety of its physical
equipment, including offices, factories and
warehouses, etc. This includes taking necessary
measures, such as installing monitoring equipment,
access control, etc., to protect the asset and
employees of the Company.

The Company's subsidiary Hongbo Mining adheres to the
guideline of “safety first, prevention foremost, and
integrated management”, always highlighting occupational
health, work safety and environmental protection as an
important part of its corporate social responsibility and
reflecting this commitment to the full life cycle of Hongbo
Mining's production and operation activities. It has
established a health, safety and environment ("HSE")
management system and an operating mechanism which
integrates decision management, business operation,
technical support, and regulation and incentivization.

Since FY2021, the Group did not have any violation of
China’s relevant existing labour and safety laws and
regulations or experience any major accident seriously
jeopardizing employee safety or causing employee death.
In FY2023, the number of lost days due to work injury was
0.

ARBBIERIZ2EE] X
BOMBIATEZ =5

s RELE::BMRMAIAEMR
RN BEEK @
REEESE -

 ABZZ HBREINGK:
MR BRREH‘RZ 25
MzHB REIRHLEZD
fRERAN4& A - 338 T AR AY
BENEM -

s WETE:WEREWERME
MLz BEFAE - LK
MEES -EBFRNME
BIHE ME - % #E§&ﬁ~
S ESE - LIREAF
BEMBT -

ARRMNB AR AIERERE (L
2E— B AT HFREREIN
TECRREEBERE LY24%
E RERBERETHEEREMR
W—HEZERNE BEFRLEBE
¥ENEEBLE2ESR BEY@A
REEE - EELE - BT FH -
HEARS—EBHEE Z2M
IRI% ([HSE ) & 12 88 I A& 17 14
i o

BE-ZE_—MEE AKERHE
AERTEBRTHBASHLL R
ERHBER RBELBRENME
E?%W%E'ﬂi?ﬁ%%lll
RTEH - —FT_=WFHEILHE
BARIERBEROX -

EERENBEERAT / F£3K2024 175



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
IR g

tE RERRSE

Comprehensive HSE System

Our subsidiary Hongbo Mining follows the PDCA

management model, that is, Plan-Do-Check-Action, which

forms a HSE system of cycles and continuous

improvement. The main contents include:

Leadership commitment, policy objectives and
responsibilities. The top leader of Hongbo Mining has
made a top-down commitment and established an
HSE guarantee system; formulated policy objectives
and performed management, and established the
guiding ideology of the HSE management system;
established an organization to clarify the
responsibilities of different departments, different
positions, and different types of jobs.

Organization, responsibility, resources and document
management. Hongbo Mining has established an HSE
management organization, clarifying responsibilities,
authorities and affiliation; reasonably allocating
human, financial and material resources to conduct
extensive training, so as to improve the awareness
and skills of all employees.
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Risk assessment and hidden danger management.
Hongbo Mining has clarified the evaluation object,
established evaluation methods and procedures,
determined the influencing factors of hazards and
accidents, selected the judgment criteria and made
records; conducted assessment and treatment of
hidden dangers in the course of production.

Safety, health and environment system management
requirements of contractors and suppliers.

Design and construction of devices (facilities).

Operation, maintenance, inspection and supervision
of the HSE management system.

Change management and emergency management.
Accident handling and prevention.

System audit, review and continuous improvement.
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Hongbo Mining has formulated the Employee Safety
Manual ({8 L% 2 Ffft)), Customary Violations and
Corrective Methods ((& & 14 & & & 4l IE 5 )%)), Hazard
Source ldentification and Risk Assessment Control
Management System (/& F IR 2% 25 82 & b 57 4 ) B 22 45
&), Operation Permit Management System ({({E2 Al &
3B %I FZ)), Traffic Safety Management System (X B % &
EIRH[E)), Safety Rewards and Punishment System ((%&
2 B H £ )), Special Equipment Safety Management
System ((BFEXEZ2EEH E)), Emergency
Management System ({JE & &I /%)), etc., including 36
safety management systems and regulations, 30 job safety
responsibilities, 52 job operation regulations, 7 assessment
rules and 6 emergency plans, in accordance with the HSE
system standard framework planning.

Hongbo Mining has established a safety organization with
the general manager as the team leader, and built an
operating system guided by the decision-making
management, implemented by the management and
achieved by the operation management, so as to fully
implement the safety management among the production
team and each employee, with its functions of all levels as
follows:

° The decision-making management is responsible for
establishing and improving Hongbo Mining’'s HSE
responsibility system, setting up management
institutions and personnel, organizing the formulation
of rules and operating procedures, and establishing
and improving relevant records and files; ensuring
adequate HSE investment and effective
implementation; urging and checking HSE work,
timely controlling and eliminating the source of
danger; organizing to formulate and implement its
HSE accident emergency plan, and reporting the HSE
accident timely and truthfully.
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e The management implements the systems and . ERELERBFAD I 81T
procedures in the HSE management system HSEERB AT MHE - 12
according to the division of labour of the departments, Fro WigETARIAMKET
and guides the subordinate departments or HEAT R R ET AL - R B i I A0
employees to carry out identification assessment, risk PE ATl o

control and performance assessment.

e The operation management accepts the HSE . IEBIESHSEH A 123
education and training, and strictly implements the BB AMMMEEREX
operation-level documents of this position, including H(BREEEREEE M
operation instructions, job operation regulations, etc. FIERESE) -
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Strengthening Risk Management and Control

Hongbo Mining has established a dual prevention
mechanism comprising hierarchical management and
control of safety risks as well as safety hazard identification
and rectification. With the overall work policy of “full
participation, risk control, continuous improvement,
performance assurance” and in accordance with the
requirement of “double duties in one position”, Hongbo
Mining required departments at all levels and relevant
departments not only to undertake the work within the
scope of their own responsibilities, but also to assume the
management of relevant production safety targets and
perform the responsibilities of production safety in
accordance with the principles of“responsibilities vest to
those in charge” and “safety keeps abreast of production”.
Hongbo Mining also divided the HSE policy and objectives
into all grassroots units, and puts the measures of hazards
identification and risk reduction into positions step by step,
so as to truly standardize the operation of HSE
management system from top to bottom and promote the
implementation of safety and environmental
responsibilities. Hongbo Mining attaches great importance
to safety management, and the safety and environmental
protection department is responsible for improving the
building of full-time and part-time emergency team;
formulates and organizes relevant emergency drill plans
every year; identifies, analyzes and evaluates the risks
caused by hazard sources, considers the adequacy and
effectiveness of existing control measures, determines the
acceptability of risks, and compiles the accident risk
assessment reports. Meanwhile, Hongbo Mining is
equipped with registered safety engineers to carry out its
safety supervision and management work, including
industrial hot work, pipelines, temporary electricity, access
to restricted space, hoisting, climbing etc.

PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

LR R

LEEEBEREZZRARSREE
MEREERBEESHEH#S
ATZ820 - EHRR - FHENK
#RBRER] BREIER
RRI—HEE| BERZ5EL -
FR RSB PIFE A e AR B 40 B A T1F
MR BEAEHEBLZ2EE
BEEERIE RRIH#EEZE  #
BEIMMEEXANZ2HEA
BIZ2EERE Z2HEEXE
HSES &t - BRSO RIS EE
BB AIEE - AR R R A
BB REEIMMLAR  AIE
FHSEBERE RN LE THRE
B HHLE2RAREAEE -
LBBEERLTEERE BHELE
BRHTBEZTEE RBESK
hER: GFHEHEESER
FEINASHE: HERRIH
WRBETHR - 2T FE - H
REERERNO T M - BN
MAZER URERKRESEI#
RTLAHERT  TREHRBRTE
RES-RR REEERGT
fizzTRMARARLZEZEE
EEIE B TEHA-F
RoBRRAE  EAXRZERE B

A —aray
® . .H55%-

piN|



Safety Education for Employees

The Company arranges safety training and education for
new employees, in addition to professional safety training
for employees involved in the use of chemicals. All
employees are equipped with full range of protective
measures during the work process. The Company has also
set up EHS position, responsible for supervision. EHS
induction training covers all new recruits of the Company.
With highly attaching importance to the improvement of
employees’ safety awareness, Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary
of the Company, has established an integrated HSE training
system based on HSE theory, which covers various and
comprehensive aspects such as HSE management
concept, job responsibility awareness and emergency
response management. Hongbo Mining also arranges
different types of safety trainings on an ongoing basis to
carry out omnidirectional promotion of HSE through
different channels, such as safety education for employee
orientation, special equipment safety learning, traffic safety
training, daily safety education, safety education for
workers from contractors and educational safety video
watching activities, so as to improve employees’
competence on production and operation safety.
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Protection of Occupational Health of Employees

The Group strengthens the establishment of employee
occupational health management system and Hongbo
Mining has established an occupational health management
accountability mechanism, which stipulates that:

° The safety and environmental protection department
is responsible for establishing and improving the
occupational health management system and the
occupational health records, formulating the
occupational disease prevention programme and
implementation plan and the emergency rescue plan
for occupational hazard accidents, and organizing
employee medical examination; while also
responsible for occupational disease prevention and
statistical management, including identifying and
evaluating occupational hazards factors, conducting
promotion and education of occupational disease
prevention, contacting the Center for Disease Control
and Prevention on a regular basis, conducting
inspection of dust, noise and other occupational
hazards sites of each construction and production
department, and promptly notifying relevant
departments to implement rectification on the
unqualified items identified on the sites.
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The administration and personnel department shall be
responsible for signing labor contracts with
employees, and shall disclose to employees the
occupational hazards that may occur during the work
process and their consequences as well as wages
and benefits faithfully, which shall be stated in the
labor contracts. The employees who are found to be
suffering from occupational hazards during
occupational health examinations shall be transferred
in time and settled properly and the labor contracts
with employees can be annulled or terminated only
after they have undergone pre-departure occupational
health examinations.

All grass-roots departments are responsible for the
implementation of the prevention and control
measures on occupational hazards. They should carry
out regular inspection, repair, maintenance and
testing of occupational hazards prevention and control
equipment to ensure their normal operation, and
receive and distribute personal hygiene and protective
equipment to employees according to regulations;
and they shall not arrange employees with
occupational contraindications to engage in tasks with
occupational hazards, and shall establish and improve
occupational health management archives of
employees.
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° Employees should strictly abide by the requirements
of the occupational hazards prevention and
management system and occupational safety and
health operational rules during the production
process, and shall be entitled to the rights in terms of
the prevention, treatment and rehabilitation of
occupational hazards.

The Group provides occupational health check for
employees before employment, on the job and before
separation and maintains their occupational health records,
in addition to providing all employees with healthy and
adequate labor protection conditions and carrying out
employee occupational health monitoring and education
campaign, thereby implementing occupational health
management in a comprehensive and well-regulated
manner. During the reporting period, Hongbo Mining
continued to entrust a qualified technical service company
to provide occupational hazard testing for on-site workers,
and to detect noise, toxic and harmful substances and
other hazardous factors. The test results all meet the
requirements of occupational health limits, with the pass
rate of 100%.
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3.2 Employment and Protection of Employees’ Rights 32 EREREIEZIRE

and Benefits

The Group puts people first, respects and protects the
lawful rights and interests of its employees and implements
an employment policy of equality and non-discrimination,
and is committed to continuously refining its democratic
system, building an excellent career development platform
for employees, advancing workforce localization and
diversification, providing employees with a fair and
harmonious work environment, and achieving common
growth of the enterprise and the employees.

Employment Policy

The Group strictly complies with the Law of Employment
Promotion of the People’s Republic of China ({# % A R £
A B Bt 2 2 3# 75)), Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({(FE AR X FH & &4 [F)E)) and
other laws and regulations on recruitment and promotion,
dismissal, working hours, etc., and has established
comprehensive employment management rules and
systems, implemented fair and non-discriminatory
employment policy, including fair and just treatment to
employees with different nationalities, skin colors,
ethnicities, genders, religions and culture background. The
employees of the Group strictly implement the
requirements of the Employee Handbook (& I 5 fft)),
and have formulated various systems such as the Staff
Reward and Punishment Management System (€ 8 T 2%
EIRH|E)), the Staff Leaves Management System ((& T
KB E I &l Z)), the Staff Occupational Accident
Management Policy ((B T T15 E W E E &), the
Employee Attendance Management System ({8 T E #H%&
I H%IZ)), the Employee Training Management System (( &
THEEFIEIEHZ)), the Employee Transaction Management
System ((BE T E&E B 4l £)), the Administrative
Measures on Echelon Personnel ({#x A & & 12 i X)),
the Rules for Recommending Talents ({ & T & A 4 22E)
# ), the Management System for Skill Rating of
Operating Staff ((ER{EMAE THESRTTEEEHE))
and the Social Insurance and the Housing Provident Fund
Management System (it &REFERE QB EEGIE))
with strict implementation.

AEBFRAUABANES B
ENMEEE TS A R BEF
ENMFEFERIBE @#2RF
#Hl - RETEZROIKETS -
HEBTIALEMZ L BE
TAEERT  MBEHTIERE
ERMCEEETHRRKE -

STHX
AEEERET(FEARKNE
FhEREZ)(PEARLNE L
BARR)EENBERETT &
B TIEEHEFHERER &
VREEBTEERENER R
ETFEF FBRMRHE THE
REFRAENHFIRESE  Ee
Bk R RBEDIMXEE
BRMBT - AKEE TEBHNTT
(BIFM &R $IEBA(EITHE
BEBHENEIRBERGIE)
(BITHEHREEFNENETE
HEEHEE THIEEHE)
(BIEHEEFIRNHEHRARE
EHENEIHBEAT ZERE)
(BRIEEUE TRESFHRITER
HEXHERBMEEAEEE
BHE)EHE - WERNIT -

ZERNRERAA / F8H2024 185



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
W% 8 REARE

186

The Company enters into labor contracts with its
employees in obedience to the laws, with a signing rate of
100%. The Company has set up an 8-hour daily working
system. The Company confirms the age of job applicants
by reviewing the identity, verifying the qualification and
checking the contribution to social insurance, and strictly
prohibits and boycotts the employment of child labor in any
form. In order to implement the paid leave system, the
Company has taken various measures such as signing of
agreements and strict supervision of work time to eliminate
forced labor. The Company has established a staff
recruitment system, to conduct reasonable and fair
recruitment of personnel that meets the requirements of
the Company's positions. Meanwhile, the Company
attaches great importance to the business ability of human
resources personnel in all levels, and has organized various
trainings related to labor policies and regulations during the
reporting period.

Confronted with the ever-changing and diversified
employment market, the Company is aware of that the
need to continually improve our recruitment practices. We
have formulated a number of recruitment and employment
procedures and approval forms to optimize our recruitment
and employment processes. We will enhance our
background investigations of candidates and ensure that all
of interviewers are provided with anti-discrimination
training. The Company is also striving to improve its
diversity and inclusivity in order to attract talents within the
Company from a wider range of backgrounds.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any
violation relating to employee rights and other labour
regulations, and no child labour and forced labour incidents
occurred.
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During the reporting period, the Group had a total of 435 REEMA - REBEHEET 435
employees, with 55 employees leaving. In view of factors A REKBIBBA - HRAE
such as the business scope and work environment of the ¥%EHE IERBESRE 3
Group, it has more male employees than female BETHELZNZEIHE BT
employees, but there is no discrimination against gender, GFHEEMMER Bk HERER
race and region. e

Distribution of the Employees of the Group by Employment Type (Person)
FrEERERERNESSNEISH (A)

076

m Contracted (Full-time) m Contracted (Part-time) Employed m Dispatched
& RS2 & R (R ) HE AR 17355 HNR IR AE

Distribution of the Employees of the Group by Gender (Person)
TEERMFESWEI S (A)
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366

m Male m Female

Bt ogid
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Distribution of the Employees of the Group by Ethnicity (Person)
rEERRKRESNEI M (AN)

1
181'9

\

H Han m Mongol  mHui ® Manchu mOther
E Ik Sk =3 m i Hith

Distribution of the Employees of the Group by Age (Person)
FEERFRIAINEISIM (N)

31

237
m20-30 m31-40 m41-50 Above 50
20-305% 31-405% 41-5073% 5088 A _E
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Distribution of the Employees of the Group by Region (Person)
TEERMESTNETISMH (A)
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Democratic Management

The Group has established a sound mechanism of
democratic management with the labor union as the main
body under the assistance of the administrative and
personnel department, which emphasizes on giving play to
the employees’ function in democratic management,
democratic participation and democratic supervision, and
publish all matters related to the rights and benefits of their
employees, such as soliciting employees’ advices on the
Group's related management system and feedbacks on
holiday arrangements of the Group. The Group insists on
implementing democratic procedures, strengthen the
disclosure of factory operation through multiple channels
such as departmental meetings and regular meetings of
the Company, special meetings for business discussion,
face-to-face conversations, internal publications and
WeChat platform, encourages the employees to participate
in the discussion and receive opinions from the employees.
During the reporting period, no opinions were received
from employees.

Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the Company, issues the
breakdown of their current month's leave, leave days taken
in the previous month and the remaining leave days of the
year to each employee on the 27th day of each month. The
Company adheres to the distribution system with labor-
based distribution dominant and a variety of distribution
modes coexisting with fair grading. The Company pays on
or before the 5th day of each month with the wage strips
recording it on time; The Company conducts satisfaction
surveys twice and 1 employee discussion every year to
collect all the advice from employees on the spot.
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Rights and Benefits Protection

The Group is committed to protecting its employees’ rights
and benefits and has a well-established mechanism for the
protection of employees’ rights and interests, including
remuneration and benefits, health insurance, working hours
and leave system.

The Group has established a sound, protective and
competitive system of remuneration and benefits and built
a system of remuneration management based on job
values, personal ability and performance, which geared to
achieving effective interaction between corporate
performance and employees’ income. The Group is
committed to optimizing their remuneration structures with
innovative incentives and remuneration communication
mechanisms to make allocation fair and scientific. The
Group has complied with national social security, employee
welfare and other relevant regulations by making corporate
contributions to social securities such as pension, medical
care, work-related injury, maternity, unemployment and
housing provident fund with a social security coverage rate
of 100%. The Group also provides group accident insurance
in addition to the national social insurance, giving further
accident assurance for our employees. In terms of holidays,
in addition to the paid holidays, annual leave, marriage
leave, maternity leave, paternity leave and other holidays
stipulated by the country and the region, the Group also
provides lactation leave for female employees, that is, one
to two hours of lactation leave per day for female
employees with child less than one year old.
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The Group attaches great importance to the job satisfaction
and incentives of its employees. In order to understand the
needs and feedback of employees, and improve and refine
the Company’'s management and services according to
employees’ suggestions, the Group conducts employee
communication meetings regularly. We also provide
incentives such as bonus and promotions based on the
performance of employees to encourage employees to
achieve a better performance in their work.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any
violation relating to the employee remuneration, working
time, equal opportunities, anti-discrimination and other
welfare matters.

Employee Training and Career Development

The Group supports talent cultivation, attaches importance
to facilitating talent education, pays attention to the
improvement of professional ability and comprehensive
quality of their employees, establishes a career
development platform that enables mutual development of
the Company and its employees and adheres to the
guidelines of “providing quality training to facilitate

development”. The Company has formulated the Employee

Training and Management System ({ & T 5% 3l %& 12 % &)
to clarify the summary and sharing of the training effects as

well as the management of training certificates.
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We have formulated training plans based on the advices
and recommendations from the employees, providing the
employees with planned trainings related to corporate
culture, professional knowledge, post skills and
comprehensive quality. The trainings target to improve
working skills and professional quality of our employees, so
as to fulfill the development needs for both the Company
and the staff. Meanwhile, we also attach importance to the
enhancement of employee’s comprehensive development,
including professional knowledge, communication skill and
career skill. In addition to face-to-face trainings, the Group
also offers other trainings in various forms such as self-
learning, special seminars, exchange sessions and job
rotation, in order to enhance the training efficiency and
effects and continuously improve the employees’
knowledge and working initiatives.

Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the Company, has
developed the Skill Rating Management System for
Operating Staff (GR{EMM B THRAESHT T EEH E))
with the aim of improving the staff's operating skills, which
formed a comprehensive training system with multiple
layers.

Our training covers a wide range of engagement, including
all staff, middle management and senior management.
During the reporting period, the training program of the
Group covered 84% of the employees, with each employee
receiving an average of 7.9 hours of training.
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tEMERRSE

By rank Leadership
and management
REENREEE
General staff
E@ET

HERE

W

By gender Male
EM RISl D Sk
Female

gk

Based on the training needs collected from different
departments, the Group formulates a training plan for all
employees at the beginning of every year and implements
such plan quarterly throughout the year on a priority basis.
After the completion of relevant professional and personal
improvement trainings, the Group collects feedbacks from
the trained employees in a timely manner. The trainings
during the reporting period were well received, which in
the opinion of our employees actively provided
supplemental knowledge and skills improvement for the
employees’ career development.

During the reporting period, trainings organized by the
Group included general trainings, safety trainings and
professional technical trainings and other trainings.
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Percentage of Average hours of
training (hour)

ZIFHRR (D)

employees trained
ZIEERSL

100% 14.6
81% 6.7
79% 8.3
95% 6.2
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General Trainings

A
Business negotiation (2 sessions) Problem analysis and solving (4 sessions)
R A (2 ) el RE o AT B R R (4 BR)
Effective meetings (2 sessions) Project management
mkgER) BAER

Knowledge and product introduction of solar cell industry

KIGeeBAITE M L ERNAA

Interviewing skills

EEgs 3]

New employee orientation trainings (12 sessions)
BT ARBIEIN(1289)

Presentation skills

WERD

Safety Trainings

TR

gl

Protection and emergency response for chemical use
1L 22 an i FA ) o B e =

chamber operation standards
chamber {E ¥ 1Z %

Occupational hazards and emergency plans

BEReTRESIER

Management specifications on electricity
use in workshops

BEEMEEERSE

Management Regulations on the Special Equipment
and Personnel Safety, Management Regulations on
Fire Safety, Application and Acceptance Procedures for
Maintenance and Alteration of Additional Work
(FREBREIAERZZEERE)EMZ 2 ERRE)
GRIE TR B ENUERBRBURIE)

Management regulations on tools
TAEERTE

Management regulations on equipment maintenance

REEETERT

6S management requirements
6SEIBITE

Instruction training on operation of electrical spark tester

BANIERAFEERIEEE
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Professional Technical Trainings

BERAMAEY

Solutions to common electrical problems Continuous Process Improvement,

ERTREEREN A

Processing for Field Defect

GHEUCERBENRS T REEKTF)

ISO9001 (Internal auditor training)
1ISO9001 (& &1 FI)

Trainings for ISO internal trainer

ISO MBIl Bl 35 3l

Production process control Key concerns of grooved/chain machine trainings

B E I R RO BT ARG

Appearance Standard 180-00002-000-p01 in PDT
Standard Document
PDT 2% 32 {4 180-00002-000-p01 SN ER I

Trainings on attention points involved in inspection of
incoming raw materials

FRHm BT B F AT

Trainings on database use Process quality control checkpoint trainings

R B {5 A 57 ARSI E R
Trainings on database update Operation requirement trainings
B E AR A TERZRIFI

Appearance standard for welding of plastic parts Checklist update trainings
BRI R R INBIRLE & BB EE

Professional Technical Trainings (Hongbo Mining)

BERMBEY (REEE)

Special operation trainings (height climbing,
pressure vessel, welding, high and low pressure)

FREEXREY (BS  BHBRR  BE  SEE)

Hydrogen sulphide protection technology trainings

b | by E A

Well control trainings

#T/Liﬁi*”

Level 3 drilling supervision trainings

g&fg#gkfxiﬁ*”

HSE management position trainings
HSE & 32 i (i 15 31

Special trainings on high-tech enterprise
ST E BRI

Trainings for key personnel in charge of onshore oil
and gas exploration and production safety
management personnel

BEFRRMAARBREZEEE AN
ZR2HEEBTRABEI
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With rich content, strong practicality, original training
methods and high interaction, our training courses obtained
remarkable effects and widely recognition and reception
from the staff.

Employee Promotion Mechanism

The Group, in view of employees’ career development
needs and in the light of the characteristics of different
types of talent, is committed to improving its two-channel
career development system where employees can choose
to develop towards the managerial or specialised direction,
and establishing platforms and mechanisms geared to
“unleashing and utilising the talent of everyone”. In this
regard, it has put in place fair and scientific assessment
methods to ensure that high-calibre employees stand out
while continuously expanding the room for career
development for employees and providing them with a
career development ladder in management and professional
skills and the corresponding resources to support the talent
development.

The Company will provide technical post promotion,
management post promotion, cross-department transfer/
recruitment and other different promotion channels. The
broad potential development and opportunities we provided
enables our employees to select a suitable development
channel for themselves in accordance with their personal
interest and competence. With respect to the particular
practice of employee promotion, the Company has
established a clear promotion process to ensure a fair,
equitable and transparent employee promotion. We will
evaluate and assess our employees on their performance,
contribution, and professional quality, and make promotion
decisions based on the promotion criteria and processes.
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Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the Company, formulated
the Administrative Measures on Echelon Personnel ({## [
A B EE #E)) in relation to the employee promotion
management system, which strictly made a clear echelon
boundary between middle management and junior
management as well as screened and defined the backup
personnel at each level of management. During the
reporting period, in accordance with the professional title
assessment document of the Human Resources and Social
Security Bureau and the requirements of the Assessment
Conditions of Professional and Technical Qualification in
Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region ((R S & B8R B ¥
KM &% T = EH)), Hongbo Mining submitted
professional title assessment materials for two qualified
employees, specializing in geological engineering and
environmental engineering, which made the professional
and technical skills of employees reach a new level. As of
the end of the reporting period, Hongbo Mining had 5
employees for special operations and 11 employees for
safety management. The rate of employment with
certificate reached 100%.

In the future, we will improve the employee promotion
mechanism from the following aspects:

(1) improvement in promotion criteria and processes: we
will further improve the promotion criteria and
processes to ensure fair, equitable and transparent
criteria and concise, efficient and convenient
processes.

(2) broadness in promotion channels: we will further
widen the promotion channels, and our employees
will be provided with more promotion opportunities
and potential development to achieve their self-worth
and dreams.

(3) enhancement in training and development: we will
enhance the training and development of employees,
promoting their professional quality and working
skills, so as to advance the competitiveness and
success rate of employee promotion.
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(4) feedback and summary in promotion result: we will
regularly provide feedback and summary on the
promotion result of our staff to understand the
effectiveness of the promotion mechanism and the
improvement direction, so as to further improve the
employee promotion mechanism.

Employee Care

The Group cares about the life and health of its employees.
We celebrate employees’ birthdays and provide
condolences and assistance to sick employees in order to
make them feel the warmth and care from the Company.
We also organize regular staff fitness activities to improve
employees’ physical fitness and work efficiency. We
organize related activities on occasions of holidays as well.
Meanwhile, the Group focuses on team building and
culture building of our staff, and actively promotes the
construction of the department. We will regularly organize
staff activities, such as dinners and team building, to
enhance communication and co-operation among our staff.
In order to improve the living standards of families of
employees with difficulties, the Group gradually
implements employee assistance programs to care for
employees with difficulties, establishes a regular
mechanism for visits and condolences to employees in
difficulties, carries out the activities of “sending warmth
and giving love” and sets up a system for helping
employees with major ilinesses, thus gradually forming a
sustainable poverty alleviation system with full coverage,
strong support and multi-party participation.
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APPENDIX — INDEX TO THE ENVIRONMENTAL, [} — EE8BXHAOER HdgRE
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE RB#EEESIDDANERSI
OF THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(BRE -HEREARHEESD BERAR

Subject Area A. Environmental = Z&EA. B1E
Aspect A1: Emissions BT A1 : HE Y

A1l General Disclosure 2. ENVIRONMENTAL

—RIRER PROTECTION, ENERGY
CONSERVATION AND EMISSION

Information on: REDUCTION

FRABERIRERBYN MK RTHEHS EEREEEEYNE 2.RERE DRBE

FEH
2.1 Emissions Management

(a)  the policies; and 2V E R

(@) X &

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

b) ETHEHBETABEAFZENHBERMROIHER -

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Note: Air emissions include NO,, SO« and other pollutants regulated under national laws and
regulations.

o BREREERALLY RECWREACRBEZTERRAPIRENTRY -

Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons,

perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.
RERBEE_SE Tk SR SR EY 2RISR -

Hazardous wastes are those defined by national regulations.

BEEBEEMERRRIIARESE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report
(RIR - HERERBEESD BEAR

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 2.1 Emissions Management
A1.1 BERUIE B KRR R - 28 E 8

A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas 2.1 Emissions Management
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

A1.2 EBEE(HE1) RpRMEE (BE2)RERBAHME ABEAE) (. 218D ER
BR)ZE(WAGESEMN - BIERME) ©

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 2.1 Emissions Management
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

A3 FEEBEEREYEE UHHE R (MER)BE (NMUBESEML - 2 1HMYER
BIEXRMTE

Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 2.1 Emissions Management
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

A4 FEABZTEZEVRE CAEAZE) R(ER)BE (WMASESSM - 21 ER

BIERBE
A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 2.1 Emissions Management
A15  HEAFTET M HBEE B R R REDE L BRI 25 218 B R
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, 2.1 Emissions Management

and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

A6 HIRBAEREEEEVNSE  REAMIZAREEERAED 218K ER
ELRRARIRA LR -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Aspect A2: Use of Resources EHE A2 : ER{EHA

A2 General Disclosure 2.2 Use and Management of
— AR R Resources
228 RERARER

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

BERERER(BREER - KEEMEME) B -

Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in buildings,
electronic equipment, etc.

i BRAANAEE - #F - BH BT EFREF-

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or 2.2 Use and Management of
oil) in total (kWh in "000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production Resources
volume, per facility).
A2.1 ?**EF”iU’\E’JE%&/E}ZFﬁ%%EF(ZZD%E RO EREE (ATETRE 228 REANER
B)RBE(MABEBSMN FEARMETE) o

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production 2.2 Use and Management of
volume, per facility). Resources

A22 HEFEKERZE (WNMASESEBEN  SERETE) 228 REARERE

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to 2.2 Use and Management of
achieve them. Resources

A2.3  HEEFTET M HREIR(E A B IR R AESE L B IR ERER A P8R - 228 REARER

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 2.2 Use and Management of
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Resources

A24  FEACREGERKIR ERIBEMEE  ARMMETZHAKEGEERAE 228 REAKER
B 5L B ARPTEREXE 8K -

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if 2.1 Emissions Management
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

A25 HEGFTRASRMENEE (UEHE) R (NER) BEEEUGE - 218 E
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RIR - HERERBEESD BEAR

Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources EHA3 : RER ARER

A3 General Disclosure 2.3 Ecological Protection in
—RIRER Operating Regions

23 FELMARERE
Policies on minimising the issuers’ significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.

BIEETABRBEMARARERERERNZENHR

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment 2.3 Ecological Protection in
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Operating Regions

A3.1 Ml X EHHRBERARAARERNEAZERDRKNEEFATEN 23FEE M A RERE
18 -

Aspect A4: Climate Change EE A4 : RIR&E 1L

A4 General Disclosure 2.4 Tackling Climate Change
—RIWE 0 AFEY SRS

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BRI NSRRI HETAEERENEARGEREENRE

A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 2.4 Tackling Climate Change
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken
to manage them.

A4l HIABERAESHETAELEFENEARBREBEEE  LEHTE - 24BERKEREL
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Subject Area B. Social T E&EB. &
Employment and Labour Practices E{& & % T &8
Aspect B1: Employment B B1 : &

B1 General Disclosure 3.2 Employment and Protection
— MR of Employees’ Rights and
Benefits
Information on: 2EBRE I #ERRE

RN RE  BERER  TERZ - BY FEE2 - 20t -
SRR A R EAb 1538 R a9 -

E

(a)  the policies; and

(@ BE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

b) BTHETABERZENHBERNEOHER -

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (e.g. full-time or part-time), 3.2 Employment and Protection
age group and geographical region. of Employees’ Rights and
Benefits

B1.1 R BEEE (WEBEERR) FRAJNKMRSDNESEHK - 32REREIREDRE

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 3.2 Employment and Protection
of Employees’ Rights and
Benefits

B1.2  1RMR| FRARNRHMES SMEERKLE - 32EBERE T HZERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety B B2 : 2 FEHZ %
B2 General Disclosure 3.1 Safe Production
—RIRER 3NERHEE

Information on:

BRERHZ2THERELMRERBERBELREMN

(a)  the policies; and

(@ BE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

b) BTHETABERZENHBERNEOHNER -

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past 3.1 Safe Production
three years including the reporting year.

B21 BE=F (RREERFE)SFERICTHAZLRLEX- BIREHEE

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 3.1 Safe Production

B22 HRAIBEXIEHZ- BIREAE

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and 3.1 Safe Production

how they are implemented and monitored.

B23  HMFARMMBERFEEL 2R ARBRMITIERTE - BIREAEE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Aspect B3: Development and Training B B3 : 2 K% 3l
B3 General Disclosure 3.3 Employee Training and Career
—RIRER Development
3B THIIMBEER
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

BERERTEERTIERENMNE R KENBEER - il iE7ES

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid
by the employer.
s BIEREEI UREARREINBOHANINDRIE -

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category 3.3 Employee Training and Career
(e.g. senior management, middle management). Development

B3.1 BRUFIMEEEN(WERERRE FREEEZ) IFVNXIEER B THIIMBEER
Lk e

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and 3.3 Employee Training and Career
employee category. Development

B3.2 IURIREEEMED  BHEEETKEIIN TR - IBETHIIMBERER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Aspect B4: Labour Standards EE B4 : & T # 8|

B4 General Disclosure 3.2 Employment and Protection
—RIRER of Employees’ Rights and
Benefits
Information on: 2EBRE I ERRE

BRABIEE T ek mles TH ¢

(a)  the policies; and

(a) BE: R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

b) BTHETABERZENHBERNEOHNER -

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child 3.2 Employment and Protection
and forced labour. of Employees’ Rights and
Benefits
B4.1  fEiimE MIBEHIMNERARSE T NAKISET - 32EMRE THERRE

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 3.2 Employment and Protection
of Employees’ Rights and
Benefits

B42 HAERBRERBARERBBBRAARRA SR - 32RIEK B THEmRE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide

(RE - HERERHREESD

Content of the Report

BERAR

Operating Practices &
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

B5

B5.1

B5.1

B5.2

B5.2

B5.3

B5.3

B5.4

B5.4

208

EEEH
[ETEBS : LIEGHEEE
General Disclosure

— MR R

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

EIEHEEAIRE ML SRR IR

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

mimEOMHEERHRAE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
MR B HEENED
BIEGIRITRER A -

MERNTAERENNHEERHE - UKREA

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks
along the supply chain and how they are implemented and monitored.
B R RS ARG AIRE I G RARMED - LAKAEBERIT
RERTE -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers and how they are
implemented and monitored.

HIMEREHRE R 2 BIRREmIRBHED -
BEEAIE o

A RBBEATTR
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1.3 Collaborative Supply and
Orderly Management

13 EHR EEEF

1.3 Collaborative Supply and
Orderly Management

13 EHR EEEF

1.3 Collaborative Supply and
Orderly Management

13 EHR EEAF

1.3 Collaborative Supply and
Orderly Management
1.3HEHR BEBET

1.3 Collaborative Supply and
Orderly Management
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Izis

tE RERRSE

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide

(RE - HERERHREESD

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility BHEB6 : EREE

B6

B6.1

B6.1

B6.2

B6.2

B6.3

B6.3

B6.4

B6.4

B6.5

B6.5

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on:

ERMEHERVRBNRERELZZ  BE  RERLREEURERK

TR

(a) the policies; and

(@ X R

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

b) ETEHETABEAZENHBERMROIHER -

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recall for safety
and health reasons.
PENCEXERATELHEREAMARNKNAD L -
Number of products and service-related complaints received and how
they are dealt with.

BEREENERMREORFE B UREE X -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.

1L 6 A o N AR R AN R EE AR R R R IE B o

Description of quality assurance process and product recall procedures.

HilE EREBRENEMBKER
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they
are implemented and monitored.

HMAUEEEBBRERLERE  URABBRTRERTE -

Content of the Report
HEAR

1.2 Ensuring Quality and Deepen
Service

12RERE RERE

Not applicable

B

1.2 Ensuring Quality and Deepen
Service

12RERE RERE

1.1 Rising to the Challenge and
Pursuing Innovation-driven
Development

1T1BERKE Al slE

1.2 Ensuring Quality and Deepen
Service

12RERE RBERE

1.2 Ensuring Quality and Deepen
Service

12mERE RERL
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RIR - HERERBEESD BEAR

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption BEHEB7 : R &5

B7 General Disclosure 1.5 Internal Control and Anti-
—RIRER corruption

15REER FRRER
Information on:

BRAM LA - R - MEFROLRER

(a)  the policies; and

(@ BE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

b) BTHETABERZENHBERNEOHNER -

relating to preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought 1.5 Internal Control and Anti-
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the corruption
outcomes of the cases.

B71 RERHABHZETAXERERBYCERENESHARTNEE K T5REER BRERR

FFAAER o
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, 1.5 Internal Control and Anti-
how they are implemented and monitored. corruption
B7.2 fiiiEHIEERBWEF - ARBERITRERGE - 15REEHR BREER
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 1.5 Internal Control and Anti-
corruption
B7.3 HilmMEZ=NEIRHEMRESEI - 15AEEHR BEER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
W% 8 REARE

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Community £ &
Aspect B8: Community Investment [EEB8 : # BRE

B8 General Disclosure 1.4 Community Services and
— MR Contribution to the Society

14RBHER FEES
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.
ERUHEL2ER T HEEMTHERTENRREXB IS ESEIM
%@ 1) %5 B BUR o

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, Explained
labour needs, health, culture, sport).

B8.1 ETEREE(NHE REEHE -SIF R BFE - b 8B5) - [

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Explained

B8.2 HEFIHNEMBAER (NS ENEFMH) - [

EERENBEERAT / F£3K2024 21



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BN Iz AR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF PRODUCTIVE
TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda and continued in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Productive
Technologies Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 220 to 320, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code")
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BN Iz AR

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.

Assessing potential goodwill impairment
Refer to note 34 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on page 234.

REEIHFER
FAREAFTRERERFANERHE  RA
BARHGRAMBBRRNETRRERNER -
EUERRERMBFBREEMBHRERRK
HEBRRETREN HMATSHELSE
HRRHEBNER -

e R B E AT A
BREG AN BREN AR E2AENE
S -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

REEITEE BMHETMAEEZEE

On 18 August 2022, the Group acquired the entire equity  Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of the

interest in Shanghai Rena Trading Co., Ltd. and Rena Solar identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities

Technologies (Yiwu) Co., Ltd., as well as certain sales assumed included the following:
contracts, the solar IP licensing arrangement, the non-  F {5t BT B8 0] 3% Bl & & K P& 4E B E(HE TG F
competition arrangement, the transitional services agreement EHFEEFEIEATSIE ¢

and the transitional trademark license agreement (the
“Acquisition”). The group of assets acquired and liabilities ®
assumed under the Acquisition constituted a newly acquired
business of the Group (the “Acquired Business”).
RZZBEZZFNATNR - EEERELERMEZBRE
ERARKIRMAGRERR (BR) ERATZ2MBRE - AR o
ETHEGRN AGEREABERTIRZY:  THFLZH B
ERRB 2 BB ek (WBEE]) - WEFEEIE .
THBABRERFMAEAGBAMNBEKRK E5E-—BHKEX
(sl -

assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of the key control over
the management’'s impairment assessment on
goodwill;

FHE AT R E R ER AR REREH R
it B RETESL

assessing management'’s identification of
CGUs and the allocation of assets and liabilities
to these CGUs with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

2ERITGAEANER  FEEEEHES
EXBUNBRIAREENABEXSZHEE
EBRMDE
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) FRRENER®)

Assessing potential goodwill impairment (continued) B TE B 2R (E 71 (18)

Refer to note 34 to the consolidated financial statements and the AR F4FA M EHRENE34 K F234 B HE
accounting policies on page 234. FTBE °

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

REEITEE BMHET M EEZEE

Goodwill arising from the Acquisition amounted to HK$265.6 e assessing the external valuer's competence,

million which represented the excess of the consideration capabilities and objectivity;

paid over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and o  FFEIMNEBEERANEE « s h M EEIE

the liabilities assumed of the Acquired Business. ° obtaining and inspecting the valuation report
U B 55 78 7= A 7 22 265,600,000 78 7T © A B MBI H TS prepared by the external valuer;

EBNFTBIE T BRI EERFREABENAABENITS ° BB REEIINPEEMEROGEERS

° involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the appropriateness of
the valuation methodology adopted in the
impairment assessment with reference to the
requirements of prevailing accounting
standards and the reasonableness of the
discount rate used in the cash flow forecast by
benchmarking against other similar companies
in the same industry;

e SIABRMYABHEERR  BEBEMBERT
G AR ERF R EN G R AGE
TERBEENE  WBRRERFRAMBURNFE
T8 AAERESRBAFAERARRENE
b G
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) FRRENER®)

Assessing potential goodwill impairment (continued) B TE B 2R (E 71 (18)

Refer to note 34 to the consolidated financial statements and the AR F4FA M EHRENE34 K F234 B HE
accounting policies on page 234. FTBE °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ETNMEEZEE

The Key Audit Matter

REEITEE

Management assessed impairment of goodwill as at 31 March
2024 with reference to a valuation report prepared by an
external valuer. The recoverable amount was determined by
management by preparing the discounted cash flow forecast
for the relevant cash generating units (“CGUs"). This involves
significant management judgement and estimation including
forecast revenue growth rate, profit margin and discounted
rate adopted.

EERE2ZINMBEEMGBHENGERS  FAH_T_MOF=
A=+—HHNEEREREL EEEREGREEBERCES
B ((REELBENM D)WY RRSRBAETATKRE S HE -
It & B K E IR B HIEr M b5t BREMARANTERW AL K
o AMBEERRZAR K -

We identified assessing potential goodwill impairment as a
key audit matter because of the assessment of potential
impairment of goodwill are inherently subjective and require
significant judgement and estimation which increase the risk
of error or potential management bias.
HRAHEEREREARES B FELERHAE KME
o mMUEEN T RSB EERERENRER - BMETE
BERERESRMNRERETEE -

challenging the reasonableness of forecast
revenue growth rate and profit margin with
internal business plan and external industry
statistics, if available; and

B3 A B0 S IS 5T 8 R AN EDAT HE S At Bk (JA AT
F)EBABRARRRRMBEERH IR MR D
RN

assessing the reasonableness of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the impairment
assessment of goodwill with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.

2ERITEGALANER GRSV BHRE
REABEREN G RENS IR -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981,
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BB EFH M BRRENR
-5
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Tsz Chung.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

= =
ReBRmK

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z —Z —WNFE=A=+—H I FE AETIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Investment loss, net

Other net gains/(losses)

Administrative expenses

Taxes other than income tax

Research and development expenses
Selling and marketing expenses
Exploration expenses, including dry holes
Impairment loss on trade and other

receivables

Loss from operations

Finance income
Finance cost

Net finance costs

Loss before taxation

Income tax

Loss for the year
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REBR

BE WA
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BB RAN B

BR B AT A5 18

A%

FEBE

33(a)

9(a)

10

2024 2023
—E-NE

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABTT
543,638 567,511
(461,435) (451,640)
82,203 115,871
(44,225) (13,981)
21,720 (34,966)
(186,661) (148,216)
(22,168) (33,216)
(153,270) (68,694)
(40,211) (24,463)
(764) (1,029)
(1,218) (7,699)
,,,,,,,, (344,594) (216,393)
20,114 8,608
(24,881) (11,089)
. \a767)  (2481)
(349,361) (218,874)
(12,770) (10,319)
(362,131) (229,193)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
A BRmK

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z —Z —WNFE=A=+—H I FE AETIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2024 AOVAC]
—E_MMEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Attributable to: PEAL -
Equity shareholders of the company PAN/NE = (347,484) (222,513)
Non-controlling interests eI R M (14,647) (6,680)
Loss for the year FEER (362,131) (229,193)
Loss per share BREE
— Basic — B HK$ (4.689 cent) HK$ (2.925 cent)
(4.689 7&1L) (2.925 %1l
— Diluted — ¥ HKS$ (4.689 cent) HKS$ (2.925 cent)

(4.689 &) (2.9257811)

The notes on pages 229 to 320 form part of these financial statements. TN E 2208 ZFE 320 BN i B2 S0 75
HF MBS ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AreBm MEAM B S R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z —Z —WNFE=A=+—H I FE AETIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2024 AOVAC]
—EomE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Loss for the year FEEE (362,131) (229,193)_
Other comprehensive income for FEHME2EWKE
the year (after tax and reclassification (BRREREHTEAER)
adjustments)
Items that may be reclassified AJRERABEN 7 HEEm ZEA -

subsequently to profit or loss:

Foreign currency translation differences NS I BT = m (29,684) (53,545)
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHt2EKE®E = 000 (29,684) (63,545)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2HEHKFEEEE (391,815) (282,738)
Attributable to: PG :

Equity shareholders of the company ZAN/NEIL 35 (375,890) (277,352)

Non-controlling interests IR R (15,925) (5,386)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE 2 WAL (391,815) (282,738)

The notes on pages 229 to 320 form part of these financial statements. FIF N E 220 B ZFE 320 BN i B2 S 75
R MBI ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fra MR

At 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) % ==

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress

Intangible assets

Goodwvill

Right-of-use assets

Interest in associates

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Other non-current assets

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Bills receivables

Other receivables

Prepayment

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Other current assets

Restricted cash

Time deposits with maturities over
three months but within one year

Cash and cash equivalents

FIRBEE

e

EETRE

B EE

EES

ﬁ%%ﬁ?
NN ]

ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&@ﬁﬁ@ﬂ%%
PREE

HinIERE & E

RAENIH & B

nEEE

TE

JIE L2 BR 3R

FE W = 4%

H A U R IE

i%iﬁ%
BBIBFEAABEIES
CRLEE

Hmeh & E

ZRHRE

FHBE A=A E—F AR
EHTER

Be MBESSEY

“ME=A=+—8 AETIIT)

14
15
16
17
18
20

21

22
30(b)

23
24
24
24

21

21(a)

25

At 31 March At 31 March
2024
R-Z-NF
=B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
410,491 467,087
6,999 2,454
123,882 144,052
265,632 265,632
36,900 43,149
207,293 252,821
102,764 99,940
39,431 18,881
- 2,870
o.NAe8s92 | 1,296,886
463,279 517,664
93,632 38,891
8,440 26,411
31,192 68,884
56,994 66,436
- 128,151
45,686 24,703
199,182 269,620
133,049 211,941
398,391 262,848
1,429,745 1,615,549
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R MBI R

At 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R =2 &= F=+—H (LAETIIR)

At 31 March At 31 March

2024
R-Z-MF
=B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade and other payables P& AR 3R % H Ath JE - R IB 26 423,388 336,702
Contract liabilities ER&EE 54,506 176,064
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMBERK 27 261,100 63,970
Lease liabilities HEEE 29 11,191 10,855
Other current liabilities HEfmeaE 11,655 7,091
| 761,840 594,682
Net current assets MEEEFR 667,905 1,020,867
Total assets less current liabilities BEERARBAER 1,861,297 2,317,753
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 14,029 23,367
Deferred tax liabilities REFHIBEBE 30(b) 7,086 15,302
Provisions B iE 31 81,951 77,621
. 103066 - 116,290
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,758,231 2,201,463
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fre MO R

At 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R =2 &= F=+—H (LAETIIR)

At 31 March At 31 March

2024
R-Z-MF
=Z=A=+—H
HK$'000
FET
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXE#E
Share capital fi& 7 32(c) 74,013 75,193
Treasury shares EFR S (1,347) (1,535)
Reserves (] 32(d) 1,699,687 2,133,191

Total equity attributable to equity ZAATEZRREGERETE

shareholders of the company 1,772,353 2,206,849
Non-controlling interests =R ER (14,122) (5,386)
TOTAL EQUITY 4K 1,758,231 2,201,463

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 RZ-ZE_WMENA-_F+/\HEEESHER
June 2024. R -

Liu Erzhuang 2| =t
Director %

Tan Jue Eiff

The notes on pages 229 to 320 form part of these financial statements. TN E 220 B ZF 320 BN i Bz S0 7%
T MBI D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAMNEDE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) & —Z -4+ =F=+—8 It FE (LB THIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KRERERRER

Non-
Share Treasury Share Specific Exchange Other Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares premium reserve reserve reserve Total interests equity
e ERRG SERE HERE it &t FBRER 358t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 ' HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL Th7x TAL ; THL TEx THL

(note 32(c)) (note 32(d)(i))  (note 32(d)(iil)  (note 32(d)ii)
(P 32(c)) (2 32(c) A32(d)n) (PR EE32(a)i) (P2

Balance at 1 April 2022 R=B=Z§¥WA-A

43 75,644 (525) 4,368,602 7,528 35,126 (166,480)  (1,726,441) 2,593 454 - 2,593,454
Changes in equity for the year EZ=F==%
ended 31 March 2023: ZA=t-ALEE
ZREEE:
Loss for the year FEEE = = = = = = (222,613) (222,513) (6,680) (229193)
Other comprehensive income £t 2 Az - - - - (54,839) - - (54,839) 1,204 (53,545)
Total comprehensive income 2 G4 - - - - (54,839) - (222,513) (277,352) (5,386) (282,738)
Insurance of shares Bk 32(c) 1,126 (1,126) = = = = = = = -
Equity settled share-based ~ ER&ERANHRS
transaction 28 = 116 = = = 50,897 - 51,013 = 51,013
Appropriation of safety SRR EERES
production fund - - - 812 - - 812) = = =
Utiisation of safety production A% Z£EREE
fund - - - (782) - - 782 - = =
Purchase of own shares BEEFRH 32c) (1577) - (158,689) - - - - (160,266) - (160,266)
Balance at 31 March 2023 ~ R=%==f%
=A=t-B&H 75193 (1,535) 4,209,913 7,558 (19,713) (115,583)  (1,948,984) 2,206,849 (5,386) 2,201,463
Changes in equity for the year HZ -5
ended 31 March 2024; ZR=t-BLEE
ZREEE:
Loss for the year FERE - - - - - - (347.484)  (347.484) (14647)  (362,131)
Other comprehensive income ~ Eft 2 Elz - - - - (28,406) - - (28,406) (1,278) (29,684)
Total comprehensive income ~ 2ENEHEE - - - - (28,406) - (347,484) (375,890) (15,925) (391,815)
Contributions to a subsidiary ~ SERE &~
from non-controlling interests ~ HiBAAEE - - - - - - - - 7,189 7,189
Insurance of shares Bk 320 128 (128) - - - - - - - -
Equity settled share-based EREIROAZRS
transaction 28 - 412 - - - 35,772 - 36,184 - 36,184
Appropriation of safety SREREERS
production fund - - - 535 - - (535) - - -
Utiisation of safety production A% 2 £EEE
fund - - - (553) - - 553 - - -
Purchase of own shares BEEFRH 320 (1,308) - (93,482) - - - - (94,790) - (94,790)
Balance at 31 March 2024 ~ W=Z=M%
=B=t+-R&H 74,013 (1,251) 4,116,431 1,540 (48,119) (79,811)  (2,296,450) 1,772,353 (14,122) 1,758,231

The notes on pages 229 to 320 form part of these financial statements. HIEHNE 229 B EFE 320 BT AZET
HE MBS ©
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

wx ﬁ%ﬂiumEEEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &z =%

Operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities
Payment for Acquisition

Payment for the purchase of property,

plant and equipment

Payment for the purchase of
intangible assets

Payment for the purchase of
right-of-use assets

Proceeds from sales of property,
plant and equipment

(Increase)/Decrease in time deposits
with maturities over three months

Payment for other investments

Proceeds from the Stonehold
investment

Dividends received

Proceeds from sales of other
investments

Net cash generated from investing
activities

RETEH
RESTEF R RS %5

REED

Y EIR R
BEYE  BEEREBNK
BEBVEENRK

BEEREEEMNK

B B R R A
A8 3R

518 5 A= 108 M L E R
(S 0),/

A2 A 1 3

K B Stonehold ¥ & MY FT 18 2118

R &
HE B R E P15 FRIA

REFBEEZHRSFE

25(b)

34

ZME=RA=+—HIEFE GABTIIR)

2024
—E-EF
HK$'000
FET

2023
—E-—F

HK$'000
TET

,,,,,,,, (202507) _ (264,520)
- (449,487)
(26,617) (26,687)
(2,201) (3,452)
(3,208) -
11 845
(120,290) 171,611
(291,739) (306,523)
35,672 31,746
378 3,440
669,852 683,070
261,858 104,563
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

wx ﬂ%jiumgiﬂi

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &z =%

Financing activities

Proceeds from advances and
borrowings

Purchase of own shares

BMEED
KEBRK

RN IEEE S

BEa s Rkn

Repayment of advances and borrowings & & 23 I & 3

Capital element of lease rentals paid

Interest element of lease rentals paid

Interest paid

Proceeds of subsidiaries from
non-controlling interests

Other cash outflow arising from
financing activities

Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the reporting period

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the reporting period

The notes on pages 229 to 320 form part of these financial statements.
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ENEEESHNERL Y
ENHEERSHNB D
ERFHE

R B FE R A b a5 Y R AR

P18 5RIA

RMERDEL CHMB DR

METBHELE(£R) 2

REFHE

RERBESSENEN (RD)

BE

BEHOZRERREEEY

SEERESDH o HE

BEMRZRERREEEY

ZME=RA=+—HIEFE GABTIIR)

2024 AOAC]
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$'000
FHEx

HK$'000
THETT

25(c) 260,499 64,125
32(c) (94,790) (160,266)
25(c) (61,631) (6,870)
25(c) (11,872) (10,667)
25(c) (1,231) (1,141)
25(c) (5,087) (552)
7,189 -
(182) (119)

,,,,,,,,,, 92,895 U
152,246 (275,447)
262,848 545,767
(16,703) (7,472)
25(a) 398,391 262,848
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sre M HR N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - HAETYIR)

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Productive Technologies Company Limited (the “Company”), is
an investment holding company, which was incorporated in
Bermuda and continued in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The Company's registered office is located
at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its head office and principal place
of business is located at Unit 5507, 55/F., The Center, 99
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company and subsidiaries (the “Group”) are engaged in the
business of productivity-driven equipment applied in
semiconductor and solar cell businesses. It also operates an oil
and gas production project in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial statements.

LFEH
TEREEARAR*([RAT]) A—
MREERAR REREZEMKLA
BHRAEREFARERAASEHST
B ERONEBHERIMERADT
(TBERPT]) EAR BT o AR R 2 w13
= B i1 X Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands - i1 £ 42 #¥
ERARFEZEFMBLURBEERTAE
F 99 5% A IR ) 55 18 5507 = ©

AREREMBAR ([AEE])HEE
AR+ EEMAKGEELEHTNLEED
EENR R BER - RN PEARLM
(THE)&EE—FhRREERR -

BEXEEBE
(a) EHREH

ZEMBHRIDIRIEE L S5ED
REEMOMAEEREEYER
SRR (BREMAEERANEREE
MEHEER FESHA LR
BEZGHE) REEQBRINR
EMRE - ZFHMBERRITET
EREMARIMARAAES L
MRANZERBEERE AKH
PR EX ST BURIEEN T X °

BEGHMASERMZERE
AEEAE AR ERERHA
RERBNBFEVBHHRSERE
AR -IRERZEFRAKEEE
OB EV B RS ENMIRE
AEFHEzZetRREHER
ZEMBRRRB - BHEENH
SR BEE2(c) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

B M B mR M

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

230

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2024 comprises the Company and its subsidiaries
and the Group's interest in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out below:

—  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (see
note 2(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

B M B mR M

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the
financial statements, the directors of the Company have
reviewed Group's cash flow projections prepared by
management based on estimations of future cashflow,
taking into account of the plan for transformation to
business of advanced processing of equipment and the
availability of financing, which cover a period of twelve
months from the reporting period end date. They are of the
opinion that the Group will have sufficient working capital
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
and committed future expenditures within the next twelve
months from the end of the current reporting period and
that there are no material uncertainties in this respect
which individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

° Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates

° Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

° Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred
tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a
single transaction

None of these developments have had a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position for the
current or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

B M B mR M

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

232

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in consolidation financial statements from the date
on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either at fair
value or at the NClI's proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets. NCI| are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within equity,
separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between NCI and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

/T\

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

B M B mR M

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(mj(ii).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method. They are initially recognised at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI"”) of those
investees, until the date on which significant influence or
joint control ceases.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method,
together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R A

INAAS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

B 755 ¥ 3R I 5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

234

(e)

(f)

(g)

Associates (continued)

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment
to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no evidence
of impairment.

In the Company's statement of financial position, an
investment in an associate is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(m)(ii)).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is measured
at cost less accumulated impairment losses and is tested
annually for impairment (see note 2(m)(ii)).

Other investments in securities

The Group's policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and associates are set out
below:

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised on
the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss
(FVPL) for which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see note
33(g). These investments are subsequently accounted for
as follows, depending on their classification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sre M HR N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - HAETYIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 BEX®FBE®)

(g) Other investments in securities (continued) (g) EtFEFRE (&)
(i) Non-equity investments (i) FEBRERE
Non-equity investments are classified into one of the ERAREDERATEE

following measurement categories: Rz — -

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Expected credit losses, interest income
calculated using the effective interest method,
foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVOCI — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as if the financial
asset was measured at amortised cost. The
difference between the fair value and the
amortised cost is recognised in OCl. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in OCI is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of
the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

236

(g) Other investments in securities (continued)
(ii) Equity investments

A TTHIR)

(g)

An investment in equity securities is classified as

FVPL, unless the investment is not held for trading

purposes and on initial recognition the group makes

an irrevocable election to designate the investment at

FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes

in fair value are recognised in OCI. Such elections are

made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may

only be made if the investment meets the definition

of equity from the issuer’'s perspective. If such

election is made for a particular investment, at the

time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair

value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained

earnings and not recycled through profit or loss.

Dividends from an investment in equity securities,

irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or

FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other

income.

(h) Derivative financial instruments

(h)

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to manage

its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures.

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract

and accounted for separately if the host contract is not a

financial asset and certain criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with changes

therein recognised in profit or loss, except where the

derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting or

hedges of net investment in a foreign operation.

PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

2 EXEHBEG

HMESFRE (&)
(i) BARE
REARBZ ZREEDERR
FEBERRANEEIEK
BRIFZIREAFFNRH /A
BHE - AR5 HERE
SE T HE MR ERTER
EEBHEMEERRRAR
EBEIK (T 8#E) @ M
o BERARBEZIEHN
HibzmBEAER - %%
EBEDZMERNT REEE
H HEEETAR/KE
MEBmERRIAIEL -
MR EBRREFELZERE
% NHER ROAEE
it (TR3E) NRFTzE
HEREREAN MIEE
BERmREE  RAESFK
BEEAZBRE TwmOER
EBERRAREERIIESK
BREMEEWSEARE
BIR) FREMEENE

TSR T A
AEBEBETESHRITAENER
HONERFMERE @ A - fMES
BRI EERMEERFTE S TIRE -
AR APTETARKEE SR -
W EE R o

TETARARBEETNSGE
E-HR DTETEZAREE
EITFTE - HEPRNERNRER -
WS REREH DS BN
EBGREFBHABANITET
BRRS o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

B M B mR M

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, which
includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(m)(ii)).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or
loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:

— Buildings and structures 40 years
— Machinery and equipment 5-14 years
— Motor vehicle b-8 years
— Others 3-5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Oil and gas properties for the relevant area are amortised
on a unit-of-production basis. Unit-of-production rate is
based on oil and gas reserves estimated to be recoverable
from known reservoirs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

238

(i)

Exploration and evaluation costs
Geological and geophysical costs are charged to profit or
loss as incurred.

Costs directly associated with an exploration well are
initially capitalised as exploration and evaluation assets until
the drilling of the well is complete and the results have
been evaluated. These costs include employee
remuneration, materials and fuel used, rig costs and
payments made to contractors.

Costs directly associated with appraisal activity undertaken
to determine the size, characteristics and commercial
potential of a reservoir following the initial discovery of
hydrocarbons, including the costs of appraisal wells where
hydrocarbons were not found, are initially capitalised as
exploration and evaluation assets.

If no potentially commercial hydrocarbons are discovered,
the exploration and evaluation asset is written off through
the profit or loss as a dry hole. If extractable hydrocarbons
are found and, subject to further appraisal activity (e.g., the
drilling of additional wells), it is probable that they can be
commercially developed, the costs continue to be carried
as exploration and evaluation assets while sufficient/
continued progress is made in assessing the commerciality
of the hydrocarbons.

Regular review is undertaken for each area to determine
the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward
accumulated capitalised exploration and evaluation
expenditure. To the extent that capitalised exploration and
evaluation expenditure is no longer expected to be
recovered, it is charged to profit or loss.

No amortisation is charged during the exploration and
evaluation phase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

B M B mR M

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j)

(k)

Exploration and evaluation costs (continued)

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of
extracting natural resources become demonstrable, the
relevant capitalised expenditure is first assessed for
impairment and (if required) any impairment loss is
recognised, then the remaining balance is transferred to
property, plant and equipment — oil and gas properties.

Intangible assets (other than goodwvill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or
loss as incurred. Development expenditure is capitalised
only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the
product or process is technically and commercially feasible,
future economic benefits are probable and the group
intends to and has sufficient resources to complete
development and to use or sell the resulting asset.
Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Capitalised development expenditure is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Other intangible assets, including patents and trademarks,
that are acquired by the group and have finite useful lives
are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(m)(ii)).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible
assets less their estimated residual values using the unit-
of-production method, if any, and is generally recognised in
profit or loss. Unit-of-production rate is based on oil and gas
reserves estimated to be recoverable from known
reservoirs. Other intangible assets are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives as
follows:

— Solar IP license 15 years
— Non-competition undertaking 5 years
— Brand name 3 months
— Others 4-10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

240

()

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group as a lessee assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the
case if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for leases that
have a short lease term of 12 months or less, and leases of
low-value items such as laptops and office furniture. \When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value item,
the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised, the associated lease
payments are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is recognised using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to profit
or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(m)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease
modification, which means a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract, if such modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent
concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the
Group has taken advantage of the practical expedient not to
assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognised the change in consideration
as negative variable lease payments in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the rent
concessions occurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)
In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments, contract
assets and lease receivables
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL"”s) on the financial assets
measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following rates if the effect is material:

— trade and other receivables: effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof; and

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.
The maximum period considered when estimating

ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract

assets and lease receivables (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or
a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,

which are measured at 12-months ECLs:

financial instruments that are determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued) for which credit risk (i.e.
the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract

assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

244

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract
assets and lease receivables (continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when measuring ECLs, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the
Group’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired

includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract;

— the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sre M HR N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract

assets and lease receivables (continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when
the Group otherwise determines that the debtor does
not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the
recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
property carried at revalued amounts, investment
property,
contract assets and deferred tax assets) to determine

inventories and other contract costs,

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGU"s). Goodwill arising
from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

246

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal. Value in use, is based on the estimated
future cash flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset, or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in
the unit CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reserved. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortization, if no impairment loss had been

recognized.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim financial report
in compliance with HKAS 34,
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the

Interim financial

financial year. At the end of the interim period, the
Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the

end of the financial year (see note 2(m)(i) and (ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

/T\

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

B M B mR M

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
or the specific identification method and comprises all
costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 2(w)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price.
Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured at
fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are

)(i)).

subsequently stated at amortised cost (see note 2(m
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Cash and cash equivalents

248

(r)

(s)

(t)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition.

Trade and other payables (other than refund
liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequently, these
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expense is recognised in

accordance with note 2(y).

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected to be paid, if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service
is provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

/T\

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

B M B mR M

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Share-based payments
The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based
payment arrangements granted to employees is
generally recognised as an expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting
period of the awards. The amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards
for which the related service and non-market
performance conditions are expected to be met, such
that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the
number of awards that meet the related service and
non-market performance conditions at the vesting
date. For share-based payment awards with non-
vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of the
share-based payment is measured to reflect such
conditions and there is no true-up for differences
between expected and actual outcomes.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(iii)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax
It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to a business combination, or items recognised
directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m

B M B mR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

250

(u)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised

temporary differences on the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future;

taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

those related to the income taxes arising from tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement
the Pillar Two model rules published by the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

B M B mR M

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Income tax (continued)

(v)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which they can be used. Future taxable
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered,
based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in
the Group.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions
are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on historical
warranty data and a weighting of possible outcomes
against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of
continuing with the contract, which is determined based on
the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under that
contract and an allocation of other costs directly related to
fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is established, the
group recognises any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

252

(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a
separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.

(w) Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, and the rendering of services in the
ordinary course of the Group's business.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognises revenue on a gross basis. In
determining whether the Group acts as a principal or
as an agent, it considers whether it obtains control of
the products before they are transferred to the
customers. Control refers to the Group's ability to
direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the

remaining benefits from the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer at the
amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties such as value
added tax or other sales taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Revenue recognition (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the
date on which the Group's right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. The “effective interest rate” is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset. In calculating interest income, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired).
However, for financial assets that have become
credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then
the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross
basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way
of reduced depreciation expense.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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(x)

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based on
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognised in profit or
loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of the following items are recognised in OCl:

an investment in equity securities designated as at
FVOCI (except on impairment, in which case foreign
currency differences that have been recognised in
OCl are reclassified to profit or loss);

a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net
investment in a foreign operation to the extent that
the hedge is effective; and

qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the
hedges are effective.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition,
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

B M B mR M

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(x)

(y)

(z)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI| and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or
partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. On
disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to that foreign operation that have been attributed to the
NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to
profit or loss. If the group disposes of part of its interest in
a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the
group disposes of only part of an associate or joint venture
while retaining significant influence or joint control, the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified
to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,

is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group's parent.

A TTHIR)

2 EXEHBEG
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(y)
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(z) Related parties (continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a Group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a Group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,
the Group's various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follow:

(a)

Oil and gas properties and reserves

The accounting for the oil and gas exploration and
production activities is subject to accounting rules that are
unique to the oil and gas industry. Engineering estimates of
the oil and gas reserves are inherently imprecise and
represent only approximate amounts because of the
subjective judgements involved in developing such
information. There are authoritative guidelines regarding
the engineering criteria that have to be met before
estimated oil and gas reserves can be designated as
“proved” or “probable”.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

258

ESTIMATES (continued)
(a) Oil and gas properties and reserves (continued)

Proved and probable reserves estimates are updated at
least annually and take into account recent production and
technical information about each field. In addition, as prices
and cost levels change from year to year, the estimate of
proved and probable reserves also changes. This change is
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes
and is reflected on a prospective basis in relation to
depreciation rates.

Future dismantlement costs for oil and gas properties are
estimated with reference to engineering estimates after
taking into consideration the anticipated method of
dismantlement required in accordance with industry
practices in similar geographic area, including estimation of
economic life of oil and gas properties, technology and
price level. The present values of these estimated future
dismantlement costs are capitalised as oil and gas
properties with equivalent amounts recognised as
provisions for dismantlement costs.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering
estimates, these estimates are used in determining
depreciation expense, impairment loss and future
dismantlement costs. Depreciation rates are determined
based on estimated proved developed reserve quantities
(the denominator) and capitalised costs of producing
properties (the numerator). Producing properties’ capitalised
costs are amortised based on the units of oil or gas

produced.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Impairment losses of non-financial assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a non-
financial asset may not be recoverable, the asset may be
considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss may be
recognised. The carrying amounts of non-financial assets
are reviewed periodically in order to assess whether the
recoverable amounts have declined below the carrying
amounts. These assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. When such a
decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit containing goodwill is the greater of the fair
value less costs to sell and the value in use. It is difficult to
precisely estimate selling price because quoted market
prices for these assets or cash-generating units are not
readily available. In determining the value in use, expected
cash flows generated by the asset or the cash-generating
unit are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of sale volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs. Management
uses all readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of sale volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(a) Disaggregation of revenue
The amount of each significant category of revenue

260

recognised is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with
customers and recognised at point in

A TTHIR)

4 BWARSBERE

(a)

KA

E,T]EWUXIEEEL&A \*Eﬁ%ﬁ\yu

I

FEM RS LR 1657 R
MEPEHWA » AR FE—F

time within the scope of HKFRS 15 24 #ER
— sales of equipment (note (i) — B E (FFEE)

— sales of crude oil (note (i)

— rendering of services — AR
Cost of sales and services $HE &R AR
— sales of equipment — BB E
— sales of crude oil — FOMHE
— rendering of services — AR

Notes:

(ii)

Revenue from sales of equipment mainly represents sales of solar
cell and semiconductor cleaning equipment. The amount of revenue
represents the sales value of equipment and parts to the customers,
net of value added tax. There are three major customers with whom
transactions exceeded 10% of the revenue from sales of equipment.

The amount of revenue from sales of crude oil represents the sales
value of crude oil extracted and supplied to customers by one
subsidiary of the Group, net of value added tax. The sales prices is
determined by the Dated Brent crude oil price with discount with
range from HK$18 to HK$25 per barrel during the year ended 31
March 2024. There are four major customers with whom transactions
exceeded 10% of the revenue from sales of crude oil.
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SR om 3K & (B 3E (i)

)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE
2024 2023

—EopE
HK$000
FHET

HK$'000
TAET

368,646 387,588
157,663 188,345
17,329 21,573
(338,940) (330,213)
(111,208) (107,735)
(11,287) (13,692)
82,203 115,871

(i)
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by a mixture of both business lines (products and
services). In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group
presented the following two reportable segments. Details
of the Group's reportable segments are as follows:

(i)

Semiconductor and solar cell: this segment operates
in research and development, manufacturing and
sales of advanced processing equipment for solar cell
and semiconductor industries.

Oil and gas and others: this segment invests and
operates upstream oil and gas business, LNG
business, and generates income from processing of
oil and gas and LNG, as well as investing and
managing energy-related and other industries and
businesses.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group's senior executive management monitors the
results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reportable segment on the following basis:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets with the exception of deferred tax
assets. Segment liabilities include all liabilities with
the exception of deferred tax liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue from sales and
services generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments. Segment
profit/loss includes investment income/loss.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/loss is
"EBITDA" i.e. "Earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”.

A TTHIR)

4 WARSBEE (2

(b)

TEEHEE
AEERIBERELER
H R EEBR (EmRRB) X
K- BTERERD E&%ﬁ
AEABARNEE &S THRE
BABEZREHMN TR A5E
E2FTHMEZ2HD A - A
SER2HHFHFBOT ¢

/'\_L

o FHEREUAIGRESM: o
BB R IGREE M I - E e
ITELENTRERIE
SUERIHE ©

o HREEM: HHIIZEL
L PR ER » LNG %
%0 W 8 0T m & & LNG BA
FEEREHEERARRE
MITEREEEEWRS -

(i) oWXEE -EERER
ﬁ%ﬁ“%%ﬁ&ﬁ“%ﬁ
PRER  AEEBZ&=IT
HEBABREBNATEESY
XTE&“%PEZ¥F
BEERBEETEE

NEBERBEMBERI
WEERRBDEE T8
BT IREE “%EE
ERETERBABINNAE
BE-

WARFAX T2 RZED B
PrEAZHE MRBFKA R
ZEDREE ZAX A
ZED R 2 BEST E R
WFEZE@%Q S V|
EHHW- BB EE
%&é%é/%ﬁ°

RER D ZFH, & %a
%mﬁtﬁmmmm
r%ﬂ%~ﬁﬁ\%%&%ﬁ
BIZA] °

EERPRERLT / £H2024 261



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R A

N

B 755 ¥ 3R I 5

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (

B AR -

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i)

262

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
In addition to receiving segment information
concerning EBITDA, management is provided with
segment information concerning interest income and
expense from cash balances and borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and
amortisation, and additions to non-current segment
assets used by the segments in their operations.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers, as well as information regarding the
Group's reportable segments as provided to the

A TTHIR)

4 WARSBEE (2

(b)
(i)

7 EBER & (1)

PEEE  BEERARE)
brER B B EBITDAR o
EERIN BEHEBEREAR
e BEEEREZRE L
R ER 2 FE WA K
X BoHBERTFERIE
MEOHEEZITE - #iH
MARBEZDEBER °
REEHWAHED + ARE
E-F_NFR-_FT_=F
=R=+—HLEFERAE

Group’s most senior executive management for the BExm{THEEASREI
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of ETHREERENE DX
segment performance for the years ended 31 March BONERAKEZ2®RDE
2024 and 2023 is set out below. ERFIEAT o
Semiconductor and
solar cell Oil and gas and others Total
YERRABHE R A g
Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March
HE=A=t-ALEE HE=P=1t-ALEE HE=B=1-HLEE
2024 2023 2024 2024
“ECQmE —E-=F —E-ME z —E-ME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T THR T TEn T
Revenue from external customers ~ SMBEPIA (HizE)

(note) 385,975 379,166 157,663 188,345 543,638 567,511
Investment loss REFH (5,305) = (38,920) (13,981) (44,225) (13,981)
Reportable segment loss (EBITDA) 7] 2% & (EBITDA) (233,918) (103,332) (7,653) (24,425) (241,57) (127,757)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (32,318) (21,511) (69,112) (67,832  (101,430) (89,343)
Interest income HMEBA 333 163 18,151 7,606 18,484 7,769
Interest expense FlERZ (6,020) (871) (340) (903) (6,360) (1,774)
Impairment loss on trade and PR AR 3R R E A P M 3R

other receivables REER (1,218) (761) - (6,938) (1,218) (7,699)
Reportable segment assets 2RI PEE 1139406 1172371 1980276 2209297 3,119,682 3,381,668
(including interest in associates) (BERBEARNER) 13,946 19,655 193,347 233,166 207,293 252,821
Additions to non-current segment  FRREFETE DL

assets during the year 8973 188,402 14,011 34,594 22,984 222,996
Reportable segment liabilities ~ A2HKABEE (1,011432)  (897,926)  (342,933)  (269847)  (1,354,2365) ~ (1,167,773)
Note: BaE -

Revenue from sales and services reported above represents EXFERZHERRBBAER
reportable segment revenue generated from external customers. BINBEEZ A 2D IUA o KF
There was no inter-segment revenue during current or prior year. ESBEFEHES SEUA -
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4q
(continued
(b) Segment reporting (continued)
(ii)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,
profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Semiconductor and
solar cell
YERRABEEY
Year ended 31 March
BESA=+-ALEE

2024

bt Sl 2
HK$'000
7

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
AT

Revenue from
external customers

HNBEFBA

385,975 379,166

A TTHIR)

WARSEBEE (@)
(b) 7 EBH#HE (%)
(i) T2{EAIBYWNA - 8-

EERABEZHIER

0Oil and gas and others
HRRE A

Year ended 31 March
BESA=t-BLEE
2024 2023
TEONE s
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT

157,663 188,345

Total
@zt
Year ended 31 March

BE=A=1+-HLEE
2024 2023
CECIME ks
HK$'000 HK$'000
:F/§7_E 'T'/ETE

543,638 567,511

Semiconductor and
solar cell
YEERAGEES
Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=t-HILEE

0Oil and gas and others
HRREAM
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLEE

Total
@t
Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1t-HLEE

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
b Sk T = Embombifal T =4 Bkl — T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AT TERT AL TER FAL
Reportable segment A2RH BEE (233,918) (103,332) (7,653) (24,425) (241,571) (127,757
loss (EBITDA) (EBITDA)
Elimination of aR= i) E S - (25) - = - (25)
inter-segment profits
Depreciation and TEREH (32,318) (21,511) (69,112) (67,832)  (101,430) (89,343)
amortisation
Interest expense FHERZ (6,020) (846) (340) (903) (6,360) (1,749)
Consolidated loss R EE (272,256)  (125,714) (77,105) (93,160)  (349,361) (218,874)

before taxation
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARZEBE®E (B
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) #EBHE (&)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, (i) TEHHIPUWA - B -
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (continued) EEREBZEHE(E)
At 31 March At 31 March
2024 2023
Assets 2 R-ZZFE-WF %;i:_i
=A=+-8
HK$’000
FEx
Reportable segment assets AIZ{/HTBEE 3,119,682 3,381,668
Deferred tax assets EERIHE B - 2,870
Elimination of inter-segment 53 20 [ FE YR IE ¥ 88
receivables (496,545) (472,103)
Consolidated total assets e EERE 2,623,137 2,912,435
At 31 March At 31 March
2024 AOAC]
Liabilities R-ZE-M#F = :_E
=A=+-—8H A=+—
HK$’000 K$'0
FHEx T
Reportable segment liabilities AIZ{RHTEE 1,354,365 1,167,773
Deferred tax liabilities EETIARE 7,086 15,302
Elimination of inter-segment 3 20 5 FE A5 SRIE ¥ 88
payables (496,545) (472,103)
Consolidated total liabilities e BERRE 864,906 710,972
(iii) Geographic information (iii) EER
The external customers and non-current assets INERR P R IEME B E (T
(excluded deferred tax assets, right-of-use assets, BIERELERIBEE  FAE
financial instruments and interests in associates) are BE RIARREZA
located in the PRC. Al R ) AL PR B o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - HAETYIR)

5 INVESTMENT LOSS, NET 5 KBEBRSAE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2024 AOVAC]
a1 F: S —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT THT
JOVO investment (note (1)) NERE (1) 794 13,393
Fund investment (note (1)) Ee®RE (M) (3,984) (10,470)
Dividend income (note (2)) AR B A (HI3E(2) 378 3,440
Share of losses of associates FE(REE & A R B8 (43,031) (42,763)
Net realised and unrealised gains on METRIADERAR
derivative financial instruments REI W 55 - 2,088
Others H b 1,618 20,331
(44,225) (13,981)
Notes: B o
(1) These amounts represent fair value changes and/or disposal gains or losses (1) tERBREEZE TS _NFR-_T_=F
of the various investments during the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. = ﬂ +—B JJ:¢ HZERENARE
Such assets are measured at FVPL, any interest income arising from such B8R, k& K=k EE - ﬁtwﬁﬁL
assets is included in fair value changes. Please refer to Note 21 for the BEERAAEEIE  ALEEEEEN
detailed information about the change of the investment in JOVO. The FEAFBWMARARAABEEZS - GRAN
Group disposed the investment in JOVO during the year ended 31 March URESHNFBTERBL2HME21 - &
2024. EE_NE=ZRA=1+—HIFE  F&E
HENLIRE -
(2) The amount represents the dividend income from the investment in JOVO. ) Ly TE e ) MR e B 0 A o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - HAETYIR)

6 OTHER NET GAINS/(LOSSES) 6 HiBlka (&KR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2024 AOVAC]
—E_MMEF —F==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Net loss on disposal of property, LEME - BE L& EFEER
plant and equipment (27) (39,043)
Government grants X 478 B 14,495 3,361
Others HAh, 7,252 716
21,720 (34,966)
7 TAXES OTHER THAN INCOME TAX 7 FRFAB{RUIMIRIE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

2024 2023
—EME —T_=%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH T
Resources tax (note 1) BIRF (KIsE1) 9,460 10,708
Petroleum special profit levy (note 2) Aol R e B (T aE2) 10,332 20,128
City construction tax YR 942 884
Education surcharge B M anER 842 884
Water resources tax IKE IR 592 612
22,168 33,216
Notes: BiaE -
(1) Resources tax was calculated based on the revenue from sales of crude oil (1) B IR R AR IR R H 8 B YA & 6% KB R Gt
and tax rate of 6%. BEH-
(2) Petroleum special profit levy was charged at 20% to 40% based on the (2) B R B W ek B iR = A R K EE S B R
sales of crude oil at prices higher than a specific level. T EH B U 20% £ 40% ©
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8 EXPLORATION EXPENSES, INCLUDING DRY 8 ®iEHEX ' SEEH
HOLES

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

2024 2023
“E-OmEF —T_=%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Staff cost BIKA 764 1,029
Exploration expenses, including dry holes were related to the WAy - BRI BREEERE
exploration activities conducted by Hongbo Mining. REREB G -
9 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9 MRRAMEBR
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRFL RIS B AR, (REA) ¢
(a) Net finance costs (a) FEKFFHE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2024 2023

—E-E —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FHIT

Interest income FEUA 18,484 7,744
Net gain on bank financial products HRITER B EE an S e 1,630 864
Foreign exchange loss, net PE 5 )F BT 18 (15,047) (6,271)
Interest on bank and other borrowings 817 & E b f& 3k 2 | & (5,129) (608)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEBZFE (1.231) (1,141)
Accretion expenses (note 31) FEIEFE S (FIFE31) (3,295) (2,949)
Others HAh (179) (120)
Total e (4,767) (2,481)
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9 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

268

(b) Staff costs

9 FREARIEGA (50
(b) ETHAE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+t—HLEFE
2024 2023
B =5
HK$'000
FHET

—E-WEF
HK$'000
FET

Salaries, wages and other benefits e LEKRHMEAN 219,682 108,575
Equity settled share-based A R 48 B30 DARR {0 B LT Y
compensation (note 28) B (B 5 28) 36,184 51,012
Contributions to defined contribution & %8 it FUE IR 2] 3%
retirement plan 12,221 7,361
268,087 166,948

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the
PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement scheme (the “Scheme”) organised by the
relevant local government authority for their employees.
The Group is required to make contributions to the
Scheme. The local government authority is responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.
The Group has no other material obligation to make
payments in respect of pension benefits associated with
this scheme other than the annual contribution described
above.

The Group has no forfeiture of pension scheme
contributions (i.e. contributions processed by the employer
on behalf of the employees who have exited the scheme
prior to vesting of such contributions). As at 31 March
2024, no forfeited contributions under the pension scheme
of the Group is available for deduction of contributions
payable in coming years.
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RIFFBEERS R FER - AKE
AEE B 2 E AR 7 BUT R AR A
W E BB R IRET &I ([EH81)) - A
AAGtEVEHER - A BNHEER
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AR HERIN - AEE AL E Lt &)Y
RERASBHNAFELNROEMER
BfE-
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEER4h -

9 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
(c) Otheritems

A TTHIR)

9 FRMAIGIN(A)

(c) HMIEH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

2024

—F-mEF
HK$'000
TR

22,083
1,833

65,496

12,018

1,990

450,148

15,763

2023
B
HK$'000
FAETT

14,098
1,927

62,940
10,378

3,229

437,948

Amortisation 5
— intangible assets — B EAE
— other non-current assets — HfbIEREEE
Depreciation e
— property, plant and equipment — W% - BE k&G
— right-of-use assets — EREEE
Auditors’ remuneration (2 il
— audit services — ZEH RS
Cost of inventories* (note 23(b)) BFERA* (Mi5E23(b)
Impairment loss on inventories FEREEE
2 Cost of inventories includes HK$100,209,000 (2023: HK$86,465,000) @

relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation expenses, which

amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed

separately above or in note 9(c) for each of these types of expenses.

FEXABIEBEEIRA TERK
# 4 % 100,209,000 L (==

— =“F : 86,465,000 L)

B

BIFIA EX BB R ERE AR
BAGERICN RS S AR
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10 INCOME TAX IN THE CON